

University of Pennsylvania ScholarlyCommons

Publicly Accessible Penn Dissertations

1-1-2014

A Role of Swi/snf Complex in Aba-Dependent Drought Responsive Gene Expression in Arabidopsis Thaliana

Soon-Ki Han University of Pennsylvania, ssoonkii628@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: http://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations Part of the <u>Agricultural Science Commons</u>, <u>Agriculture Commons</u>, and the <u>Plant Biology</u> <u>Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Han, Soon-Ki, "A Role of Swi/snf Complex in Aba-Dependent Drought Responsive Gene Expression in Arabidopsis Thaliana" (2014). *Publicly Accessible Penn Dissertations*. 1308. http://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations/1308

This paper is posted at ScholarlyCommons. http://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations/1308 For more information, please contact libraryrepository@pobox.upenn.edu.

A Role of Swi/snf Complex in Aba-Dependent Drought Responsive Gene Expression in Arabidopsis Thaliana

Abstract

The survival of plants as sessile organisms depends on their ability to cope with environmental challenges. Of key importance in this regard is the phytohormone abscisic acid (ABA). ABA not only promotes seed dormancy but also triggers growth arrest in postgermination embryos that encounter water stress. This is accompanied by increased desiccation tolerance. Postgermination ABA responses in Arabidopsis thaliana are mediated in large part by the ABA-induced basic domain/leucine zipper transcription factor ABA INSENSITIVES (ABIS). Here, I show that loss of function of the SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling ATPase BRAHMA (BRM) causes ABA hypersensitivity during postgermination growth arrest. ABIS expression was derepressed in *brm* mutants in the absence of exogenous ABA and accumulated to high levels upon ABA sensing. This effect was likely direct; chromatin immunoprecipitation revealed BRM binding to the ABI5 locus. Moreover, loss of BRM activity led to destabilization of a nucleosome likely to repress ABIS transcription. Genetic interaction revealed that the *abi5* null mutant was epistatic to BRM in postgermination growth arrest. In addition, vegetative growth defects typical of *brm* mutants in the absence of ABA treatment could be partially overcome by reduction of ABA responses, and *brm* mutants displayed increased drought tolerance. I propose a role for BRM in the balance between growth or stress responses. Intriguingly, BRM resides at the ABIS promoter both in the absence and presence of the stress signal. I found that BRM interacts with the core components of abscisic acid signaling transduction pathway. Moreover, the C-terminus of BRM can be phosphorylated in an ABA dependent manner *in vitro*. It is therefore likely that stress sensing inactivates the BRM complex to allow ABI5 upregulation.

Degree Type Dissertation

Degree Name Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

Graduate Group Biology

First Advisor Doris Wagner

Second Advisor Scott Poethig

Keywords ABA, Arabidopsis, chromatin, drought

Subject Categories Agricultural Science | Agriculture | Plant Biology

A ROLE OF SWI/SNF COMPLEX IN ABA-DEPENDENT DROUGHT RESPONSIVE GENE EXPRESSION IN ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA

Soon-Ki Han

A DISSERTATION

in

Biology

Presented to the Faculties of the University of Pennsylvania

in

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2014

Supervisor of Dissertation

Doris Wagner Professor of Biology Graduate Group Chairperson

Doris Wagner Professor of Biology

Dissertation Committee:

Chair: Scott Poethig, Patricia M. Williams Professor of Biology
Shelley Berger, Professor of Biology
Brian Gregory, Assistant Professor of Biology
Kenneth S. Zaret, Joseph Leidy Professor in the Department of Cell and Developmental Biology
Hua-Ying Fan, Assistant Professor of Biochemistry and Biophysics

ABSTRACT

A ROLE OF SWI/SNF COMPLEX IN ABA-DEPENDENT DROUGHT RESPONSIVE GENE EXPRESSION IN *ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA*

Soon-Ki Han

Doris Wagner

The survival of plants as sessile organisms depends on their ability to cope with environmental challenges. Of key importance in this regard is the phytohormone abscisic acid (ABA). ABA not only promotes seed dormancy but also triggers growth arrest in postgermination embryos that encounter water stress. This is accompanied by increased desiccation tolerance. Postgermination ABA responses in Arabidopsis thaliana are mediated in large part by the ABA-induced basic domain/leucine zipper transcription factor ABA INSENSITIVE5 (ABI5). Here, I show that loss of function of the SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling ATPase BRAHMA (BRM) causes ABA hypersensitivity during postgermination growth arrest. ABI5 expression was derepressed in brm mutants in the absence of exogenous ABA and accumulated to high levels upon ABA sensing. This effect was likely direct; chromatin immunoprecipitation revealed BRM binding to the ABI5 locus. Moreover, loss of BRM activity led to destabilization of a nucleosome likely to repress *ABI5* transcription. Genetic interaction revealed that the *abi5* null mutant was epistatic to BRM in postgermination growth arrest. In addition, vegetative growth defects typical of *brm* mutants in the absence of ABA treatment could be partially overcome by reduction of ABA responses, and *brm* mutants displayed increased drought tolerance. I propose a role for BRM in the balance between growth or stress responses. Intriguingly, BRM resides at the *ABI5* promoter both in the absence and presence of the stress signal. I found that BRM interacts with the core components of abscisic acid signaling transduction pathway. Moreover, the C-terminus of BRM can be phosphorylated in an ABA dependent manner *in vitro*. It is therefore likely that stress sensing inactivates the BRM complex to allow *ABI5* upregulation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	. viii
CHAPTER 1. Introduction	1
1.1 Summary	1
1.2 Water stress response during postgermination development	2
1.3 Abscisic acid signaling	3
1.4 Key factors for ABA response during postgermination development	4
1.5 Chromatin changes induced by water stress	5
1.5.1 Histone modifications	6
1.5.2 Histone (de)acetylases	8
1.5.3 Histone lysine methyltransferases	9
1.5.4 Histone arginine methyltransferases	11
1.5.5 Histone variants	13
1.5.6 DNA methylation	15
1.5.7 Non-covalent changes in chromatin state	17
1.6 Tradeoffs between growth and water stress responses	20
1.7 Links between stress signaling pathways and chromatin modifying or	
remodeling enzymes	23
1.8 Stress-induced transient or long-term epigenetic memory	26
CHAPTER 2. The role of SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling in ABA dependent drough	ıt
responses	32
2.1 Background	32
2.2 Results	33
2.2.1 ABA responses in the mutant of SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling	
ATPase	33
2.2.2 Increased ABA sensitivity in <i>brm</i> mutants	34
2.2.3 Mutations in two components of SWI/SNF complex cause ABA	
hypersensitive phenotype.	34

2.2.4 Derepression of ABA-responsive genes in the absence of the stress	
hormone in <i>brm</i> mutnats	35
2.2.5 BRM directly represses transcription of <i>ABI5</i>	37
2.2.6 ABI5 acts downstream of BRM and is required for brm ABA	
hypersensitivity	38
2.2.7 Vegetative growth defects of <i>brm</i> mutant are partly due to derepress	ed
ABA responses.	39
2.2.8 brm Mutants Display Enhanced Drought Tolerance	41
2.2.9 BRM contributes to placement and occupancy of the transcription st	art
site proximal nucleosome at the ABI5 locus	42
2.2.10 ABA triggered chromatin changes at ABI5 regulatory region	44
2.2.11 Chromatin changes at ABI5 regulatory regions during postgerminat	tion
	44
2.2.12 Well-positioned nucleosome found at ABA-responsive genes	44
CHAPTER 3. Regulation of SWI/SNF complex activity by ABA sensing	69
3.1 Background	69
3.2 Results	69
3.2.1 BRM partially acts on ABA signal transduction pathway	69
3.2.2 BRM physically interacts with the components of ABA signal	
transduction pathway in vitro and in vivo	70
3.2.3 The physical interaction between BRM and HAB1 may be ABA sig	nal
dependent	70
3.2.4 BRM C-terminal region is phosphorylated in an ABA dependent	
manner.	71
CHAPTER 4. Discussion and Future direction	78
4.1 Discussion	78
4.1.1 A role for BRM in repressing water stress responses during post-	
germination development in the absence of the stimulus	78
4.1.2 Regulation of ABI5 expression by BRM-dependent and BRM-	
independent alteration of nucleosome positioning and occupancy	79
4.1.3 Drought Tolerance and Fitness Tradeoffs	82
4.1.4 Possible mechanisms of regulation of BRM Activity	83
4.1.5 BRM activity is regulated by the core ABA signaling pathway	84
4.1.6 Biochemical activity of chromatin remodelers and possible activity of	of

	BRM at the +1 nucleosome of ABI5 Locus	85
	4.1.7 Repressive role of BRM in <i>ABI5</i> transcription	90
	4.1.8 Chromatin changes at <i>AB15</i> locus upon loss of BRM	
	4.1.9 Chromatin changes at <i>ABI5</i> locus during development	
	4.1.10 Chromatin changes at ABI5 locus by ABA treatment during	
	postgermination development	
	4.1.11 Link between drought response and BRM	
	4.2 Summary and Future direction	
CH	APTER 5. Materials and Methods	104
	5.1 Plant Growth	104
	5.2 ABA and Drought Treatments	104
	5.3 Dehydration and drought treatment	105
	5.4 Gene Expression Analyses	106
	5.5 Chromatin imunoprecipitation	107
	5.6 MNase Assay	107
	5.7 Statistical Analysis	108
	5.8 Yeast two hybrid assay	108
	5.10 Co-immunoprecipitation	110
	5.11 Accession Numbers	110
	5.12 Computational identification of well-positioned nucleosomes	111
REF	FERENCES	115

LIST OF TABLES

Table 5.1 Oligonucleotide sequences for expression analyses	113
Table 5.2 Oligonucleotide sequences for BRM-GFP/HA ChIP	113
Table 5.3 Oligonucleotide sequences used for ABI5 nucleosome mapping.	114

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1. Core ABA signal transduction pathway in the nucleus.	31
Figure 2-1. ABA responses of SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling mutants	46
Figure 2-2. <i>brm</i> mutants are hypersensitive to ABA.	47
Figure 2-3. <i>swi3c-2</i> and <i>bsh-1</i> mutants are hypersensitive to ABA.	49
Figure 2-4. Germination assay of <i>brm</i> mutants	50
Figure 2-5. BRM represses expression of <i>ABI5</i> and <i>ABI3</i> during postgermination development.	51
Figure 2-6. BRM directly repress <i>ABI5</i> and <i>ABI3</i> expression during postgermination development.	53
Figure 2-7. Anti HA ChIP in 1.5-day-old brm-1 ProBRM:BRM-HA plants	54
Figure 2-8. The hypersensitive <i>brm</i> phenotype is due to derepression of <i>ABI5</i>	56
Figure 2-9. The growth defects of the <i>brm</i> mutant are partially due to <i>ABI5</i> derepression and enhanced ABA response.	n 57
Figure 2-10. BRM directly represses ABI5 expression during vegetative development	59
Figure 2-11. <i>brm</i> mutants have increased dehydration tolerance.	61
Figure 2-12. Measurement of soil water loss during drought treatment and drought resistance of positive control plants (<i>pp2c</i> triple mutants)	62
Figure 2-13. BRM is required to maintain high occupancy of the +1 nucleosome at the <i>ABI5</i> locus.	64
Figure 2-14. No change in nucleosome occupancy at the <i>gypsy-like retrotransposon</i> locus.	65
Figure 2-15. Developmental change in nucleosome occupancy at the ABI5 locus	66
Figure 2-16. Promoters are depleted of nucleosomes when compared to genic regions	68
Figure 3-1. A hypothetical model for the regulation of BRM activity by the core ABA signaling pathway	72
Figure 3-2. Genetic interaction between BRM and HAB1 PP2C phosphatase	73

Figure 3-3. <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i> interactions between BRM and the core components of
ABA signal transduction pathway, SnRK2 kinases and PP2C phosphatases75
Figure 3-4. HAB1 binding to SWI3B is disrupted after ABA sensing76
Figure 3-5. BRM C-terminal regions from different plant species contain putative BRM phosphorylation sites
Figure 4-1. Model for role of BRM in ABA Responses 100
Figure 4-2. Developmental regulation of <i>ABI5</i> and <i>ABI3</i> expression in the wild type and in <i>brm</i> mutants
Figure 4-3. A model for the role of BRM at ABI5 locus during development 102

CHAPTER 1. Introduction

(Adapted from Han and Wagner, *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 2014 Jun;65(10):2785-99. doi: 10.1093/jxb/ert403. Epub 2013 Dec 3.)

1.1 Summary

Plant stress can be defined "Any unfavorable condition or substance that affects or blocks a plant's metabolism, growth or development" (Lichtenthaler, 1998). Plants are exposed to a plethora of environmental stresses through their life. Drought attributable to climate change already causes water shortages in large parts of the world (Vorosmarty *et al.*, 2010). Therefore enhanced response to water deficit is an important trait for both crops and wild plant populations. Water is essential for plant metabolism, transport systems and for generating the turgor pressure that allows an upright growth habit in herbaceous plants (Des Marais and Juenger, 2010). It also adversely affects other aspects of plant growth, for example water stress reduces the rate of nitrogen fixation by legumes and their symbionts (Gil-Quintana et al., 2013). Due to their sessile nature, plants cannot escape from a water deficient habitat. They instead need to adopt special strategies to cope with water limitation and to avoid substantial impacts on fitness, growth and development (Cramer *et al.*, 2011; Less *et al.*, 2011). Ability of the plant to display tolerance to water stress depends on transcriptional reprograming (Ahuja *et al.*, 2010; Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 2007). For instance, factors involved in regulation of stress signal transduction as well as osmolytes and proteins that protect the cell from damage during water stress are induced in response to water deficit (Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 2007).

In plants, water stress triggers the biosynthesis of the phytohormone abscisic acid (ABA) (Nambara and Marion-Poll, 2005; Xiong and Zhu, 2003), this triggers a signal transduction cascade that leads to stomatal closure and transcriptional reprograming (Umezawa *et al.*, 2010). Increasing evidence shows that transcriptional reprograming in stress-responsive gene expression, proper resource allocation to growth versus stress responses, acclimation and long-term stress memory are at least in part attributable to changes in the chromatin organization (Chinnusamy *et al.*, 2008; Gutzat and Mittelsten Scheid, 2012; Mirouze and Paszkowski, 2011). This is not surprising given that chromatin has long been viewed as the interface between the environment and the genome (Badeaux and Shi, 2013; Johnson and Dent, 2013; Suganuma and Workman, 2013).

In this chapter, I will briefly introduce water stress response during postgermination development, abscisic acid signal transduction pathway and key factors in abscisic acid response. I will review in more detail the roles of various mechanisms that affect chromatin organization in water stress responses, explore the link between water stress perception and modulation of chromatin regulator activity, and discuss resource allocation to diverse survival programs by chromatin regulators as well as the role of chromatin in transient or long-term stress memory.

1.2 Water stress response during postgermination development

When seed dormancy is broken by the appropriate environmental and endogenous cues, the radicle penetrates the seed coat during germination (Bewley, 1997). The newly germinated embryo next initiates a series of developmental changes prior to entering the seedling developmental program (Bewley, 1997; Lopez-Molina et al., 2001). Most notably, the germinated embryo must ensure appropriate food and water supply by switching to autotrophic growth (photosynthesis) and by elongating the root, respectively. These reprogramming events occur during the first 48 h after dormancy is broken in the postgermination embryo and culminate with seedling establishment and onset of vegetative development (Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2001). During postgermination, the embryo is no longer protected by the seed coat and thus is particularly vulnerable to drought stress. If plants encounter water stress during this developmental window, a growth arrest is triggered that helps protect germinated embryos against water stressmediated cell and tissue damage (Lopez-Molina et al., 2001). The growth arrest and induction of the quiescent state involves similar signaling and response mechanisms to those that operate during seed development to induce desiccation tolerance and dormancy (Bensmihen et al., 2002; Finkelstein et al., 2008; Lopez-Molina et al., 2001; Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2002). When plants sense water stress, the levels of the stress hormone abscisic acid (ABA) rise (Nambara and Marion-Poll, 2005; Xiong and Zhu, 2003).

1.3 Abscisic acid signaling

Abscisic acid (ABA) plays a major role in adaptive stress response in plants. Upon sensing of water stress, cellular ABA levels increase and lead to adaptive response such as stomatal closure to prevent water loss and to maintain root growth for adequate water supply (Cutler *et al.*, 2010). The signal transduction pathway has recently been elucidated (Ma *et al.*, 2009; Park *et al.*, 2009). ABA sensing by START domain proteins from the PYR-PYL/RCAR family leads to inhibit of type2 serine/threonine protein phosphatases (PP2Cs). The PP2Cs are negative regulators of ABA responses and inhibit the SNF1related protein kinases 2 (SnRK2) to phosphorylate and activate basic domain/ leucine zipper (bZIP) family transcription factors and unknown factors which leads to the upregulation of ABA-responsive element (ABRE)– dependent gene expression (Figure 1-1) and ion channels for stomata closure (Cutler *et al.*, 2010; Fujita *et al.*, 2011; Hubbard *et al.*, 2010; Raghavendra *et al.*, 2010; Umezawa *et al.*, 2010) to enable plant cells to better cope with dehydration (Cutler *et al.*, 2010; Fujita *et al.*, 2011). Exogenous application of ABA often mimics the abiotic stress responses (Fujita *et al.*, 2011).

1.4 Key factors for ABA response during postgermination development

The first components of ABA signaling and response pathway were identified in genetic screens for ABA-insensitive mutants more than a quarter of a century ago (Finkelstein, 1994; Finkelstein and Lynch, 2000; Koornneef *et al.*, 1984; Lopez-Molina and Chua, 2000) and include dominant (constitutively active) clade A PP2C phosphatase mutants (*abi1, abi2*) and recessive loss-of-function mutants of transcriptional activators of the ABA response (*abi3, abi4* and *abi5*) (Finkelstein, 1994; Finkelstein and Lynch, 2000; Koornneef *et al.*, 1984; Lopez-Molina and Chua, 2000). Conversely, loss of function of these PP2Cs or gain of function of the transcription factors leads to ABA hypersensitivity (Brocard *et al.*, 2002; Gosti, 1999; Kang *et al.*, 2002; Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2001; Merlot *et al.*, 2001; Parcy and Giraudat, 1997; Rubio *et al.*, 2009; Soderman *et al.*, 2000).

Both ABA and the bZIP transcription factor ABI5 are important for osmotic stress responses during late seed maturation and for execution of the ABA-dependent growth

4

arrest prior to photosynthetic growth (Bensmihen *et al.*, 2002; Brocard *et al.*, 2002; Finkelstein and Lynch, 2000; Lopez-Molina and Chua, 2000; Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2001). *ABA INSENSITIVE5 (ABI5)* is also implicated in control of radicle emergence (germination) (Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2001, 2002). Loss of *ABI5* function causes reduced ABA sensitivity, whereas ectopic expression of ABI5 enhances ABA sensitivity and drought resistance (Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2001; Brocard *et al.*, 2002). *ABI5* expression is the most abundant in dry seeds and decreases during postgermination development (Finkelstein *et al.*, 2005; Lopez-Molina and Chua, 2000; Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2001). Although *ABI5* expression is low after seedling establishment, *ABI5* is induced upon drought sensing also during vegetative development, in an ABA signaling–dependent manner (Brocard *et al.*, 2002; Gonzalez-Guzman *et al.*, 2012; Mizoguchi *et al.*, 2010; Nakashima *et al.*, 2009; Zhu *et al.*, 2007).

Another key transcription factor important for establishment of desiccation tolerance and dormancy is the B3 domain transcription factor ABI3 (Parcy and Giraudat, 1997). ABI3 has also been linked to regulation of germination (Nambara *et al.*, 2000; Parcy *et al.*, 1994). Importantly, ABI3 has a key role in promoting postgermination growth arrest under osmotic stress conditions and acts upstream of *ABI5* in this process (Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2002). ABI3 is abundant in maturing and mature seeds, but *ABI3* mRNA and protein levels become undetectable upon seedling establishment (Parcy *et al.*, 1994; Perruc *et al.*, 2007). ABI3 cannot be induced by ABA during vegetative development (Nakashima *et al.*, 2006).

1.5 Chromatin changes induced by water stress

Altered transcriptional responses to environmental stimuli, such as abiotic stress, have been linked to chromatin regulation (Chinnusamy and Zhu, 2009; Kim *et al.*, 2010a). In the eukaryotic nucleus, the genome is packaged into the fundamental unit of chromatin, the nucleosome, which is comprised of 147 base pairs of DNA wrapped around a histone octamer (Luger *et al.*, 1997). The histone octamer consists of two copies each of histones H2A, H2B, H3 and H4. Nucleosomal arrays are further condensed into higher-order chromatin structures that incorporate the linker histone H1 (Luger *et al.*, 1997). The compaction of the genome in the context of chromatin physically restricts the accessibility of the genomic DNA to regulatory proteins such as transcription factors and RNA polymerase II (Petesch and Lis, 2012). Genomic DNA accessibility in the context of chromatin can be altered by various mechanisms including incorporation of histone variants, posttranslational modifications of the histones or the DNA, or non-covalent alteration of the positioning or occupancy of the nucleosome (Bell *et al.*, 2011).

In following subtopics, I will discuss each of the different mechanisms that increase or decrease the accessibility of the genomic DNA in the context of chromatin as well as the available evidence that links each mechanism to water stress responses.

1.5.1 Histone modifications

Certain amino acids of histones, for example in their N-terminal tails, are frequently posttranslationally modified *via* acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, ubiquitination, sumoylation, or ADP-ribosylation (Bannister and Kouzarides, 2011; Zentner and Henikoff, 2013). These modifications are dynamically established or erased by

specialized enzymes called 'writers' or 'erasers', respectively (Bannister and Kouzarides, 2011). The functional outcome of these changes in histone modifications is either alteration of the strength of the DNA histone interaction or recruitment of non-histone proteins, the so called 'readers', to the chromatin (Bannister and Kouzarides, 2011; Patel and Wang, 2013; Zentner and Henikoff, 2013).

Typically, histone acetylation is correlated with more open chromatin and hence more active transcription, whereas the converse is true for histone deacetylation (Zentner and Henikoff, 2013). By contrast, histone methylation can affect different transcriptional outcome, depending on the amino acid modified and the degree of modification (mono-, di-, tri- methylation) (Li *et al.*, 2007). For example, H3K4 and H3K36 tri-methylation are found at actively transcribed genes, whereas methylation of H3K27 and H3K9 are well known marks for repressed loci and heterochromatin, respectively (Zentner and Henikoff, 2013). Histone arginine residues can be methylated by protein arginine methyltransferases (PRMTs). Different PRMT family members can catalyze monomethylarginine, asymmetric di-methylarginine, and symmetric di-methylarginine that direct either gene activation or repression (Ahmad and Cao, 2012).

Several reports in plant have shown that drought sensing or treatment with the stress hormone ABA induce changes in histone modifications (Kim *et al.*, 2010a; Yuan *et al.*, 2013). For example, a short pulse of ABA or salt stress was sufficient to induce global H3S10 phosphorylation and H4K14 acetylation in cultured Arabidopsis and tobacco cells (Sokol *et al.*, 2007). In 15-day-old Arabidopsis seedlings, H3K9, H3K23 and H3K27 acetylation were enriched at coding regions of drought stress-responsive genes after short drought treatment, which was correlated with gene activation.

H3K4me3 enrichment with gene activation was similar to H3K9 acetylation (Kim *et al.*, 2008). Genome-wide analysis in 4-week-old rosette *Arabidopsis* leaves under dehydration stress revealed a modest change in H3K4me2 and H3K4me1 levels at a subset of known stress response genes, but the H3K4me3 abundance over gene bodies changed more dramatically at genes whose transcript levels increased or decreased during dehydration (van Dijk *et al.*, 2010). Recent genome-wide analysis in 25-day-old rice seedling also uncovered a positive correlation between H3K4me3 accumulation and the expression levels of some of drought-responsive genes during dehydration. This correlation could be extended to genes involved in stress-related metabolite and hormone-signaling pathways (Zong *et al.*, 2013). As changes in transcription direct changes in histone modifications (Zentner and Henikoff, 2013), further studies are needed to elucidate whether the observed alterations in posttranslational histone modifications are a cause or consequence of the transcriptional changes triggered by water stress.

1.5.2 Histone (de)acetylases

More direct evidence for a role of histone modifications in water stress responses comes from the studies of mutants lacking histone-modifying enzymes. Several studies from rice and *Arabidopsis* have shown that the expression of histone deacetylases is regulated by drought and/or ABA (Luo *et al.*, 2012; Sridha and Wu, 2006). In *Arabidopsis*, the expression of the plant specific HD2 histone deacetylases is repressed by ABA and NaCl (Luo *et al.*, 2012; Sridha and Wu, 2006). Plants overexpressing AtHD2C exhibited ABAhyposensitivity (Sridha and Wu, 2006), while *hdc2* mutants display ABA hypersensitivity

during germination (Luo *et al.*, 2012). The gene expression changes reported for these mutants are inconsistent with the phenotypes of mutants lacking the components of ABA signaling pathway (Gosti et al., 1999; Merlot et al., 2001), and may therefore be an indirect consequence thereof. Mutations in either one of the genes coding two RPD3-type histone deacetylases HDA6 and HDA19 in *Arabidopsis* also cause ABA hypersensitivity (Chen et al., 2010b; Chen and Wu, 2010; Zhou et al., 2013). Several embryonic genes including 7S1, LEC2, 2S2, CRA1, FUS3 and LEC1 were de-repressed in hda19 seedlings (Zhou *et al.*, 2013) in agreement with a role of histone acetylation in activation of these genes (Ng et al., 2006). Similar phenomena were observed in HDA6-RNAi lines (Tanaka et al., 2008) and in wild-type plants treated with a histone deacetylase inhibitor (Tanaka et al., 2008). HDA19 associates with the regulatory regions of the above-mentioned embryonic genes (Zhou *et al.*, 2013). It remains to be seen whether failure to directly repress embryonic genes is also observed during germination and whether depression of such genes causes the germination defects and ABA hypersensitivity of germinating hda19 mutants. Histone acetyltransferases (HAT) complex components were also linked to altered water stress responses. Loss-of-function mutant of ADA2b, a component of the GCN5 containing HAT complex leads to increased drought tolerance (Vlachonasios et al., 2011; Vlachonasios et al., 2003). It is not yet known which gene expression changes are directly triggered by this complex and cause the observed phenotype.

1.5.3 Histone lysine methyltransferases

Loss of function of *Arabidopsis* trithorax-like factor ATX1 that trimethylates histone H3 at lysine 4 (H3K4me3) results in decreased dehydration tolerance compared to wild-type

seedlings. ATX1 directly regulates transcription of *NCED3*, which encodes a key ABA biosynthesis enzyme. Activation of *NCED3* transcription upon dehydration or ABA treatment is greatly reduced in *atx1* mutant, suggesting that ATX1 mediated H3K4 methylation is required for *NCED3* induction and possibly ABA accumulation by water stress (Ding *et al.*, 2011).

Trithorax group proteins act in opposition to Polycomb group proteins (Simon and Kingston, 2013). H3K27me3 marks established by the Polycomb group complex 2 (PRC2) induce a persistent silent state of the transcription of the target locus (Simon and Kingston, 2013). In Drosophila, Polycomb repressive complex 1 (PRC1) recognizes H3K27me3 and plays a role in the stable maintenance of gene repression (Simon and Kingston, 2013). While PRC2 complex components are conserved in plants and metazoans, this is not true for PRC1 complex components (Holec and Berger, 2012; Zheng and Chen, 2011). In barley, exogenous ABA application induced expression of components of the PRC2 complex such as HvE(Z) and HvFIE in seedlings (Kapazoglou et al., 2010). In Arabidopsis, mutations in the two EMBRYONIC FLOWER (EMF) genes display strikingly similar developmental defects (Aubert et al., 2001; Yoshida et al., 2001). EMF2 is a homolog of the Su(z)12 component of the metazoan PRC2 complex. It is currently unclear whether EMF1 is associated with PRC1 or PRC2 function (Beh et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012b). The recent identification of EMF1 as a structural homolog of the Drosophila PRC1 complex component PSC, its ability to inhibit remodeling activity of SWI/SNF ATPases (Beh et al., 2012) and its ability to act as a potent repressor of transcription (Calonje et al., 2008) provide support for the idea that EMF1 may be associated with PRC1. Genome-wide expression analysis of the *emf* mutants revealed that

EMFs regulate plant hormone and stress signaling-related genes (Kim *et al.*, 2010b). Both EMF1 and EMF2 directly bind to the promoter of ABI3 and expression of ABI3 and its targets are de-repressed in 7 and 14-day-old emf mutant seedlings (Kim et al., 2010b). More recently, genome-wide binding studies revealed that genes occupied by EMF1 and marked by H3K27me are significantly enriched for Gene Ontology terms such as "ABA response" and "abiotic stress response" (Kim et al., 2012b). A bypass of the embryo lethality of the single unique PRC2 complex component, FIE, allowed assay of the gene expression defects and postembryonic phenotypes caused by absence of PRC2 function (Bouyer et al., 2011). This revealed germination defects as well as de-repression of embryonic genes and of positive regulators of ABA responses (Bouyer et al., 2011). Further evidence for a PRC-dependent role in water stress-related responses comes from conditional knockdown of EMF1, which led to increased salt tolerance, while removal of a factor with opposing (trithorax group-related) activity had the opposite phenotype (Carles and Fletcher, 2009; Pu et al., 2013). It remains to be determined in the latter two studies, which of the observed changes in gene expression are direct. Moreover, no evidence is available as yet that the observed changes in gene expression contribute to the altered water stress responses.

1.5.4 Histone arginine methyltransferases

Mutants lacking the *Arabidopsis* arginine methyltransferase *PRMT5/SKB1* (henceforth referred to as PRTM5 for simplicity) which catalyzes symmetric arginine dimethylation, display salt and ABA hypersensitivity (Schmitz *et al.*, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2007; Zhang *et al.*, 2011). Low doses of exogenous ABA result in the growth arrest of germinated *prmt5*

but not wild-type embryos (Zhang *et al.*, 2011). The reported gene expression changes in *prmt5* mutants relative to the wild type (Zhang *et al.*, 2011) are inconsistent with the observed hypersensitive phenotype (Merlot *et al.*, 2001; Rubio *et al.*, 2009; Yoshida *et al.*, 2010). Hence the reported changes in gene expression may be an indirect consequence of the mutant phenotype. As PRTM5 activity also regulates mRNA splicing (Deng *et al.*, 2010; Zhang *et al.*, 2011) and circadian gene expression (Hong *et al.*, 2010; Sanchez *et al.*, 2010), it will not be trivial to identify the genes, whose misexpression underlies the ABA hypersensitivity of *prmt5*. Indeed, a genetic screen for Ca2+ underaccumulation (*cau*) mutants identified an allele of *prmt5* that displays increased drought tolerance and stomatal closure (Fu *et al.*, 2013). The drought tolerance is at least in part due to de-repression of the direct PRMT5/H4Rsme2 target and calcium accumulation sensor *CAS* (Fu *et al.*, 2013).

In summary, mounting evidence supports the idea that post-translational modifications of histones are critical for correct water stress responses in plants. One of the biggest remaining challenges is to elucidate the causal defects that underpin the observed water stress-related phenotypes of mutants lacking histone-modifying enzymes. After identification of genes whose expression is altered in a given mutant in a manner consistent with the observed phenotypes, direct association of the histone-modifying enzyme in question with loci of interest should be tested. Coupled with expected changes in the histone modifications at these loci in stress and non-stress conditions in the mutant and wild-type background, this will allow identification of candidate direct targets of the histone-modifying enzyme. Subsequent genetic tests will enable elucidation of the role (if any) of the identified candidate direct targets in the water stress phenotypes observed in mutants lacking activity of a given histone-modifying enzyme. Since loss-of-function of histone-modifying enzymes and other mutants that affect the chromatin organization are pleiotropic, it cannot be ruled out that the altered stress phenotype of constitutive mutants is due to secondary effects of the altered plant morphology (leaf size, stature). Phenotypic and molecular investigations of chromatin regulators should therefore rely as much as possible on inducible loss-of-function mutants. Tissue specific knockdown of chromatin regulators can minimize pleiotropic defects. Temporally inducible knockdown of a histone-modifying enzyme enables analysis of altered water stress responses shortly after knockdown in wild-type looking plants, significantly reducing the secondary effects typical of constitutive mutants.

1.5.5 Histone variants

In most organisms including *Arabidopsis*, there are multiple genes that code for the highly conserved canonical histones (H3, H4, H2A and H2B), which are mostly expressed during the S phase of the cell cycle (Burgess and Zhang, 2013; Skene and Henikoff, 2013; Talbert and Henikoff, 2010). Other less conserved subtypes of histones called histone variants are expressed throughout the cell cycle (Skene and Henikoff, 2013; Talbert and Henikoff, 2010). The canonical histones are replaced with histone variants independent of DNA replication. Although they generally do not differ much in sequence from the canonical histones, histone variants can impart distinct characteristics to the nucleosomes, such as stronger or weaker association with the genomic DNA and incompatibility with certain post-translational modifications (Skene and Henikoff, 2013; Talbert and Henikoff, 2010). Recent genome-wide studies have revealed the genomic

distribution of a subset of the plant histone variants (Costas *et al.*, 2011; Skene and Henikoff, 2013; Talbert and Henikoff, 2010; Wollmann *et al.*, 2012; Zilberman *et al.*, 2008).

In plants, linker histone (H1) variants have been linked to water stress response. The linker histone variant *HIS1-3* gene in *Arabidopsis* is specifically induced by salt, drought and ABA (Ascenzi and Gantt, 1997; Zhu et al., 2012). Similarly, the tomato linker histone variant H1-S gene is also induced by and accumulates in the chromatin in response to water deficit (Scippa *et al.*, 2000). H1-S also accumulates in a droughttolerant genotype of tomato (Trivedi et al., 2012). Indeed, knockdown of H1-S levels by antisense in transgenic tomato triggered altered physiological response to water loss such as altered stomatal conductance, transpiration and net photosynthetic rate (Scippa *et al.*, 2004). Transgenic plants showed an increased association of the heterochromatin with the nuclear membrane under water stress condition (Scippa *et al.*, 2004), this may trigger increased silencing of these regions (Hubner et al., 2013). Although up-regulation of expression of variants of the linker histone H1 in response to drought is a conserved response in higher plants, detailed mechanistic insight into how this histone variant affects chromatin structure or gene expression during water stress is as yet not available. The H2A variant H2A.Z is largely conserved through evolution (Talbert and Henikoff, 2010). Genome-wide studies revealed that the localization of H2A.Z inversely correlates with DNA methylation in both heterochromatin and in gene bodies of active genes (Zilberman et al., 2008). It has been proposed that the anti-correlation between H2A.Z and DNA methylation is primarily due to the exclusion of H2A.Z from methylated DNA (Coleman-Derr and Zilberman, 2012). Moreover, Gene Ontology terms enriched among

genes up-regulated in *h2a.z* triple mutants include "Response to water deprivation" and "Response to ABA" (Coleman-Derr and Zilberman, 2012). The authors propose that H2A.Z deposition in gene bodies confers higher variability in the expression of inducible genes including those that respond to water stress. By contrast, gene-body DNA methylation may stabilize constitutive expression of housekeeping genes by antagonizing H2A.Z deposition (Coleman-Derr and Zilberman, 2012). It will be of interest to determine the effect of reduced availability or incorporation of these and additional histone variants on water stress responses in plants. Given their widespread roles in chromatin stability, conditional disruption of histone variant availability or incorporation may allow more precise investigation of such phenotypes.

1.5.6 DNA methylation

Methylation on the fifth carbon of cytosine bases is an important epigenetic mark that influences chromatin structure and gene expression (Jones, 2012). In plants, cytosine methylation is found in the context of CG, CHG and CHH (H=A, C or T). Symmetric CG maintenance methylation is catalyzed by DNA Methyltransferase I (MET1), a homolog of the mammalian methyltransferase Dnmt1 (Chan *et al.*, 2005; Goll and Bestor, 2005; Law and Jacobsen, 2010). Symmetric CHG maintenance methylation is catalyzed by Chromomethyltransferase 3 (CMT3), a plant specific methyltransferase. Asymmetric CHH methylation is maintained through *de novo* methylation by Domains Rearranged Methyltransferase 2 (DRM2), a homolog of the mammalian Dnmt3a/b and the RNAdirected DNA methylation (RdDM) pathway (Chan *et al.*, 2005; Goll and Bestor, 2005; Law and Jacobsen, 2010). DDM1 is a SWI/SNF superfamily chromatin remodeler

15

required for all DNA methylation (CG, CHG, CHH) over long transposable elements (TEs) and in heterochromatin (Vongs *et al.*, 1993). DDM1 was recently shown to cooperate with the CMT2 methyltransferase to mediate CHH DNA methylation in parallel with the RdDM pathway (Zemach *et al.*, 2013).

In *Arabidopsis*, centromeric and pericentromeric regions, repetitive DNA sequences and transposons are heavily methylated. Many genic regions are also highly methylated, this is correlated with high gene expression, whereas promoters are mostly depleted of DNA methylation (Saze *et al.*, 2012; Zhang *et al.*, 2006). In plants, DNA methylation is associated with diverse biological processes including development and environmental responses (Law and Jacobsen, 2010; Sahu *et al.*, 2013; Saze *et al.*, 2012).

Studies from various plant species showed that abiotic stress may trigger hyperor hypomethylation at different genomic contexts; hypo-methylation of promoters, hyperor hypo methylation at coding regions and hypo-methylation of transposons (Sahu *et al.*, 2013). For example, genome-wide analysis identified differentially methylated DNA regions in *Arabidopsis* seedlings treated with simulated drought (treatment with Polyethylene glycol). The methylome was widely affected by changes in the water potential, with the most dramatic DNA hypermethylation observed near the TSS (\pm 500bp) of protein coding genes related to stress responses (Colaneri and Jones, 2013). Moreover, it has been proposed that DNA methylation may contribute to stress adaptation. Mangrove trees grown near a salt march had smaller statures than riverside grown trees and their genomes were globally hypo-methylated (Lira-Medeiros *et al.*, 2010). Likewise, in rice, changes in DNA methylation in response to drought were more pronounced in drought-tolerant genotypes (Wang *et al.*, 2011b). The altered DNA

methylation may contribute to increased differential gene expression upon drought sensing. A subset of the DNA methylation changes induced by drought remained after removal of the stress (Wang et al., 2011b). In Arabidopsis, low relative humidity was linked to de novo DNA methylation and stable repression of genes involved in stomata development, resulting in lower stomata frequency (Tricker et al., 2012; Tricker et al., 2013). A T-DNA insertion distal to the *AtHKT1* gene, which encodes a sodium transporter, has been identified as a suppressor of sos3 (salt overly sensitive 3). The insertion prevents a distal enhancer element and RdDM from controlling expression of AtHKT1, which plays an important role in salt tolerance (Baek et al., 2011). met1-3 mutants and *met1-3* derived epiRILs show normal germination in non-stress condition, by contrast they fail to germinate in the presence of 150mM NaCl, a concentration that does not impact germination in the wild type (Reinders et al., 2009). Defects in DNA methylation may thus affect phenotypic plasticity (a topic that has received attention from an evolutionary perspective) in response to adverse environmental conditions (Draghi and Whitlock, 2012; Lira-Medeiros et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2011b). It will be critical to identify which of the observed DNA methylation changes contribute to altered water stress response or plasticity.

1.5.7 Non-covalent changes in chromatin state

ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling ATPases alter histone–DNA interactions noncovalently by utilizing the energy derived from ATP hydrolysis to promote changes in nucleosome occupancy, nucleosome positioning or nucleosome composition (Cairns, 2009; Hargreaves and Crabtree, 2011; Narlikar *et al.*, 2013). Chromatin remodeling can either increase or decrease the accessibility of a given piece of genomic DNA to trans factors and hence facilitate or obstruct transcription, respectively (Cairns, 2009; Hargreaves and Crabtree, 2011; Narlikar *et al.*, 2013). Four well-studied subfamilies of ATP-dependent chromatin remodelers are the SWI/SNF, ISWI, CHD and INO80/SWR1 families. Each subfamily has unique domains, which endow it with specialized function for particular nuclear processes (Cairns, 2009; Hargreaves and Crabtree, 2011; Narlikar *et al.*, 2013). Among these ATP-dependent chromatin remodelers, only the SWI/SNF and CHD subgroups have been implicated in water stress responses in plants.

SWI/SNF ATPases are conserved from yeast to humans and plants (Flaus et al., 2006; Hu et al., 2013; Kwon and Wagner, 2007; Narlikar et al., 2013). Plant genomes contain three types of SWI/SNF subfamily chromatin remodeling ATPases called BRAHMA (BRM), SPLAYED (SYD), and MINUSCULE (MINU) (Jerzmanowski, 2007; Kwon and Wagner, 2007; Sang et al., 2012). The catalytic ATPase subunit forms a core complex together with SWIRM- and SANT- domain proteins (SWI3) and SNF5domain proteins. Additional accessary proteins, which are frequently tissue- and developmental-stage specific, control targeting and activity of the complex (Clapier and Cairns, 2009; Hargreaves and Crabtree, 2011; Kwon and Wagner, 2007). In vitro remodeling activity has not yet been demonstrated for members of this subfamily in plants. In Arabidopsis, the BRM complex containing SWI3C and SNF5 (BSH) has been linked to ABA and drought response (Han et al., 2012). Germinating brm mutants display ABA hypersensitivity and enhanced growth arrest relative to the wild type. Consistent with the mutant phenotype, derepression of the positive ABA response regulator ABI5 (Lopez-Molina et al., 2001) was observed (Han et al., 2012). ABI5 is a direct BRM target and based on genetic epistasis tests, the *brm* mutant growth arrest is due to the ABI5 derepression (Han *et al.*, 2012). BRM repressed *ABI5* expression in the absence of stress by promoting high occupancy of the +1 nucleosome close to the ABI5 transcription start site (Han et al., 2012). In addition, brm mutants displayed increased drought tolerance at multiple stages of development. The molecular underpinnings of this response remain to be elucidated (Han et al., 2012). The MINU1/AtCHR12 ATPase (henceforth referred to as MINU1 for simplicity) has been implicated as a negative regulator of a temporary growth arrest caused by drought and heat stress in adult Arabidopsis plants (Mlynarova et al., 2007). Overexpression of MINU1 induces temporary growth arrest under drought as well as salt and heat stress (Mlynarova et al., 2007). Intriguingly, the expression of several stress-inducible dormancy-related genes was reduced in the inflorescence and 4week-old rosette leaves of MINU1 knock out and increased in MINU1 overexpressing plant. While it is not yet known whether these genes are directly regulated by MINU1 or responsible for the observed phenotypic defects, MINU1 may play a role in the induction of stress response genes upon perception of the stimulus.

The CHD subgroup chromatin remodeler PKL has also been implicated in ABA response. CHD chromatin remodelers have two tandem chromodomains known to bind methylated lysines, these domains were recently shown to couple ATP hydrolysis to remodeling (Hauk *et al.*, 2010). Like SWI/SNF ATPases, CHD remodelers can both promote and repress transcription. The vertebrate Mi2-NuRD complex contains histone deacetylase and methyl CpG-binding domain (MBD) proteins in addition to a CHD domain chromatin remodeler (Clapier and Cairns, 2009). PKL is the best-characterized CHD remodeler in *Arabidopsis* and most closely resembles CHD3. Recently, *in vitro*

chromatin remodeling activity was demonstrated for PKL (Ho et al., 2013). PKL is required for repression of embryonic genes during seedling development and promotes the developmental transition to vegetative growth (Henderson et al., 2004). pkl mutants display exaggerated ABA responses during germination, and fail to germinate in conditions where wild type germinates properly (Perruc *et al.*, 2007). The ABAdependent growth arrest of geminating *pkl* plants is mainly mediated by failure to developmentally repress genes strongly expressed during embryogenesis, including ABI3 and ABI5. Increased expression of ABI3 and ABI5 in pkl mutants relative to the wild type in the presence of ABA treatment is correlated with reduced levels of two repressive histone modifications, H3K9me2 and H3K27me2 at the promoters of these genes (Perruc et al., 2007). Epistasis test revealed nearly abi5 like germination and growth responses in *pkl abi5* double mutants, suggesting that the majority of the phenotypic defects can be explained by failure to repress ABI5. It is not known whether ABI5 is directly regulated by PKL. Elucidation of the direct PKL targets is critical, as there is currently evidence for PKL acting both as a trithorax group protein (to counteract Polycomb repression) and as a promoter of Polycomb repression (Aichinger et al., 2009; Jing et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2012).

1.6 Tradeoffs between growth and water stress responses

Although the underlying mechanisms are largely unknown, growth arrest in adverse environments is thought to be advantageous for plant survival (Achard *et al.*, 2006; Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2001; Skirycz and Inze, 2010). One hypothesis is that limited resources available to monocarpic (annual) plants in particular can either be allocated to stress response or to continued growth (Bennett *et al.*, 2012). In support of this idea, ABA and drought stress not only induce expression of stress response genes, but also represses expression of genes linked to growth and metabolism (Chaves *et al.*, 2009; Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 2007; Sreenivasulu *et al.*, 2012). In addition, when major drought-responsive transcription factors are overexpressed, transgenic plants display growth retardation in non-drought conditions (Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 2007). In conditions when the stress does not threaten survival, growth inhibition may lead to an unnecessary reduction in plant growth and hence productivity and yield (Bennett *et al.*, 2012; Tardieu, 2003).

Consistent with the hypothesized tradeoff between growth and drought response several chromatin regulators have been implicated in stress-mediated temporal growth arrest at different stages of plant development. A highly dehydration sensitive developmental phase in the life of a plant is immediately after germination (Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2001). Several chromatin regulators act at this stage to trigger water stressdependent growth arrest, which resembles the growth arrest during late-embryogenesis in seed development. In several cases, the hyperactive stress response is due to a delay or failure to repress the embryonic developmental program (which is geared towards desiccation tolerance and growth arrest) upon germination.

One example of this type of regulator is PKL. Hypersensitive germination response to ABA of *pkl* mutants is due to failure to developmentally repress *ABI3* and *ABI5* accumulation and is restored by removing *ABI5* function (Perruc *et al.*, 2007). Other embryonic genes such as *LEC1*, *LEC2*, *FUS3* are constitutively de-repressed and cause formation of embryonic structures on adult *pkl* mutant plants (Aichinger *et al.*,

21

2009; Dean Rider *et al.*, 2003; Henderson *et al.*, 2004). Likewise, a delay in the developmental repression of the embryonic program is observed under conditions of reduced histone deacetylase activity (Tanaka *et al.*, 2008). Double mutants between *pkl* and histone deacetylase *hda6* enhanced persistence of embryonic traits and embryonic gene expression (Tanaka *et al.*, 2008). Polycomb group protein and RETINOBLASTOMA -RELATED protein (RBR) are also required for persistent silencing of late embryonic genes including *ABI3* by increasing their histone H3K27 trimethylation (Bouyer *et al.*, 2011; Gutzat *et al.*, 2011; Kim *et al.*, 2010b; Yang *et al.*, 2013). Although the role of RBR in abiotic stress response has not been investigated, seedlings with reduced RBR function arrest their growth after germination in non-stress conditions; this is accompanied by de-repression of embryonic genes linked to ABA responses including *ABI3* and *ABI5* (Gutzat *et al.*, 2011).

The SWI/SNF ATPase BRM, by contrast, displayed normal developmental downregulation of embryonic genes (*ABI3, ABI5*) at the onset of autotrophic growth and was instead required for repressing expression of positive regulators of water stress responses in the absence of the stimulus (Han *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, the overall reduced vegetative growth of *brm* mutants under non-stress conditions is partly restored by removing *ABI5* function or by disturbing ABA signaling pathway. However, a role for BRM in repression of the embryonic program cannot be entirely rule out. Several embryonic genes were expressed in mutants lacking BRM and its close homolog SPLAYED based on transcriptome studies (Bezhani *et al.*, 2007). However, the expression of key embryogenesis regulators such as *ABI3*, *LEC1* and *LEC2* was either not changed or only marginally up-regulated (*FUS3*) in adult *brm* hypomorph mutants (Tang *et al.*, 2008). The SWI/SNF ATPase MINU1 is thought to be required for induction of stress-inducible genes that mediate growth arrest under abiotic stress, although direct targets of MINU1 remain to be identified (Mlynarova *et al.*, 2007).

Taken together, these studies highlight a role for chromatin modifying and remodeling enzymes at the nexus of growth versus stress response pathways, both *via* modulation of developmental programs and *via* enabling proper stimulus–dependent changes in gene expression.

1.7 Links between stress signaling pathways and chromatin modifying or remodeling enzymes.

As outlined above many chromatin changes including a change in histone variant incorporation, histone modifications, nucleosome occupancy or positioning or DNA methylation accompany stress-induced changes in gene expression. A critical question is how chromatin regulator activity is controlled to allow precise stimulus dependent changes in the accessibility of the genome. One way to achieve this may be a direct communication between components of the stress signal transduction pathway and chromatin modifying or remodeling activities.

The question whether histones in the context of chromatin can directly receive and deliver signals from cellular signal transduction cascades to facilitate specific cellular responses has recently received much attention (Badeaux and Shi, 2013; Johnson and Dent, 2013; Suganuma and Workman, 2013). Another intersection between cellular signal transduction and chromatin is indirectly through posttranslational modifications of chromatin modifying or remodeling enzymes (Badeaux and Shi, 2013). Studies in mammals revealed that histone and DNA methyltransferases are directly phosphorylated by a downstream component of phosphoinositide signaling, the AKT kinase (Cha *et al.*, 2005; Esteve *et al.*, 2011). Likewise SWI/SNF chromatin remodelers have been shown to be phosphorylated by p38 (Simone *et al.*, 2004) as well as acetylated (Bourachot *et al.*, 2003) and SUMOylated upon signal perception (Galisson *et al.*, 2011).

Signaling transduction by SnRK2 kinases and PP2C phosphatases plays an important role in coordinating whole plant water stress responses. Calcium-dependent protein kinases (CDPKs) are also critical for proper water stress response, ABA signaling and reduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) accumulation (Asano et al., 2012), while the inositol polyphosphate 1-phosphatase FIERY1 acts a negative regulator of ABA and stress signaling (Xiong *et al.*, 2001). Thus far there is no report that links these signaling components directly to the chromatin. However links between other signal transducers and chromatin regulators have been identified. The clade A PP2C phosphatases, Hypersensitive to ABA 1 (HAB1) physically interacts with SWI3B, a core subunit of the putative Arabidopsis SWI/SNF complex. HAB1 is recruited to ABA response genes, this recruitment is abrogated upon ABA treatment (Saez et al., 2008). HAB1 may perhaps directly de-phosphorylate SWI/SNF complexes containing SWI3B in an ABA dependent manner. In agreement with this idea, recent phosphoproteomics analyses performed by the Zhu and Shinozaki labs revealed that several chromatin regulators, including the BRM SWI/SNF ATPase, are substrates of SnRK2 type kinases in the ABA response pathway (Umezawa et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013). Whether the observed phosphorylation/ de-phosphorylation of SWI3B or BRM by SnRK2 kinases/ PP2C phosphatases modulates SWI/SNF complex activity remains unknown. The Arabidopsis
Trithorax-like protein and histone H3 lysine 4 methyltransferase ATX1 (Alvarez-Venegas and Avramova, 2005), is involved in dehydration response in both ABA dependent and ABA independent pathways (Ding et al., 2011). Intriguingly, ATX1 also directly interacts with phosphatidylinositol (Ptdlns5P), this negatively influences the ATX1 activity (Ndamukong et al., 2010). Dehydration stress increases accumulation of phosphatidylinositol, a precursor of secondary messengers in stress signaling (Ndamukong *et al.*, 2010). An increase in the cellular levels of Ptdlns5P keeps ATX1 in the cytoplasm thereby diminishing ATX1 binding to target genes linked to proper water stress responses (Ndamukong et al., 2010). The phosphoproteomics studies mentioned above identified additional chromatin regulators as phosphorylated upon dehydration or ABA treatment in a SnRK2 kinase-dependent manner (Umezawa et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013). Although there was little overlap between the phosphorylated peptides identified in the two studies, chromatin associated proteins identified include putative components of HDAC complexes (eg. SIN3-like 2, HD2B), HAT complexes (eg. SNS1; Eaf7 superfamily), histone methyltransferases (eg. ATXR2, SDG2), chromatin remodeling ATPases (eg. CHR2/BRM, CHR5/CHD1) and Nucleolin like 1, a nucleolar protein linked to rRNA gene methylation and expression (Umezawa et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013). In addition, the Arabidopsis histone acetyltransferase GCN5 was shown to specifically interact with PP2C6.6, a clade E PP2C with no visible mutant phenotype. GCN5 is dephosphorylated by PP2C6.6 in vitro and loss of PP2C6.6 activity induces GCN5-mediated histone acetylation (Servet *et al.*, 2008). A possible link to water stress responses is supported by the reported expression of PP2C6.6 in guard cells (Galbiati et al., 2008).

The possibility that chromatin regulator activity is modulated upon stress sensing is intriguing *vis-à-vis* the question how these factors can execute specific roles in the organism. It is furthermore of practical significance. As chromatin regulators broadly alter the stress-inducible transcriptome they may be able to direct tolerance not only to a unique stress but to combinations of stresses that are frequently encountered in the field (Mittler and Blumwald, 2010; Yang *et al.*, 2010). Ability to precisely modulate the activity of chromatin regulators – *via* targeted post-translational modifications for example- should allow utilization of their broad reprograming capacity while minimizing detrimental effects on growth or yield.

1.8 Stress-induced transient or long-term epigenetic memory

In higher plant, stress memory phenomena known as "priming" or "acclimation" have been described (Bruce *et al.*, 2007; Conrath, 2011). Pre-exposure to mild stimuli can make plants more stress resistant and boost responses to recurring stress exposure. Wellknown examples of priming are seed priming to enhance germination efficiency and crop yield, temperature acclimation and systemic acquired resistance (Bruce *et al.*, 2007; Conrath, 2011; Gutzat and Mittelsten Scheid, 2012). One mechanism proposed for longterm 'storage' of the stress memory is a mitotically heritable, or epigenetic, change in the chromatin organization. Another could conceivably rely instead on posttranslational modification of chromatin regulators. Epigenetic "Stress memory" could be maintained during subsequent development within the life span of the organism that experienced the priming stress in "somatic memory" or might perhaps even be transmitted to the progeny across generations in "transgenerational inheritance", a meiotically heritable change in the chromatin organization.

Unlike the mitotically heritable response to prolonged cold (Song *et al.*, 2012; Zografos and Sung, 2012), the mechanisms underlying long-term somatic stress memory are not well understood. Previous studies have shown that histone tail modifications such as H3 acetylation or H3K4 methylation occur at drought-responsive genes upon drought sensing, and correlate with active transcription of dehydration response genes (Kim *et al.*, 2008). However, drought-induced H3K9Ac marks and RNA polymerase II occupancy rapidly declined upon rehydration (Kim et al., 2012a). By contrast, H3K4me3 decreased much more gradually during a five-hour rehydration period (Kim et al., 2012a), suggesting that H3K4me3 could be a mitotically heritable epigenetic mark for water stress memory. In accordance with this study, another group proposed that H3K4me3 and stalled RNA polymerase II (PolII Ser5P) could function in mitotic stress memory (Ding et al., 2011). Recurrent dehydration induces a higher rate of expression of dehydration response genes such as RD29B and RAB18 than primary dehydration. This is accompanied by higher H3K4me3 and Ser5P PolII accumulation at these loci (Ding et al., 2011). During rehydration, the RD29B and RAB18 transcript levels revert to basal expression, but H3K4me3 and Ser5p PolII association with both loci remain elevated. The observed stress memory endured until 5 days after recovery (Ding et al., 2011). Likewise, H3K4 hypermethylation mediated by the Set1 histone methyltransferase in Saccharomyces cervisiae was proposed to provide molecular memory of recent transcriptional events (Ng et al., 2003). It was suggested that elevated H3K4 trimethylation is important for genes to be rapidly switched on and off by environmental

stimuli and that it acts to prevent the associated genes from being silenced (Ng *et al.*, 2003). The combined data suggests presence of a conserved mechanism for stress memory in metazoans.

One of the main difficulties in monitoring epigenetic profiles for long-term stress memory are confounding epigenetic changes caused by altered plant growth and development in stress challenged plants. Another challenge is determining the period for which plants can 'remember' the priming event. Enhanced response to the second treatment shortly after the primary treatment could result from 'left over' proteins and metabolites that were induced by the first stress treatment. Recently, Sani *et al.*, 2013 developed an experimental protocol to monitor epigenetic profiles, which aims to avoid these problems. They showed that a mild transient salt treatment of young *Arabidopsis* seedlings establishes long-term somatic memory. This was accompanied by specific changes in the H3K27me3 profile, which remained after a 10-days of subsequent growth, and resulted in drought/ high salt tolerance priming in the pre-treated plants without morphological difference between primed and non-primed adult plants (Sani *et al.*, 2013).

Interestingly, H3K4me3 is generated by a methyltransferase that belongs to the Trithorax Group of proteins (TrxG), while H3K27 is trimethylated by the PRC2 complex of Polycomb Group proteins (PcG). Recently several elegant *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have shown that mitotic epigenetic inheritance of methylation at H3K4 and H3K27, which have been linked to stress memory in plants (above), may be mediated by the continued presence of TrxG and PcG proteins at the replication fork and on mitotic chromatin (Follmer *et al.*, 2012; Fonseca *et al.*, 2012; Lanzuolo *et al.*, 2011; Lengsfeld *et al.*, 2012; Lo *et al.*, 2012; Petruk *et al.*, 2012).

28

Naturally occurring DNA methylation based epialleles and epiRILs (Epigenetic Recombinant Inbred Lines) generated in the laboratory are stably inherited for many generations in plants (Becker and Weigel, 2012; Mirouze and Paszkowski, 2011; Paszkowski and Grossniklaus, 2011; Roux et al., 2011; Schmitz et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013). Several reports have attempted to demonstrate stress-induced epigenetic states that are inherited by the non-stressed progeny, so -called meiotic or transgenerational epigenetic inheritance (Boyko and Kovalchuk, 2011; Grossniklaus et al., 2013; Gutzat and Mittelsten Scheid, 2012; Hauser et al., 2011; Paszkowski and Grossniklaus, 2011). For example, a recent study reported salt stress-induced epigenetic inheritance of DNA methylation, histone modifications and gene expression (Bilichak et al., 2012). However, clear evidence for stress-induced chromatin modifications that are stably inherited by subsequent generations and contribute to phenotypic plasticity is still lacking in plants (Grossniklaus et al., 2013; Mirouze and Paszkowski, 2011; Pecinka and Mittelsten Scheid, 2012). As genetic changes -for example due to transposon activation- are also observed in these lines, careful assessment of the epigenetic nature of the inherited trait is required. Criteria to shore up more unambiguous support for epigenetic transgenerational stress inheritance were recently suggested and include well-controlled stress treatments and phenotypic analyses, a comprehensive or synoptic view of associated chromatin changes, establishment of causality, as well as heritability for more than 2 generations (Grossniklaus et al., 2013; Pecinka and Mittelsten Scheid, 2012).

At a time when we face the twin challenges of human population growth and loss of arable land due to climate change, it is critical to understand the molecular mechanisms that regulate water stress tolerance and mitotic inheritance of stress responses during priming. Evidence is mounting for a role of DNA methylation, histone modifications, and altered nucleosome occupancy, positioning, or composition in both responses. As stresses in nature do not occur in isolation (Mittler and Blumwald, 2010; Yang *et al.*, 2010), it is possible that changes in chromatin organization may endow the plants with the ability to survive combinations of stresses and to remain primed for further stress responses. Challenges for the future are: (1) to elucidate which chromatin alterations may be instructive for altered stress responses, rather than a consequence thereof; (2) to understand which chromatin alterations lead to stress tolerance that is mitotically (or meiotically) heritable; and (3) to devise ways to modulate the activity of 'instructive' chromatin regulators in ways that allow enhanced primary or heritable stress tolerance without causing growth or yield trade-offs.

In the following three chapters, I will present the data for my thesis projects. In Chapter 2, I will present the role of SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex in water stress and chromatin changes triggered by ABA or loss of BRM. This chapter has been adapted from "The SWI2/SNF2 chromatin remodeling ATPase BRAHMA represses abscisic acid responses in the absence of the stress stimulus in *Arabidopsis*." Han *et al*, The Plant Cell, 2012. In Chapter 3, I will present the data from investigation on the regulation of SWI/SNF complex activity by ABA sensing and signaling. This part is incomplete and substantial experiments are still needed to support proposed hypothesis. I have highlighted the experiments that are in progress to address unanswered questions in Chapter 3. In Chapter 4, I have presented discussion and future direction.



Figure 1-1. Core ABA signal transduction pathway in the nucleus.

ABA receptors (PYR/PYL/RCAR), PP2C and SnRK2 form a core-signaling complex. ABA binds to ABA receptors (PYR/PYL/RCAR) in a ternary complex with the clade A PP2C phosphatases (Ma *et al.*, 2009; Park *et al.*, 2009), which frees the activity of SnRK2 kinases to phosphorylate downstream targets. ABRE/ABF-type of transcription factors (TFs) that induce ABA responsive gene expression are well known targets of SnRK2 kinases. Other substrates of SnRK2 have not been identified are marked with a question mark.

CHAPTER 2. The role of SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling in ABA dependent drought responses

(Adapted from Han *et al.*, *The Plant Cell*, 2012 Dec;24(12):4892-906. doi: 10.1105/tpc.112.105114. Epub 2012 Dec 3.)

2.1 Background

Altered transcriptional responses to environmental stimuli, such as abiotic stress, have been linked to chromatin regulation (Chinnusamy and Zhu, 2009; Kim *et al.*, 2010a). Chromatin mediated control of inducible gene expression is performed by two general types of activities. One mechanism involves enzymes that covalently modify histones and/or the DNA, such as histonemodifying enzymes or DNA (de)methylases (Li *et al.*, 2007). A second general mechanism for chromatin-mediated control of inducible gene expression is noncovalent alteration of the nucleosome position, occupancy, conformation, and composition by chromatin remodeling ATPases. Among the chromatin remodeling ATPases, the SWI/SNF subgroup has been studied extensively (Li *et al.*, 2007; Clapier and Cairns, 2009; Hargreaves and Crabtree, 2011).

SWI/SNF subgroup ATPases are conserved from yeast to humans and plants (Flaus *et al.*, 2006). Plant genomes contain three types of SWI/SNF subgroup chromatin remodeling ATPases, which are called BRAHMA (BRM), SPLAYED (SYD), and MINUSCULE (MINU) (Flaus *et al.*, 2006; Jerzmanowski, 2007; Kwon and Wagner, 2007; Sang *et al.*, 2012). SWI/SNF ATPases act in large protein complexes that are required for full activity *in vivo* and use the energy derived from ATP hydrolysis to alter histone–DNA interactions (Clapier and Cairns, 2009; Hargreaves and Crabtree, 2011). SWI/SNF complexes can increase or decrease accessibility of the genomic DNA and

hence activate or repress transcription, respectively (Tang *et al.*, 2008; Clapier and Cairns, 2009; Hargreaves and Crabtree, 2011). Selectivity of SWI/SNF activity is due to recruitment to target loci by sequence-specific proteins and/or regulation of complex activity by posttranslational modifications or complex composition (Clapier and Cairns, 2009; Hargreaves and Crabtree, 2011).

Constitutive activation of ABA signaling by removing negative regulators of the ABA pathway or by enhancing transcriptional response to ABA causes ABA hypersensitivity and enhanced drought tolerance (Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2001; Kang *et al.*, 2002; Fujita *et al.*, 2005; Rubio *et al.*, 2009). However, it also causes impaired growth under normal growth conditions (Kang *et al.*, 2002; Fujita *et al.*, 2005). This is because the abiotic stress responses divert resources from normal growth and development (Boyer, 1982; Cramer *et al.*, 2011; Grill and Ziegler, 1998; Less *et al.*, 2011). It is therefore critical that desiccation responses are repressed in non-stress conditions. Here, I describe a role for the *Arabidopsis thaliana* BRM SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex components in direct transcriptional repression of *ABI5* during postgermination development.

2.2 Results

2.2.1 ABA responses in the mutant of SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling ATPase

To investigate a possible link between SWI/SNF-dependent chromatin remodeling complexes and postgermination ABA responses, we probed the effect of mutations in each of the four Arabidopsis SWI/SNF ATPases, SYD, BRM, MINU1, and MINU2 (Farrona *et al.*, 2004; Flaus *et al.*, 2006; Sang *et al.*, 2012) on ABA-dependent growth arrest. Of all mutants tested, those in BRM displayed the most dramatic change in ABA sensitivity relative to the wild type (Figures 2-1A and Figure 2-1B). I therefore focused further analyses on the role of the BRM complex in ABA-mediated postgermination growth inhibition. I therefore focused further analyses on the role of the BRM complex in ABA-mediated postgermination growth inhibition.

2.2.2 Increased ABA sensitivity in brm mutants

After germination of *brm-3* hypomorphic (Farrona *et al.*, 2007) mutants on agar plates containing submicromolar ABA concentrations, the mutant germinated embryos failed to develop green cotyledons and the first pair of true leaves at the lowest ABA concentration tested (Figures 2-2A and 2-2B). The wild type did not display growth arrest in this condition. Moreover, when I transferred *brm-3* and *brm-1* null (Hurtado *et al.*, 2006) mutants to plates containing ABA, the growth of the primary root of was inhibited by ABA to a greater extent than wild-type roots (Figures 2-2C and 2-2D). Thus, relative to the wild type, *brm* mutants were hypersensitive to ABA.

2.2.3 Mutations in two components of SWI/SNF complex cause ABA hypersensitive phenotype.

The evolutionally conserved SWI/SNF core complex consists of one ATPase, two SWI3 subunits, and one SNF5 complex component (Hargreaves and Crabtree, 2011; Jerzmanowski, 2007; Kwon and Wagner, 2007; Phelan *et al.*, 1999). The Arabidopsis

genome encodes four SWI3 subunit genes (called SWI3A-D) and one SNF5 subunit gene (termed BUSHY) (Brzeski et al., 1999; Sarnowski et al., 2005). The morphological defects observed in *brm* null mutants are very similar to those of *swi3c* null mutants (Archacki et al., 2009; Sarnowski et al., 2005). Moreover, BRM and SWI3C show strong direct physical interaction (Hurtado et al., 2006), suggesting that SWI3C may be a dedicated BRM complex component. Therefore, I next examined the role of SWI3C and BUSHY (BSH) in postgermination ABA responses. Null swi3c-2 mutants (Sarnowski et al., 2005) showed an ABA-hypersensitive phenotype similar to brm mutants both with respect to cotyledon greening (Figures 2-3A and 2-3B) and growth of the primary root (Figures 2-3C and 2-3D). Likewise, the hypomorphic *bsh-1* mutant (Tang *et al.*, 2008) displayed ABA hypersensitive growth arrest (Figures 2-3E and 2-3F). I next examined seed germination (radicle emergence) in *brm* mutants relative to the wild type using a range of ABA concentrations. In radicle emergence assays (Müller et al., 2006), brm-3 hypomorphic mutants did not display significantly altered sensitivity to ABA (Figure 2-4A). By contrast, brm-1 null mutants were significantly more sensitive to low ABA concentrations than the wild type with respect to germination (Figure 2-4B). The combined data suggest that BRM affects germination and postgermination response to ABA with a very prominent role for BRM in cotyledon greening.

2.2.4 Derepression of ABA-responsive genes in the absence of the stress hormone in *brm* mutnats

To gain insight into the molecular underpinnings of the observed *brm* mutant ABA hypersensitivity, I analyzed the expression of ABA-responsive genes in *brm-3* mutant

and wild-type embryos during postgermination development. I employed the hypomorphic *brm-3* allele because, unlike the *brm-1* null mutant, it is fertile and thus facilitates testing of homozygous mutant embryos. I examined expression of the bZIP transcription factor ABI5 and the B3 transcription factor ABI3, key regulators of dormancy and desiccation tolerance in germinated embryos (Finkelstein and Lynch, 2000; Giraudat et al., 1992; Lopez-Molina and Chua, 2000; Lopez-Molina et al., 2001; Lopez-Molina et al., 2002; Parcy and Giraudat, 1997). In addition, I quantified expression of the bZIP transcription factor ABF3, which has been shown to act in part in a pathway parallel to ABI5 (Finkelstein et al., 2005; Kang et al., 2002; Yoshida et al., 2010) and HY5, a component of the light signal transduction pathway and direct upstream regulator of ABI5 (Chen et al., 2008). Gene expression was examined in plants grown in continuous light at day 1.5 and day 2.0 after stratification. These time points were chosen because growth arrest is triggered by ABA only before seedling establishment, in the first 48 h after stratification (Lopez-Molina et al., 2001). I observed derepression of ABI5 expression in *brm-3* relative to the wild type at both time points (4.4-fold and 3.1-fold at days 1.5 and 2, respectively; Figure 2-5A). The level of *ABI5* mRNA was also much higher in *brm-3* mutants relative to the wild type 1 h after ABA sensing; however, the rate of ABI5 induction by ABA was similar in both genotypes (5.2-fold and 5.1-fold at day 1.5 in the wild type and in *brm-3*, respectively; Figure 2-5A). *ABI3* expression, by contrast, was strongly derepressed only at day 1.5 in brm-3 mutants relative to the wild type. At day 2, ABI3 derepression in brm mutants and induction by ABA was much less pronounced. Again, there was no increase in the fold induction of *ABI3* expression by ABA in the *brm* mutant relative to the wild type. *ABF3* expression was only marginally

increased in *brm-3* in any condition tested, while *HY5* expression was not at all altered in the *brm-3* mutant (Figure 2-5A). Thus, partial loss of BRM function led to altered expression of select ABA-responsive genes; most notably derepression of *ABI5* and *ABI3* expression in the absence of exogenous ABA application.

2.2.5 BRM directly represses transcription of ABI5.

Since SWI/SNF complexes can both activate and repress transcription (Hargreaves and Crabtree, 2011; Kwon et al., 2005; Tang et al., 2008), it is possible that the effect of BRM on ABI5 and ABI3 mRNA accumulation in the absence of the stress hormone is direct. The expression of BRM was consistent with a possible role in regulation of gene expression at this stage. BRM was expressed in both 1.5- and 2-d-old germinated embryos (Figure 2-5B). To test for binding of BRM to either the ABI5 or the ABI3 locus, I used a green fluorescent protein (GFP)-tagged biologically active version of BRM (ProBRM:BRM-GFP; (Wu et al., 2012)), which fully rescued the morphological defects of the *brm-1* null mutant and displayed wild-type levels of BRM expression (Figure 2-6A and 2-6B). Using the *brm-1* ProBRM:BRM-GFP as a substrate for chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP), I detected strong BRM binding to the AB15 promoter and to the promoter proximal exon 1 of ABI5, but not to exon 2 (Figures 2-6C and 2-6D). In addition, I detected BRM association with the promoter of ABI3 (Figures 2-6C and 2-6D). To confirm these results, I generated a Hemagglutinin (HA)-tagged version of BRM, which rescued the *brm-1* null mutant and displayed wild-type levels of BRM expression (Figure 2-7A). ChIP using *brm-1* ProBRM:BRM-HA yielded qualitatively similar results as brm-1 ProBRM:BRM-GFP (Figure 2-7B). The association of BRM

with the *ABI5* and *ABI3* loci, in combination with the observed derepression of *ABI5* and *ABI3* expression in *brm* mutants, supports the hypothesis that BRM directly acts on *ABI5* and *ABI3* expression. Two of the BRM-bound regions (p1 in *ABI5* and p1 in *ABI3*) contain ABREs (Figure 2-6D), *cis*-elements known to be involved in ABA-induced transcriptional responses (Gómez-Porras *et al.*, 2007; Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 1994).

I observed high BRM binding at the two loci both in the absence and in the presence of ABA treatment (Figure 2-6C). This finding was surprising, given that the main effect of loss of BRM activity is derepression of *ABI5* and *ABI3* expression in the absence of ABA treatment (Figure 2-5A). The data suggest that BRM is constitutively bound to the *ABI5* and the *ABI3* locus.

2.2.6 ABI5 acts downstream of BRM and is required for *brm* **ABA hypersensitivity** Prior molecular and genetic experiments have shown that ABI3 acts upstream of *ABI5* in the ABA-mediated growth arrest of germinated embryos (Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2002). To elucidate the placement of BRM in this genetic pathway, I generated a double mutant between *brm-3* and the *abi5-7* null mutant (Yamagishi *et al.*, 2009). The *brm-3* allele was employed so we could assay the response in homozygous germinated embryos. While *brm-3* was hypersensitive to ABA with respect to inhibition of cotyledon greening, *abi5-7* was not responsive to any of the ABA concentrations tested (Figures 2-8A and 2-8B), consistent with previous reports (Nambara *et al.*, 2002). Interestingly, the *brm-3 abi5-7* double mutant was also not responsive to any of the ABA concentrations tested; like *abi5-7*, it developed green cotyledons even at the highest dose of ABA tested (Figures 2-

8A and 2-8B). The data suggest that, with respect to cotyledon greening, ABI5 is epistatic to BRM. This finding, combined with the observed *ABI5* derepression in *brm* mutants and BRM binding to the *ABI5* locus, support the hypothesis that ABI5 acts downstream of BRM. I also tested the ABA response of *brm-3 abi5-7* double mutant with respect to inhibition of primary root growth. As previously reported (Finkelstein *et al.*, 2005; Miura *et al.*, 2009), the growth of *abi5-7* (nulls) roots is inhibited by ABA (Figures 2-8C and 2-8D), suggesting redundant activities of other ABA-dependent transcription factors in root growth arrest. Nevertheless, *brm-3 abi5-7* roots were significantly less sensitive to 1 or 5 μ M ABA than those of *brm-3* (Figures 2-8C and 2-8D). These data suggest that the increased ABA-dependent inhibition of root growth in the *brm-3* mutants is in part attributable to the elevated *ABI5* expression.

2.2.7 Vegetative growth defects of *brm* mutant are partly due to derepressed ABA responses.

In the absence of ABA, *brm* plants are small with short roots (Farrona *et al.*, 2004; Kwon *et al.*, 2006). Given our finding that BRM represses ABA responses in the absence of the stimulus during postgermination development, I wondered whether some of the *brm* mutant vegetative growth defects are attributable to derepressed ABA responses. I therefore monitored root length in double mutants of *brm* and mutants that display reduced ABA sensitivity. Since *ABI5* derepression is only partly responsible for root growth inhibition in *brm* mutants (Figure 2-8C and 2-8D), I employed a genetic background that displays reduced ABA sensitivity, 35S:HAB1 (Saez *et al.*, 2004). *HAB1* encodes for a PP2C phosphatase, a negative regulator of ABA signaling, that prevents

phosphorylation of SnRK2-type kinases (Vlad *et al.*, 2009) and, hence, activation of the ABA-responsive transcription factor ABI5 (Nakashima et al., 2009). 35S:HAB1 inhibits ABA responses in the absence of ABA treatment because low levels of endogenous ABA are able to partially activate ABA-responsive transcription factors in non-ABA-treated plants (Rodrigues et al., 2009). For these assays, I used the brm-101 null nonsense allele (Kwon et al., 2006) to avoid silencing of the 35S:HAB1 transgene by the T-DNA present in brm-1 or brm-3. As previously reported, the growth of 35S:HAB1 was indistinguishable from the wild type in the absence of applied ABA (Figure 2-9A; Saez et al., 2004). However, 35S:HAB1 was able to partly rescue the root growth defects of brm mutants under these conditions (Figures 2-9A and 2-9B). In addition, overall growth of *brm-101* 35S:HAB1 was more vigorous than that of *brm-101*. At day 7, the cotyledons of the double mutant were fully expanded, while those of *brm-101* mutants were closed and small (Figure 2-9B). I also measured plant fresh weight in the wild type, *abi5-7* null mutants, *brm-3* mutants, and *brm-3 abi5-7* double mutants (Figure 2-9C). Removal of ABI5 activity from *brm-3* mutants caused a partial but significant rescue of the *brm* mutant vegetative growth defect in the absence of ABA treatment (Figure 2-9C). In combination, the data suggest that the growth defects of *brm* mutants are in part due to the derepressed ABA response. The partial rescue of vegetative growth defects by removal of ABI5 activity suggested that ABI5 levels may also be elevated in brm mutants during vegetative development. I therefore analyzed expression of ABA-responsive genes in 3-week-old soil-grown *brm-1* null mutants and the wild type. *ABI3* expression is repressed after seedling establishment and remains repressed during vegetative development even upon ABA treatment (Nakashima et al., 2006; Perruc et al., 2007;

Tang *et al.*, 2008). Likewise, *AB13* mRNA was not detectable in the absence or presence of exogenous ABA in the *brm-1* mutant (Figure 2-10A). *AB15* expression, on the other hand, was derepressed (2.5-fold) in the absence of the stimulus and more strongly induced in response to ABA in the *brm-1* null mutant relative to the wild type (Figure 2-10B). In addition, I tested expression of the bZIP transcription factors, *ABF3* and *AREB1/ABF2*; both genes are strongly induced by ABA, salt, and drought during vegetative development (Fujita *et al.*, 2005). *ABF3* expression was elevated in *brm-1* mutants both in the absence and presence of exogenous ABA, while *AREB1/ABF2* expression was not strongly altered. Thus, BRM is also required for repression of ABA-responsive genes during vegetative development, including that of the bZIP transcription factors *ABI5* and *ABF3*. At least in the case of *ABI5*, the observed effect was direct: BRM associated with the *ABI5* promoter at this stage, based on ChIP (Figure 2-10C).

2.2.8 brm Mutants Display Enhanced Drought Tolerance

Mutants with increased sensitivity to ABA, such as *pp2c* mutants or plants overexpressing ABA-responsive transcription factors, display increased dehydration tolerance (Kasuga *et al.*, 1999; Rubio *et al.*, 2009). *brm* mutants were hypersensitive to ABA and showed derepression of ABA/drought-responsive gene expression; hence, I wondered whether *brm* mutants might display increased drought stress tolerance. To test this possibility, 3-weekold *brm* mutants and wild-type plants grown on soil were subjected to drought treatment. After 3 weeks of growth, water was withheld for 15 d (Figure 2-12 and Methods). After water withholding, wild-type and *brm-3* plants looked dehydrated and displayed severe tissue damage, while *brm-1* plants were healthy looking

and maintained greenish leaves. Upon rewatering, both *brm* mutants recovered quickly from the drought stress, while the wild type failed to recover (Figure 2-11). While the drought tolerance of *brm* was remarkable (similar to that described for *pp2c* triple mutants; Figure 2-11), I cannot rule out that it is at least in part attributable to the different morphology of the *brm* mutant leaves, which are curled and smaller than those of the wild type. I therefore challenged younger (2-week-old) seedlings grown on plates with water stress. At this developmental stage, the *brm-3* mutant is morphologically very similar to the wild type (Figure 2-11; (Farrona *et al.*, 2007)). Upon drought treatment, wild-type plants wilted faster than the *brm* mutants; in addition, they did not recover as well from the drought stress (Figure 2-11B). *brm-3* plants again exhibited a significantly higher survival rate than the wild type after drought stress and rewatering (Figures 2-11C and 2-11D). The data are consistent with the hypothesis that *brm* mutant drought tolerance may be due to altered ABA-response gene expression. To further test this hypothesis, I examined whether the drought tolerance of *brm-3* plants was due to elevated AB15 expression. Overexpression of AB15 was previously shown to lead to increased drought tolerance (Lopez-Molina et al., 2001). However, brm-3 abi5-7 plants were as drought tolerant as *brm-3* alone (Figures 2-11E and 2-11F). Thus, either ABI5 does not contribute to the drought tolerance of *brm* mutant or it does so redundantly with other ABA-responsive transcription factors, whose expression is also derepressed in brm mutants, such as ABF3 (Figure 2-10).

2.2.9 BRM contributes to placement and occupancy of the transcription start site proximal nucleosome at the *ABI5* locus

To gain insight into the mechanism by which the SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling ATPase BRM might represses ABI5 expression in the absence of stress hormone treatment, I next examined nucleosome positioning and occupancy at the ABI5 promoter using high-resolution MNase mapping (Chodavarapu et al., 2010; Rafati et al., 2011). I identified two well-positioned nucleosomes in the ABI5 promoter region (-2 and -1 nucleosome) upstream of a 150-bp nucleosome-depleted region (2150 to 0 bp) (Figure 2-13). Nucleosome-depleted regions just upstream of the transcription start site (TSS) are common in eukaryote promoters (Yen et al., 2012). A typical nucleosome protects; 147 bp of genomic DNA from MNase digestion (Yen et al., 2012), as was the case for the -2 and -1 nucleosomes at the ABI5 locus (Figure 2-13). However, the +1 ABI5 nucleosome just downstream of the TSS protected; 200 bp of DNA, suggesting that this nucleosome may be present in two alternative positions. A nucleosome position prediction program (NuPop; (Xi et al., 2010)) identified nucleosome start sites around position +45, while the MNase mapping revealed start of the +1 nucleosome close to the +1 position. The data suggest that a subset of the +1 nucleosomes are positioned more TSS proximal than predicted. In *brm* mutant plants, I observed derepression of *ABI5* expression in the absence of ABA treatment (Figure 2-5). Consistent with this observation, I reproducibly found a moderate ($\sim 40\%$) reduction in nucleosome occupancy at the + 1 position of the ABI5 locus coupled with a shift away from the TSS in the absence of ABA treatment in brm mutant relative to wild-type germinated embryos (Figure 2-13). No BRM-dependent alteration in nucleosome positioning or occupancy was observed at the -2 or -1 nucleosome of the ABI5 locus (Figure 2-13). Likewise, no strong change in either occupancy or positioning of nucleosomes was observed at a control locus, a gypsy-like

retrotransposon gene (Figure 2-14). Thus, BRM may be required to promote high occupancy and TSS proximity of the +1 nucleosome at the *ABI5* locus.

2.2.10 ABA triggered chromatin changes at ABI5 regulatory region

In addition, I detected reduced occupancy of all three nucleosomes (-1, -2, +1) in response to ABA treatment (Figure 2-13). The observed ABA-dependent change in nucleosome occupancy was similar in germinated *brm-3* and wild-type embryos, suggesting that this effect was likely BRM independent (Figure 2-13). The reduced nucleosome occupancy in response to ABA was specific to the *ABI5* locus; it was not observed at the control locus (Figure 2-14).

2.2.11 Chromatin changes at ABI5 regulatory regions during postgermination

Finally, I noted development dependent changes in the -1 nucleosome occupancy at the *ABI5* promoter just prior to seedling establishment. The occupancy of the -1 nucleosome was very low at day 1.5 in both mock-treated wild-type and *brm-3* plants but increased at day 2 (Figure 2-15). I did not detect a strong increase in the occupancy of the -2 and +1 nucleosome between days 1.5 and 2.

2.2.12 Well-positioned nucleosome found at ABA-responsive genes

(This analysis was performed in collaboration with the lab of Dr. Brian Gregory.

Dr. Qi Zheng reanalyzed the published dataset.)

Visual inspection of a published nucleosome map for vegetative tissues of *Arabidopsis* (Chodavarapu *et al.*, 2010) revealed a well-positioned nucleosome at the *ABI5* locus, which is located over two consensus (PyACGTGG/TC) ABA response *cis* elements (ABREs) (Fujita *et al.*, 2011). To determine whether well-positioned nucleosomes are common in the regulatory regions of ABA-responsive genes, we reanalyzed the published dataset (Chodavarapu *et al.*, 2010). Overall promoters of *Arabidopsis* genes were significantly depleted of nucleosomes relative to the genic regions (Figure 2-16A). A small number of genes (126 out of 27,379) had a well-positioned nucleosome with high occupancy (four-fold genome average) in the proximal promoter region (-250 bp to 0 bp), including *ABI5*. Gene Ontology term (GO) analysis using AgriGo (Du *et al.*, 2010) revealed that the 126 genes were enriched for GO terms linked to ABA responses and to seed development (p value <1x 10^{-3} , FDR<0.05; Figure 2-16B). These findings support the hypothesis that well-positioned promoter nucleosomes may play a role in the transcriptional response to the stress hormone ABA.



Figure 2-1. ABA responses of SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling mutants

(A) The percentage of germinated embryos that developed green cotyledons in the presence of 0.5 μ M ABA in the wild type (WT) and single mutants of the four *Arabidopsis* SWI/SNF subgroup ATPases. The strongest available fertile allele was used for each mutant.

(B) Root growth inhibition of the WT, and null mutants of the four SWI/SNF ATPases in the presence of 10 μ M ABA relative to that observed on MS media.



Figure 2-2. brm mutants are hypersensitive to ABA.

(A) The percentage of germinated embryos that developed green cotyledons in the presence of 0.5 or 0.8 μ M ABA in the wild type (WT) and in the hypomorph *brm-3* mutant. Values are mean ± SEM from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate statistical significance compared with wildtype values based on $\chi 2$ test (n = 250, P < 1E-10). (B) Representative pictures for the data shown in (A). Photographs were taken 11 (MS) and 18 (ABA) d after stratification. (C) Root growth inhibition of *brm-1* null and *brm-3* hypomorph mutants. Values are mean ± SEM from two independent experiments. Asterisks indicate statistical significance compared with wild-type values based on one-tailed Student's t test (n = 10, P < 0.001). (D) Representative pictures for data shown in (C). Photographs were taken 10 d after stratification.



Figure 2-3. swi3c-2 and bsh-1 mutants are hypersensitive to ABA.

(A) The percentage of germinated embryos that developed green cotyledons in the presence of 0.5 μ M ABA in the wild type (WT) and in the *swi3c-2* mutant. Asterisks indicate statistical significance based on χ^2 test (n = 100, P < 1E-10).

(B) Representative pictures for data shown in (A) 7 d after stratification.

(C) Root growth inhibition of the wild type and in the swi3c-2 mutant in the presence of

 $10\,\mu\text{M}$ ABA relative to that observed on MS media. Asterisks indicate statistical

significance based on Student's t test (n =20, P < 0.001).

(D) Representative pictures for data shown in (C) 10 d after stratification.

(E) The percentage of germinated wild-type and *bsh-1* embryos that developed green cotyledons in the presence of 0.5 μ M ABA. Values are mean \pm SEM from two independent experiments. Asterisks indicate statistical significance based on χ^2 test (n = 200, P < 1E-10).

(F) Representative pictures for the data shown in (E) 5 d after stratification.



Figure 2-4. Germination assay of brm mutants

(A, B) Effect of ABA on radicle emergence in the wild type (WT), in *brm-3* and in *brml*/+ progeny 3 days after stratification in the absence and presence of 1, 3, 5 μ M ABA. Samples sizes were *brm-3* (n=180) and *brm-1*/+ (n>500) for each ABA concentration. Values are mean \pm SEM of 3 independent experiments (Asterisks: **P<0.001, ***P<1E-10, inverted triangles: no statistical significance based on chi-square analysis P>0.01).



Figure 2-5. BRM represses expression of *ABI5* and *ABI3* during postgermination development.

(A) Quantitative RT-PCR in 1.5- and 2-d-old wild-type (WT) and *brm-3* mutants 1 h after mock or ABA (50 μ M) treatment.

(B) Quantitative RT-PCR in 1.5- and 2-d-old wild-type plants 1 h after mock or ABA treatment. Quantitative RT-PCR expression was normalized over that of *EIF4A1*, and expression levels in the mock-treated wild type were set to 1. Values are mean \pm SEM of three technical replicates from one representative experiment.









Figure 2-6. BRM directly repress *ABI5* and *ABI3* expression during postgermination development.

(A) Left: 3-week-old wild-type, *brm-1*, and *brm-1* ProBRM:BRM-GFP plants. Right: GFP expression monitored by confocal microscopy in 2-d-old *brm-1* ProBRM:BRM-GFP roots.

(B) *BRM* expression (top panel), *GFP* expression (center panel), and *EIF4A1* expression (bottom panel) tested by semiquantitative PCR. Bars = 1cm.

(C) qPCR after anti-GFP ChIP in 1.5-d-old *brm-1* ProBRM:BRM-GFP plants after mock or ABA (50 μ M) treatment for 1 h. Relative enrichment is the percentage of input fold change after the percentage of input of the wild type was set to 1. Negative controls: exon regions of the retrotransposon *TA3* (NC1) and of *BRM* (NC2). Values are mean ± SEM of three technical replicates from one representative experiment.

(D) Diagram of the loci tested. Horizontal lines below the schematic, regions amplified by qPCR; green arrowheads, ABREs; gray box, 5' or 3' untranslated region; black box, exon; gray line, intergenic region or intron.



Figure 2-7. Anti HA ChIP in 1.5-day-old *brm-1* ProBRM:BRM-HA plants.

(A) Left: 3-week-old wild type, *brm-1* (inset) and *brm-1* ProBRM:BRM-HA. Right: *BRM* expression (top panel) and *EIF4A1* expression (bottom panel) tested by semiquantitative PCR. Bars = 1cm.

(B) qPCR after Anti-HA ChIP in 1.5-day-old *brm-1* ProBRM:BRM-HA germinated embryos after mock or ABA (50 μ M) treatment for 1 hr. Non-transformed wild type (Col) was used as ChIP control.









Figure 2-8. The hypersensitive brm phenotype is due to derepression of ABI5.

(A) Percentage of the germinated embryos that developed green cotyledons in the presence of 0.5, 1.0, and 1.5 μ M ABA in the *brm-3 abi5-7* double mutants compared with *abi5-7*, *brm-3*, and the wild type (WT) 7 d after stratification. Values are mean ± SEM from three independent experiments. Inverted triangles: no statistical significance compared with wild-type values (n > 100, P > 0.01).

(B) Representative pictures for the data shown in (A).

(C) Root length in the absence or presence of ABA (1 and 5 μ M) in *brm-3*, *abi5-7*, and *brm-3 abi5-7* double mutant plants compared with the wild type.

Two-day-old plants were transferred to MS media containing ABA, and roots were measured at day 7. Asterisks: statistical significance based on one tailed Student's t test (n > 36, *P < 0.01, ***P < 1E-10).

(D) Representative pictures for the data shown in (C).



Figure 2-9. The growth defects of the *brm* mutant are partially due to *ABI5* derepression and enhanced ABA response.

(A) Root growth of the *brm* mutant in an ABA-insensitive mutant background (35S:HAB1). The root length of the wild type (WT), 35S:HAB1, *brm-101*, and *brm-101* 35S:HAB1 double mutant was measured 7 d after stratification. Values are mean \pm SEM. Sample size was as follows: the wild type (n = 28), 35S:HAB1 (n = 27), *brm-101* (n = 49), and *brm-101* 35S:HAB1 (n = 75). Asterisks indicate statistical significance based on one-tailed Student's t test (P <1E-10).

(B) Representative pictures of data shown in (A).

(C) Fresh weight of 4-week-old wild type, *abi5-7*, *brm-3*, and *brm-3 abi5-7* double mutants grown in soil with sufficient water. n > 22 from three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate statistical significance (*P < 0.01 and **P < 0.001).

ABI3 expression	Mock	ABA
WT(d15)	ND*	ND
<i>brm-1</i> (d15)	ND	ND
WT(d21)	ND	ND
<i>brm-1</i> (d21)	ND	ND

Α

^{*}ND: not detectable (expression level was not detected or low (10e-6 to 10e-8)).



Figure 2-10. BRM directly represses *ABI5* expression during vegetative development.

(A) *ABI3* expression was not detectable by qRT-PCR in 15-day-old or 21-day-old wild type (WT) or *brm-1* mutants in the absence and presence of ABA.

(B) qRT-PCR expression analysis of three ABF/AREB transcription factors in 21-dayold *brm-1* and WT plants grown in soil. Plants were mock or ABA (100 μ M) treated for 1 hour. Expression was normalized over that of *EIF4A1* and expression of untreated WT was set to 1.

(C) qPCR after Anti-HA ChIP in 21-day-old *brm-1* ProBRM:BRM-HA plants grown in soil after mock or ABA (100 μ M) treatment for 1 hr. The percent input of the immunoprecipitated DNA was normalized over that of the retrotransposon *TA3* (NC1). ChIP was also performed in WT plants to monitor IP background. Values indicate mean \pm SEM of three technical replicates from one representative experiment. For a diagram of the *ABI5* locus see Figure 2-6D.


Figure 2-11. brm mutants have increased dehydration tolerance.

(A) Wild-type (WT), weak *brm-3*, and null *brm-1* mutant plants grown in soil for 3 weeks followed by continued watering (left) or after drought treatment and rewatering (right).

(B) The effect of dehydration on 2-week-old plate-grown plants. The wild type and *brm-3* mutant during and after drought treatment. The pictures farthest to the right were taken 2 d after rehydration.

(C) Survival rate (%) of 2-week-old wild-type and *brm-3* seedlings after dehydration for 3 h under air flow. Values are mean \pm SEM from four experiments (n = 42). Asterisks indicate statistical significance compared with wild-type values (P < 1E-10).

(D) Representative pictures for data shown in (C).

(E) Survival rate (%) of 2-week-old wild type, *brm-3*, *abi5-7*, and *brm-3 abi5-7* double mutants after dehydration for 6 h. Values are mean \pm SEM from two independent experiments (n > 53). Asterisks indicate statistical significance (***P < 1E-10). Inverted triangle indicates no statistical significance (P > 0.01).

(F) Representative pictures for data shown in (E).



Figure 2-12. Measurement of soil water loss during drought treatment and drought resistance of positive control plants (*pp2c* triple mutants)

(A) Cumulative soil water loss during drought treatment of the plants shown in Figure 2-11. *pp2cs*, triple mutants, *hab1-1 abi1-2 abi2-2*, were included as a positive control for the drought treatment. Water was added three times to adjust water content in soil between the genotypes (red arrowheads). Values indicate mean \pm SEM from two experiments. (B) Drought stress tolerance of *pp2cs* triple mutants. *pp2cs* triple mutants grown in soil without (left) or with (right) drought treatment. For drought treatment the picture was taken 5 days after rewatering.



Figure 2-13. BRM is required to maintain high occupancy of the +1 nucleosome at the *ABI5* locus.

MNase digestion followed by tiled primer qPCR to monitor nucleosome positioning and occupancy at the *ABI5* locus. MNase qPCR was performed after a 1-h mock or ABA treatment in 2-d-old wild-type (WT) and *brm-3* mutants. The fraction of undigested genomic DNA amplified for each amplicon was normalized to that of the 273 position of the negative control locus (gypsy-like retrotransposon; see Figure 2-14). Values are mean \pm SEM of three technical replicates from one representative experiment. The number on the x-axis denotes distance (bp) from the TSS (0 bp). Below: Diagram of the positioned nucleosomes. Gray ovals, nucleosomes; black arrow, TSS; gray lines, genomic DNA; green arrowheads, ABREs.





Nucleosome occupancy at a control locus (*gypsy-like retrotransposon, At4g07700*) using the same MNAse digested DNA as in Figure 2-13 and Figure 2.15



Figure 2-15. Developmental change in nucleosome occupancy at the *ABI5* **locus** Relative nucleosome occupancy monitored in 1.5 day-old (blue) and 2 day-old (red) untreated wild-type (WT) and *brm-3* plants. The number on the x-axis denotes the distance (bp) from the transcription start site (TSS; 0 bp). Below: diagram of the nucleosome positions. Grey ovals: nucleosomes. Black arrow: transcription start site (TSS), Grey lines: genomic DNA.



В

GO-term	p-value		
response to abscisic acid stimulus	3.8 x 10E-4		
multicellular organismal development	3.8 x 10E-4		
multicellular organismal process	5.7 x 10E-4		
seed development	5.8 x 10E-4		
response to hormone stimulus	7.6 x 10E-4		
fruit development	8.0 x 10E-4		
post-embryonic development	8.9 x 10E-4		

Figure 2-16. Promoters are depleted of nucleosomes when compared to genic regions.

(A) The number of well-positioned nucleosomes was determined for all protein-coding genes and their position relative to the transcription start site (TSS; red vertical line) was plotted. The promoter region (-700 to 0bp) had reduced nucleosome occupancy relative to the genic region (0bp to +300 bp). Moreover, the density of well-positioned nucleosomes was significantly lower (p->0 for both comparison, χ^2 -test) for promoter regions (-700 to 0 bp or -250 to 0 bp) compared to genic regions (0 to 300 bp). (B) Gene Ontology term enrichment using AgriGo (Du *et al.*, 2010) for genes with a well-positioned nucleosome near the transcription start site (TSS) based on our analysis of a published dataset (Chodavarapu *et al.*, 2010). See text for details.

CHAPTER 3. Regulation of SWI/SNF complex activity by ABA sensing

3.1 Background

In my previous study, I showed that BRM binds to the *AB15* promoter as strongly after ABA sensing as it does in the absence of ABA. However BRM only plays a role in *AB15* transcription in the absence of ABA. It was therefore surprising that BRM occupancy at the *AB15* locus were not reduced in response to ABA. These data suggest that BRM complex activity may be altered upon ABA sensing to allow up-regulation of *AB15* by either altering the composition of the BRM complex or by post-translational modification of BRM in the presence of ABA. Saez *et al.*, 2008 showed that one of the subunits of the SWI/SNF complex, SWI3B interact with the HAB1 phosphatase of the core ABA signal transduction pathway. Therefore I investigated a possible link between BRM and the ABA signal transduction pathway to test whether complex activity is regulated upon ABA sensing. I hypothesized that SnRK2 kinase can phosphorylate BRM upon ABA sensing and relieve BRM mediated repression of ABA responsive gene expression (Figure 3-1).

3.2 Results

3.2.1 BRM partially acts on ABA signal transduction pathway.

Overexpression of a negative regulator of ABA responses, the PP2C phosphatase HAB1 leads to ABA insensitivity (Saez *et al.*, 2004). When exogenous ABA is applied, the ABA insensitivity of 35S:HAB1 was partially suppressed in the *brm* mutant background suggesting that ABA signaling acts in part via BRM. This raised the possibility that ABA signal transduction components may play a role in inactivation of BRM upon ABA sensing. To test this hypothesis I next examined the physical interaction between BRM and SnRK2 kinases as well as PP2C phosphatases.

3.2.2 BRM physically interacts with the components of ABA signal transduction pathway *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Upon ABA sensing, ABA receptor PYR-PYL/RCAR family forms complex with type2 serine/threonine protein phosphatases (PP2Cs), which frees SnRK2 kinase activity to phosphorylate downstream targets (Figure 1-1). In addition to the well-known targets of phosphorylation by SnRK2 kinases, such as transcriptions factors that bind ABRE (ABA response elements) and ion channels involved in stomata closure, other SnRK2 substrates may be present in nucleus (Umezawa *et al.*, 2010). To test for physical interaction between BRM and the components of ABA signal transduction pathway, I performed yeast two-hybrid assay (Figure 3-3A), Bimolecular Fluorescence Complementation (BiFC) (Figure 3-3B) and co-immunoprecipitation assays using *Arabidopsis* protoplasts (Figure 3-3C). In all assays tested, BRM interacted with both SnRK2 kinases (OST1) and PP2C phosphatases (HAB1). These data suggest that BRM may be a possible target of phosphorylation and de-phosphorylation mediated by SnRK2 kinases and PP2C phosphatases, respectively.

3.2.3 The physical interaction between BRM and HAB1 may be ABA signal dependent.

I found that the strong physical interaction between the possible BRM complex component, SWI3B, and HAB1 is abrogated in the presence of the ABA receptor and ABA (Figure 3-4), suggesting that the physical interaction between PP2Cs and SWI3B is regulated by ABA sensing. I hypothesized that BRM phosphorylation is also ABA signaling dependent. I will test if the interaction between BRM and HAB1 is also abrogated by ABA signal using the yeast three-hybrid system as well as *Arabidopsis* protoplasts (Figure 4-4).

3.2.4 BRM C-terminal region is phosphorylated in an ABA dependent manner.

The lab of our collaborator, Dr. Pedro Rodriguez (CSIC-UPV, Spain), found that the Cterminal domain of BRM is phosphorylated by a SnRK2 kinase in an ABA dependent manner (data not shown). They further identified serine 1760 as putative phosphorylation site (data not shown). In accordance with their data, published proteomic data (Wang *et al.*, 2013) revealed that phosphorylation on serine 1760 and 1762 on BRM C-terminal fragment is induced by ABA treatment, in a manner dependent on three SnRK2 kinases, SnRK2.2, SnRK2.3 and SnRK2.6 (OST1) (Figure 3-5). These serine residues are well conserved in BRM orthologs in different plant species including monocots and eudicots (Figure 3-5). Interestingly, when I express small BRM C-terminal fragments in protoplasts, I observed high mobility shift in the PAGE compared to the wild type when BRM C-terminal fragments containing serine (S1760 and S1762) is subjected to altered ABA levels. Although this needs to be further confirmed, the data suggest that these residues may be phosphorylated upon ABA sensing.



Figure 3-1. A hypothetical model for the regulation of BRM activity by the core ABA signaling pathway

Upon ABA sensing allows SnRK2 kinases to inactivate the BRM complex by phosphorylation, which relieves transcriptional repression of target genes by the BRM complex.



Figure 3-2. Genetic interaction between BRM and HAB1 PP2C phosphatase Root growth of the *brm* mutant in an ABA-insensitive mutant background (35S:HAB1) in the presence and absence of ABA. The root length of the wild type (WT), 35S:HAB1, *brm-101*, and *brm-101* 35S:HAB1 double mutant was measured 10 d after stratification. 5 day-old seedlings were transferred to MS media with or without ABA and were grown 5 more days. Values are mean \pm SEM from at least 15 plants. Asterisks indicate statistical significance between 35S:HAB1 and *brm-101* 35S:HAB1 double mutant based on onetailed Student's t test (n > 15, * P < 6.4E-07, ** P < 1.2E-E10).

-WL -WLH +3AT BRMN PP2C/HAB1 BRMN none -WL -WLAH BRMN SnRK2.6/OST1 BRMN none

В

Α

	BRMN HAB1	BRMN OST1	BRMN MPDB	BRMC HAB1	BRMC OST1	BRMC MPDB
YFP	•	(\bigcirc	•	٠	
Chloroplast		\bigcirc		0	\bigcirc	
Merge			\bigcirc	\odot	۲	C)





Figure 3-3. *in vitro* and *in vivo* interactions between BRM and the core components of ABA signal transduction pathway, SnRK2 kinases and PP2C phosphatases.

BRM interacts with OST1 (SnRK2) and HAB1 (PP2C) in Y2H assays (A) or on the basis of bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC) in protoplasts (B). (B) BRM N-terminus and C-terminus were used. MPDB was used as negative control for BRM interaction. Left: a representative fluorescent protoplast. Right: Percentage of YFP protoplasts. Transfection was done at the same time with equal amount of DNA. Values are mean ± SEM from 3 biological replicates. (C) Protoplast co-immunoprecipitation test using of FLAG-BRMN and HA-OST1. BRMN protein was precipitated by anti-FLAG and HA-OST1 was detected by immune blotting.



Figure 3-4. HAB1 binding to SWI3B is disrupted after ABA sensing.

Yeast-three hybrid assay reveals co-expression of ABA receptors PYLs abrogates the interaction of HAB1 with SWI3B in the presence of ABA. Δ N HAB1 was used to remove autoactivation of HAB1 in binding domain. Δ N HAB1 (BD) and ABA receptors, PYL4 and PYL5 (MCSII, Multiple Cloning Site II) were cloned into same vector, pBridge. 10 μ M ABA was supplemented in the media.



Figure 3-5. BRM C-terminal regions from different plant species contain putative BRM phosphorylation sites.

(A) Diagram of BRM coding region (2193 amino acids). Domains are marked in yellow, QLQ; purple, HSA; red, ATPase; green, AT-hook; orange, bromodomain. Diagram was modified from (Efroni *et al.*, 2013). Putative phosphorylation sites are marked in red (S1760, S1762) and yellow (S1865).

(B) The serine residues (S1760, S1762) are phosphorylated in an ABA and SnRK2s dependent manner (Wang *et al.*, 2013). Consensus motif of SnRK2s target is shown in green and putative phosphorylation residue serine (S1865) is marked in yellow (Sirichandra *et al.*, 2010).

CHAPTER 4. Discussion and Future direction

4.1 Discussion

4.1.1 A role for BRM in repressing water stress responses during post-germination development in the absence of the stimulus

Newly germinated plant embryos are particularly vulnerable to drought stress, which triggers a growth arrest similar to that operating during seed development to induce desiccation tolerance (Lopez-Molina et al., 2001). Here, I implicate the SWI/SNF ATPase BRM in ensuring that the growth arrest pathway is triggered in germinated embryos only upon drought sensing/ increased endogenous ABA levels. brm mutants were hypersensitive to ABA, especially with respect to cotyledon greening and selectively derepressed expression of a subset of ABA response genes in the absence of the stimulus, among them ABI3 and ABI5. Moreover, BRM bound to the regulatory regions of both genes. ABI3 acts upstream of ABI5 during postgermination development (Lopez-Molina et al., 2002). In agreement with these combined observations, ABI5 was epistatic to BRM with respect to inhibition of cotyledon greening, indicating that derepression of ABI5 expression is the likely cause of the brm mutant's ABA hypersensitivity during this stage of development. Thus, BRM, ABI3, and ABI5 interact in a simple genetic pathway, which corresponds to a type 2 coherent feed-forward loop (Alon, 2007; Mangan and Alon, 2003), to regulate cotyledon greening (Figure 4-1). The type 2 coherent feed-forward loop displays an "off" delay (Alon, 2007; Mangan and Alon, 2003); upon ABA sensing, the upregulation of ABI3 and ABI5 would be delayed. This would ensure that growth arrest occurs only after a prolonged water stress or ABA

signal has been perceived. By contrast, the "on" switch in this type of feed-forward loop is rapid (Alon, 2007; Mangan and Alon, 2003). Thus, when ABA/ water stress levels fall below a certain threshold, BRM would rapidly repress *ABI3* and *ABI5* expression. The BRM/ABI3/ABI5 module is well suited to manage resource allocation to growth versus the stress responses. Not surprisingly, since *abi5* mutants show ABA-responsive root growth (Finkelstein *et al.*, 2005; Miura *et al.*, 2009), the ABA triggered inhibition of root elongation in *brm* mutants was only partially due to *ABI5* derepression. Thus, it is likely that BRM represses the expression of other transcription factors that act in parallel with ABI5 in root growth inhibition (Figure 4-1). Several additional transcription factors have been shown to have a role in the inhibition of root elongation in response to ABA, including WRKY transcription factors (Chen *et al.*, 2010a), Auxin Responsive Factor 2 (Wang *et al.*, 2011a), MYB transcription factors (Zheng *et al.*, 2012), and other bZIP transcription factors, such as ABF3 (Yoshida *et al.*, 2010), with the latter two reported to act as least in part in parallel with ABI5.

4.1.2 Regulation of *ABI5* expression by BRM-dependent and BRM-independent alteration of nucleosome positioning and occupancy

brm mutants cause derepression of *ABI5* in the absence of the ABA as well as an ;40% reduction of the +1 nucleosome occupancy, with a preferential loss from the TSS proximal position. The +1 nucleosome is a frequent target of chromatin remodeling (Yen *et al.*, 2012). +1 nucleosomes positioned closer to the TSS are repressive and can interfere with the assembly or activity of the transcription initiation complex (Yen *et al.*, 2012). In addition, transcriptional activation of gene expression is associated with

positioning of the +1 nucleosome away from the TSS. Thus, I hypothesize that BRM represses *ABI5* transcription in the absence of water stress/ABA by promoting high occupancy of the +1 nucleosome and by directing this nucleosome from a more favorable predicted position to a position more proximal to the TSS. There is precedent for this model. Recently, derepression of HIV expression was observed upon loss of the human BAF SWI/SNF subfamily complex activity, which resulted in a reduction in the occupancy of the +1 nucleosome (Rafati *et al.*, 2011). Consistent with the idea that BRM causes increased occupancy and more TSS proximal positioning of the +1 nucleosome at the *ABI5* locus, BRM very strongly associated with the region of *ABI5* locus occupied by the +1 nucleosome.

I also observed stress hormone- and development dependent alterations of the nucleosome occupancy at this locus that may explain observed gene expression changes. *AB15* expression is induced upon drought or ABA sensing (Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2001). Perception of the ABA stress hormone led to a destabilization (reduced occupancy) of all three nucleosomes at this locus. The most pronounced reduction in nucleosome occupancy was observed at the -1 position. This nucleosome is positioned over 2 *cis*-regulatory elements linked to ABA-responsive gene expression (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2005) and may hence modulate transcription factor access to their binding sites. The nucleosome destabilization by ABA was not BRM dependent; it was observed both in the *brm-3* mutants and in the wild type. Consistent with this, the fold increase in *AB15* mRNA levels upon ABA treatment was similar in the wild type and in the *brm* mutant. It is possible that another chromatin regulator causes reduced nucleosome occupancy at the *AB15* locus upon stress sensing; alternatively, the nucleosome

destabilization could be caused by increased transcriptional activity (Radman-Livaja and Rando, 2010).

Seed maturation is characterized by chromatin condensation, which is reversed during imbibition and germination (van Zanten et al., 2011). Consistent with an open chromatin configuration in young germinated embryos, the -1 ABI5 nucleosome was essentially absent at this stage. At the end of the postgermination phase, ABI5 expression is developmentally repressed (Brocard et al., 2002; Lopez-Molina et al., 2001). In agreement with this, the occupancy of the -1 nucleosome strongly increased at this stage. It is likely that the observed chromatin changes underlie the developmental repression of ABI5 expression at the end of postgermination development. Indeed, the ABI5 locus continues to display high occupancy of the -1 nucleosome during later stages of vegetative development (Chodavarapu et al., 2010). The developmentally induced chromatin condensation at the ABI5 locus was observed in both the wild type and in brm mutants. In agreement with this finding, brm mutants displayed normal developmental downregulation of ABI5 expression (Figure 4-2). The chromatin condensation at the ABI5 locus during seedling establishment may hence be triggered by other chromatin regulators. Mutations in several different chromatin regulators, histone deacetylases, Polycomb-repressive complexes, a putative histone methyltransferase, retinoblastoma proteins, and the CHD domain chromatin remodeling ATPase PICKLE (PKL), delay the switch from the embryo to the seedling stage (Aichinger et al., 2009; Bouyer et al., 2011; Gutzat et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2012b; Ogas et al., 1999; Tanaka et al., 2008; Tang et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2012). Activity of these chromatin regulators likely contributes to the developmental downregulation of ABI5 and ABI3 (Figure 4-1B). Although BRM is not

required for developmental repression of *ABI5*, it does play a role in repression of a subset of seed storage proteins (Tang *et al.*, 2008).

4.1.3 Drought Tolerance and Fitness Tradeoffs

I conclude that during postgermination development BRM ensures that costly stress responses are mounted only upon perception of water stress signals to enhance fitness of the organism. The role for BRM in restricting stress response gene expression would on one hand predict that *brm* mutants should display defects in growth that are due to constitutive activity of the water stress response pathway; on the other hand, brm mutants would be expected to display increased drought tolerance (Boyer, 1982; Grill and Ziegler, 1998). Both expectations were confirmed in our study, supporting the conclusion that BRM prevents stress responses in the absence of the stimulus. BRM is thus positioned at the nexus of the resource allocation decision between growth and drought tolerance. In the coming years, we will likely encounter a global deficit in food supply due to increased drought (Battisti, 2009; Cominelli and Tonelli, 2010). To address this challenge, it is important to develop new crops that have improved water use efficiency. Efforts to engineer drought-resistant plants showed that a single gene change is often not sufficient to produce robust drought tolerance, especially in field conditions where water stress interacts with other stressors, such as heat and high light intensity (Mittler and Blumwald, 2010; Yang et al., 2010). It was proposed that manipulating expression of a master transcriptional factor that targets multiple stress response genes would be a more promising approach (Cominelli and Tonelli, 2010). An even more global change in the plant's drought tolerance could be achieved via altered chromatin remodeling, as this

mechanism can modulate gene expression in many different pathways or of several master regulators simultaneously (Kwon and Wagner, 2007). Our studies show increased drought resistance of *brm* mutants at multiple developmental stages. While the molecular mechanism for this enhanced drought tolerance remains to be elucidated, a key challenge for the future is to generate conditional *brm* loss-of-function alleles that robustly enhance water stress survival without detrimental effects on growth or yield.

4.1.4 Possible mechanisms of regulation of BRM Activity

In response to ABA treatment, I observed a similar up-regulation of ABI5 mRNA abundance relative to mock-treated plants and a similar ABI5 promoter nucleosome destabilization in both wild-type and *brm* mutant germinated embryos. Thus, ABA induction of ABI5 expression is apparently BRM independent. Since BRM was still bound to the ABI5 locus upon ABA sensing, I hypothesize that BRM may be inactivated in the presence of ABA. A possible mechanism for BRM inactivation is alteration of BRM complex composition. Alternatively, BRM complex activity may be repressed via posttranslational modification(s). Both altered complex composition and posttranslational modifications can inactivate metazoan SWI/SNF subgroup complexes (Clapier and Cairns, 2009). Continued BRM presence at the ABI5 locus may ensure that costly stress responses are mounted only upon perception of water stress signals to enhance fitness of the organism the growth arrest response is rapidly turned off once the desiccation stress/ABA signal has subsided. Given this model, why do *brm* mutants accumulate higher absolute levels of *ABI5* transcript upon ABA treatment than the wild type? The higher absolute ABI5 accumulation in brm mutants upon ABA treatment is likely due to

the accumulation of transcripts for ABA-dependent transcription factors in *brm* mutant. ABA treatment both activates and stabilizes these transcription factors (Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2003; Miura *et al.*, 2009; Nakashima *et al.*, 2009); this is expected to lead to a high absolute level of *ABI5* accumulation.

4.1.5 BRM activity is regulated by the core ABA signaling pathway

In our investigation on how BRM activity may be regulated upon ABA sensing, we found that BRM physically interacts with multiple core ABA signaling components, the SnRK2 kinase OST1 and the PP2C phosphatase HAB1, *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In addition BRM is phosphorylated by OST1 in an ABA dependent manner. A putative component of BRM complex SWI3B also interacts with OST1 and HAB1, this interaction is abrogated by ABA sensing *in vitro*. Therefore, activity of the BRM complex is likely regulated by ABA induced phosphorylation. However by which mechanism ABA induced signaling affects BRM nucleosome remodeling activity and which amino acids in BRM are the critical targets is currently unknown.

Phosphorylation is a well-described mechanism of signaling to chromatinmodifying factors (Badeaux and Shi, 2013). Activated kinase cascades can actively transmit signals to chromatin factors to interfere the chromatin landscape in a cuedependent manner (Badeaux and Shi, 2013). Phorphorylation-mediated regulation of the chromatin remodeler complex components of the human SWI3 and BRG1 by ERK1 is important for chromatin compaction during mitosis. Phosphorylation inactivates the hSWI/SNF complex and subsequent dephosphorylation by hPP2A restores nucleosome-

84

remodeling activity (Sif *et al.*, 1998). It is not known whether which sites on hBRG1 and hSWI3 are phosphorylated and whether this mechanism is conserved in plants. It is also possible that BRM phosphorylation changes protein-protein interaction between the complex components, which may affect chromatin complex activity. BAF60c, a SWI/SNF complex component, is associated with the tissue specific transcription factor Myo-D throughout muscle cell differentiation (Forcales *et al.*, 2012). However, BAF60c can recruit BRG1 to the Myo-D target genes only upon phosphorylation by differentiation signal activated p38 kinase (Forcales *et al.*, 2012) suggesting that the formation of SWI/SNF complex is regulated by a posttranslational modification.

4.1.6 Biochemical activity of chromatin remodelers and possible activity of BRM at the +1 nucleosome of *ABI5* Locus

ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complexes can be broadly divided into four major subfamilies on the basis of their sequence, composition and activities: SWI/SNF, ISWI, CHD and the INO80 (Flaus *et al.*, 2006). All four chromatin remodelers share a SWI2/SNF2-family ATPase domain and utilize the energy derived from ATP hydrolysis to move, destabilize, eject, or restructure nucleosomes (Clapier and Cairns, 2009; Hargreaves and Crabtree, 2011). Although the catalytic subunit is similar, the remodelers have specialized function. Each ATPase bears unique domains and forms a complex with unique subunits in different biological contexts (Clapier and Cairns, 2009; Hargreaves and Crabtree, 2011).

Data from in vitro biochemical and yeast experiments shows that SWI/SNF subfamily proteins have many activities including the ability to slide and eject nucleosome, but they lack assembly function (Clapier and Cairns, 2009; Saha et al., 2006). Therefore SWI/SNF chromatin remodelers are more disruptive and generally associated with transcriptional activation by disordering nucleosomes (Clapier and Cairns, 2009; Saha et al., 2006). By contrast, ISWI complexes have central roles in chromatin assembly, through the organization and regular spacing of nucleosomes following DNA replication. ISWI hence primarily promotes transcriptional repression (Clapier and Cairns, 2009; Narlikar et al., 2013; Saha et al., 2006). However many mammalian studies indicate that SWI/SNF complexes can contribute to both repression and activation of gene expression in diverse developmental processes (Hargreaves and Crabtree, 2011). It is also known that certain ISWI containing complexes can assist transcriptional machinery leading to transcriptional activation (Morillon *et al.*, 2003). The CHD chromatin remodelers have characteristic two tandem repeats of chromodomains on the N-terminal region of the ATPase domain (Clapier and Cairns, 2009). Certain CHD complex also can slide or eject nucleosomes to promote transcription (Clapier and Cairns, 2009; Denslow and Wade, 2007), but others act as repressors by cooperating with histone deacetylase (HDAC) and methyl CpG-binding domain (MBD) proteins (Denslow and Wade, 2007). The CHD1 ATPase that belongs to this class also has a similar role to ISWI and has functional redundancy with ISWI for nucleosome spacing in the coding regions of transcribed genes (Gkikopoulos et al., 2011). The INO80 complex has diverse functions including transcriptional activation and repression, DNA repair, DNA replication and chromatin-independent function (Conaway and Conaway, 2009). The

SWR1 ATPase is highly related to INO80, both remodelers can also exchange histones, while SWR1 remove H2A-H2B dimers and replace them with H2A.Z and H2B dimer insertion (Mizuguchi *et al.*, 2004), INO80 catalyzes the opposite reaction (Papamichos-Chronakis *et al.*, 2011).

One of the main finding from my studies is that the Arabidopsis SWI/SNF subgroup ATPase BRM contributes to the placement and occupancy of the transcription start proximal nucleosome at the *ABI5* locus. The +1 nucleosome is just downstream of the TSS. The nuclease protected region, ~200 bp of DNA, is broader than DNA protected by mononuclosome (\sim 150 bp). This suggests that +1 nucleosome may be present in two alternative positions. A nucleosome position prediction program identified nucleosome start sites around 45bp proximal region from the TSS, while MNase mapping showed that start of +1 nucleosome is more close to the TSS, suggesting that a subset of the +1nucleosome is positioned more TSS proximal than predicted. Mutations in *brm* cause \sim 40% reduction of the +1 nucleosome occupancy with preferential loss from the TSS proximal position, as well as derepression of ABI5 in the absence of the ABA. BRM strongly associated with the region of ABI5 locus occupied by the +1 nucleosome. Therefore I hypothesize that BRM represses *ABI5* transcription in the absence of ABA by promoting high occupancy of the +1 nucleosome and by directing this nucleosome from a more favorable predicted position to a position more proximal to the TSS. How does BRM activity cause increased occupancy and more TSS proximal positioning of the +1 nucleosome at ABI5 locus? One mechanism is that BRM deposits the nucleosome to maintain high occupancy at the +1 nucleosome position. However it is well known that most SWI/SNF remodelers lack assembly functions, by contrast most ISWI remodelers

conduct nucleosome assembly and spacing in nucleosomal arrays. For example, the human ISWI-containing factor RSF (remodeling and spacing factor) and ACF (ATPdependent chromatin-assembly factor)/ CHRAC (Chromatin assembly complex) complex were found to mediate nucleosome deposition onto DNA and form regularly spaced nucleosome arrays in the presence of ATP (Fyodorov et al., 2004; Loyola et al., 2003). The CHD subgroup member of chromatin remodelers, CHD1 plays a role in histone deposition during chromatin assembly in Drosophila in an ATP-dependent manner (Konev et al., 2007). Although these ISWI and CHD1 remodelers are involved in nucleosome positioning and deposition, genome-wide nucleosome position studies from yeast revealed that deletion of ISW1 and CHD largely did not affect +1 nucleosome position (Gkikopoulos et al., 2011). This raises the possibilities that another chromatin remodeler is needed to direct +1 nucleosome positioning and occupancy. The ISWI2 in yeast is known to affect the positioning of the +1 nucleosome (Whitehouse *et al.*, 2007) and is localized to the +1 nucleosome (Yen et al., 2012), although its activity is more likely in nucleosome sliding. In Arabidopsis, two ISWI ATPases have been identified and one of them is necessary for normal cell expansion during late embryogenesis and has an essential role during female gametogenesis (Huanca-Mamani et al., 2005). What types of chromatin changes these roles of ISWI ATPase in plants are due to chromatin changes remains to be determined. Arabidopsis SWI/SNF ATPases were identified based on the sequence similarity with metazoan SWI/SNF and interaction with Arabidopsis SWI3 proteins (SWI/SNF core complex components)(Flaus et al., 2006; Knizewski et al., 2008; Kwon and Wagner, 2007), however the biochemical activity of SWI/SNF ATPase has not been studied in any plant system. Whether the Arabidopsis BRM complex

functions in chromatin assembly as seen in ISWI complexes in other species needs to be confirmed through the testing of biochemical activity, or alternatively, through an analysis of genome-wide nucleosome positioning and occupancy in *brm* mutant. Intriguingly, it has been shown that the SWI/SNF complex is involved in rapid nucleosome assembly at the *PHO5* promoter during transcriptional repression in *S. cerevesiae* (Schermer *et al.*, 2005). In addition, earlier biochemical experiments showed that human SWI/SNF proteins have the ability to transfer histone octamers from donor nucleosomes to acceptor DNA (Phelan *et al.*, 2000).

Another possible mechanism for increasing occupancy and positioning at +1nucleosome is nucleosome sliding by chromatin remodelers, which is a common activity of SWI/SNF family remodelers. If it is mediated by the sliding activity of BRM, a nucleosome shift towards nucleosome free region (NFR) or the nearby nucleosomes is expected to see the in *brm* mutants. There is precedent for a nucleosome-sliding model of SWI/SNF proteins to form repressive nucleosome. Recently, derepression of HIV expression in human memory T- cells was observed upon loss of human SWI/SNF family complex activity, which resulted in a reduction in occupancy of the +1 nucleosome (Rafati *et al.*, 2011). In their nucleosome mapping study, the position shift of nucleosome to a favored nucleosome-positioning site in the promoter was observed as a consequence of loss of SWI/SNF (Rafati et al., 2011). This suggests that human SWI/SNF is essential for positioning the repressive nucleosome site to repress HIV gene expression, and that in this case this is mediated by sliding activity of SWI/SNF. However in my nucleosome mapping data at ABI5 locus, a subtle increase or no increase was observed in nucleosome occupancy at nucleosome free region (NFR) or at -1 nucleosome in several independent

biological replicates. The 3' end of +1 nucleosome in *brm* mutant even shifts towards to TSS. I cannot rule out the possibility that this subtle change is due to the tissue complexity that I used for the MNase assay, which might dilute changes in specific cell types. Statistic analyses need to be performed to see if subtle increases in nucleosome occupancy around the NFR and -1 nucleosome are significant in multiple biological replicates. We could also isolate the BRM-expressing cells from germinated embryos by FACS sorting to avoid the tissue complexity issue.

In summary, I favor the hypothesis that BRM contributes to the high occupancy of the +1 nucleosome and position to more proximal to the TSS at *ABI5* locus by a nucleosome assembly mechanism, in part because we do not see a clear sliding effect in the nucleosome profile in *brm* mutant. However there thus far is little evidence that SWI/SNF remodeler functions in nucleosome assembly.

4.1.7 Repressive role of BRM in ABI5 transcription

Although studies have established the role of the SWI/SNF complex in transcriptional activation in yeast (Hirschhorn *et al.*, 1992; Martens and Winston, 2003; Petesch and Lis, 2012; Sudarsanam *et al.*, 2000), studies in mammals provide evidence that SWI/SNF family proteins can function in both transcriptional activation and repression and even switch between the two modes of action at the same gene (Hargreaves and Crabtree, 2011; Ho *et al.*, 2009; Rafati *et al.*, 2011; Trotter and Archer, 2008; Zhang *et al.*, 2007). Studies indicate the remodeling proteins can play critical roles in gene silencing through interactions with a variety of transcriptional co-repressors such as HDAC and REST

(Trotter and Archer, 2008). Moreover, genome-wide binding studies of SWI/SNF complex components in ES cells showed that they are required for keeping developmental genes repressed and in optimizing the levels of ES cell-specific genes to maintain the core circuitry (Ho et al., 2009). Genome-wide binding study in Hela cells also showed that SWI/SNF components associate with many target genes that are transcriptionally repressed (Euskirchen *et al.*, 2011). Therefore it is not surprising that BRM can directly repress ABI5 transcription. I hypothesized that BRM represses the basal level of *ABI5* transcription increasing +1 nucleosome at the TSS proximal region. Consistent with my idea, the +1 nucleosome is a frequent target of chromatin remodelers (Yen *et al.*, 2012) and +1 nucleosomes positioned near the TSS are repressive and can interfere with the transcriptional activation (Yen et al., 2012). Arabidopsis SWI/SNF complexes also can function in activation and repression of transcription. In Arabidopsis *thaliana*, there are only a few genes known as direct targets of SWI/SNF complexes because genome-wide binding data is not as yet available for these chromatin remodelers. BRM and a putative component of SWI/SNF complex are known to have a role in transcriptional repression of several target genes including; ABI5 (Han et al., 2012), seed storage proteins (Tang et al., 2008), FLC (Farrona et al., 2011; Jegu et al., 2014) and transposable elements (Zhu et al., 2013). However the repressive mechanisms mediated by SWI/SNF complex at these target genes are different in each case; increase of +1 nucleosome occupancy (Han et al., 2012), increase of open chromatin by loss of BRM (Tang et al., 2008), formation of a DNA loop (Jegu et al., 2014) and long non-coding RNA association (Zhu et al., 2013), respectively. Because of limited information on the role of SWI/SNF complexes and their target genes in plants, the common or distinct

mechanism of different chromatin remodelers in transcriptional regulation remains largely unknown.

4.1.8 Chromatin changes at ABI5 locus upon loss of BRM

In brm mutant plants, I observed derepression of ABI5 expression in the absence of ABA treatment. Consistent with this observation, I found a moderate ($\sim 40\%$) reduction in nucleosome occupancy at the + 1 position of the *ABI5* locus coupled with a shift away from the TSS in the absence of ABA treatment in *brm* mutants relative to wild-type germinated embryos. I observed changes by loss of BRM only at the +1 nucleosome, not at the -1 and -2 nucleosomes that I monitored. The reduction in nucleosome occupancy and shifting at the +1 nucleosome are also found in response to ABA treatment in wild type plants. The observed ABA-dependent change in wild type was very similar to germinated *brm* mutants, suggesting that this effect in wild type was likely due to a loss of BRM in the presence of ABA. However, unexpectedly we observed strong binding of BRM at the ABI5 locus in the presence of ABA where the +1 nucleosome resides. Therefore I hypothesized that BRM complex activity may be inactivated upon ABA sensing, which resembles *brm* mutant. To test whether BRM ATPase activity is required for +1 nucleosome occupancy and position, we could utilize an ATPase dead mutant of BRM. It is expected that these mutants may display brm like phenotype including ABI5 derepression, reduced nucleosome occupancy and enhanced ABA responses. However it needs to be confirmed that ATPase mutation does not affect BRM complex assembly and recruitment to ABL5 locus

Other models are also possible other than a direct role of BRM in +1 nucleosome placement and occupancy at the *ABI5* locus. Repressor complex such as HDAC (Histone deacetylase complex) could associate with BRM complex to repress *ABI5* transcription in the absence of ABA or water stress. Human BRG1 containing SWI/SNF complex has been shown to interact with a variety of transcriptional co-repressors (Trotter and Archer, 2008). Derepression of *ABI5* upon loss of BRM may be a consequence from enhanced transcriptional activity due to a failure of a repressive-complex recruitment. Upon ABA sensing, repressor complex can leave the *ABI5* locus while BRM is retained at that position, which allows *ABI5* transcription.

4.1.9 Chromatin changes at AB15 locus during development

I observed development-dependent changes in the -1 nucleosome occupancy at the *ABI5* promoter just prior to seedling establishment. The occupancy of the -1 nucleosome was very low at day 1.5 but increased at day 2 in both wild type and *brm* mutants (Figure 4-3, D1.5 and D2). In addition, the occupancy and position at this nucleosome was not changed in *brm* mutants compared to wild type at both developmental stages, suggesting that this change is BRM independent. Hence another chromatin remodeler may be involved in this -1 nucleosome assembly. Increased nucleosome occupancy at this position may trigger chromatin condensation at *ABI5* locus during developmental transition. In agreement with this finding, *ABI5* expression and its ABA inducibility was normally down regulated at the end of postgermination in both wild type and *brm* mutants. Upon seedling establishment (Figure 4-3, D3), *ABI5* expression is no longer

derepressed in *brm* mutants and reverts to the wild type level in ABA response. This suggests that BRM does not play a role in development-dependent repression of *ABI5* and that other chromatin regulators are involved in this process.

Developmentally dependent repression of ABI5 has been previously described (Perruc et al., 2007). In this study, it is shown that a CHD subgroup chromatin remodeler in Arabidopsis, PKL, mediates chromatin changes that are required for eventual shut down of AB15 expression at the end of the postgermination period. Increased expression of *ABI5* in *pkl* mutants relative to the wild type in the presence of ABA treatment is correlated with a reduced level of two repressive histone modifications, H3K9me2 and H3K27me2, at the promoter of ABI5 and a failure of developmental repression of ABI5. Although it is not known that *ABI5* expression is directly regulated by PKL, repressive histone modifications triggered by PKL may be an important role for the formation of a condensed chromatin structure at the *ABI5* locus upon seedling establishment (Figure 4-3, D3). Besides PKL, it is also known that mutations in several chromatin regulators such as histone deacetylase, Polycomb repressive complexes and retinoblastoma proteins (Bouyer et al., 2011; Gutzat et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2012b; Tanaka et al., 2008) delay the developmental switch from embryo to seedling growth. It is possible that these chromatin regulators cooperate with PKL to generate the repressive state of the *ABI5* locus.

Interestingly, the transcriptional activity of *ABI5* is regained during later vegetative development (Brocard *et al.*, 2002; Mizoguchi *et al.*, 2010). I observed that *ABI5* expression is derepressed at 21 days in *brm* mutant plants and that BRM binds to promoter region of *ABI5* locus at this time in development (Figure 4-3, D21). In addition,

nucleosome occupancy at the -1 nucleosome was decreased in *brm* mutants and ABA treated wild type (data not shown in my thesis), which was similar to the effect seen at the +1 nucleosome during the postgermination stage of development. Because I did not tested BRM binding and nucleosome change in *brm* mutants at +1 nucleosome region at this stage, I do not know whether BRM has an effect on +1 nucleosome at this developmental stage. In summary, BRM plays a role in *ABI5* repression during postgermination and later vegetative stages. This conclusion is based upon *ABI5* derepression, BRM binding to the locus and reduction in nucleosome occupancy at *ABI5* locus in *brm* at both developmental stages. However the location where the BRM acts to promote occupancy and direct the positioning of nucleosome appears to be different between two stages. In addition, I observed that *ABI5* expression was synergistically increased in *brm* mutants treated with ABA compared to wild type treated with ABA during vegetative development (Figure 4-3, D21), indicating that BRM activity at this stage is not fully inactivated by ABA.

4.1.10 Chromatin changes at *ABI5* locus by ABA treatment during postgermination development

I detected reduced occupancy of all three nucleosomes (-2, -1 and +1) in response to ABA treatment. As I described above, a reduction in occupancy at +1 nucleosome in the presence of ABA seems to be due to BRM inactivation upon ABA sensing. The ABA-dependent changes in the upstream nucleosomes (-2 and -1) were similar in both *brm* and wild type, suggesting that this reduction is BRM independent. Reduced occupancy in

these nucleosomes is positively correlated with *AB15* induction in the presence of ABA. The most pronounced reduction is observed at the -1 nucleosome. This nucleosome is positioned over 2 *cis*-regulatory elements called ABA-responsive elements (ABRE). These elements are bound by ABA-activated transcription factors and linked to ABAresponsive gene expression. Transcription factor binding to these sites may modulate the accessibility of DNA in the context of chromatin (Radman-Livaja and Rando, 2010). Therefore the transcriptional phenotype of *AB15* in ABA treatment or drought may result from two combined effects; increased transcription factor binding to ABREs causing a destabilized -1 nucleosome, and increased activity of the transcription initiation complex due to a reduction in the +1 nucleosome occupancy by BRM inactivation upon ABA sensing.

4.1.11 Link between drought response and BRM

I observed a drought tolerant phenotype of *brm* mutant during vegetative development. My hypothesis was that drought tolerance of *brm* mutants is due to increased *ABI5* expression. The ectopic expression of *ABI5* can induce stress-responsive gene expression so that the plant better tolerates water loss during vegetative development (Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2001). To further test this hypothesis, I examined drought responses in *brm abi5* double mutant during the vegetative stage. However *brm abi5* plants were as tolerant as *brm* alone to drought. Thus, these results suggest that either increased *ABI5* expression in *brm* mutant does not contribute to drought tolerance or that ABI5 acts redundantly with other ABA-responsive transcription factors such as ABF3 in drought response, ABF3
expression was also derepressed in *brm* mutants during vegetative development (Figure 2-10B). Because the more prominent role of BRM on *AB15* expression is during the postgermination stage, testing drought tolerance of *brm abi5* double mutant at this stage may help to understand whether increased *AB15* expression contribute to drought tolerance of *brm* mutant during this postgermination period. For further insight into the role of BRM in drought response during vegetative stage, we need to perform genomewide analyses to identify the direct target genes of BRM at this stage and as well as genes differentially expressed in *brm* mutant upon water stress.

4.2 Summary and Future direction

My study showed that the SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling ATPase BRM plays a role in the regulation of drought-responsive gene expression and that BRM promotes positioning and occupancy of a nucleosome close to TSS to prevent upregulation of a master drought response regulator, *ABI5*, in the absence of ABA. This mechanism ensures that costly stress responses are mounted only upon perception of water stress signals to enhance fitness of the organism. This regulatory role of nucleosome positioning and of occupancy by BRM is not limited to the genes that I analyzed in my thesis study. Therefore, for the future study it would be interesting to perform genome-wide approach as such as MNase-seq to monitor nucleosome position or occupancy change in wild type and *brm* mutant upon ABA treatment. It would furthermore be of interest to conduct BRM ChIP-seq to monitor genome-wide binding of BRM. In addition, RNA-seq using wild-type and *brm* mutant treated ABA or non-treated could be performed to identify ABA-regulated genes

whose expression is altered in *brm* mutants. The data from such genome-wide analyses would provide us with the subset of drought responsive genes that are regulated by nucleosome positioning by the BRM chromatin remodeling ATPase.

To gain insight into the detailed mechanism how ABA sensing regulators of SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex activity, we could test two possibilities. First, does BRM complex composition change upon drought stress? We could isolate the BRM complex from *Arabidopsis* nuclei using well-established epitope tagged BRM transgenic lines to see if BRM complex composition changes under water stress conditions. Second, are core BRM complex components differentially post-translationally modified in stress versus non-stress conditions to regulate nucleosome-remodeling activity of BRM? Biochemical activity can be tested using the full-length BRM cDNA expressed in insect cells with a baculovirus-based expression system, followed by treatment with active or kinase dead SnRK2 kinase.

In summary, I have explored the link between chromatin regulators known to alter genome accessibility, the SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling ATPases, and drought stress response in the plant model system *Arabidopsis thaliana*. My thesis work and future studies will provide mechanistic insight how environmental stress dependent genome accessibility is regulated by the SWI/SNF chromatin remodelers. It may contribute to our ability to modulate the drought stress response-pathway, which is crucial for enhancing plant tolerance to water stress.



Figure 4-1. Model for role of BRM in ABA Responses

(A) Role of BRM in ABA response at different developmental stages. Left: Inhibition of cotyledon greening during postgermination development. BRM negatively regulates the expression of two key ABA-related transcription factors *ABI5* and *ABI3*. *ABI3* acts upstream of *ABI5* (Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2002). Solid arrows, direct regulation; dashed arrows, direct or indirect regulation. Right: Inhibition of growth during vegetative development. Additional direct BRM targets remain unidentified that act in parallel with ABI5. ABI5 has been implicated in drought tolerance (Lopez-Molina *et al.*, 2001), although the increase of *ABI5* expression alone was not responsible for the *brm* mutant drought tolerance.

(B) Role of chromatin regulators in expression of ABA-responsive transcription factors during postgermination and vegetative development. BRM represses *AB15* expression during postgermination and vegetative development and *AB13* during postgermination development. Several chromatin regulators influence the developmental transition from postgermination development to seedling establishment. HDAC, histone deacetylase; PcG, Polycomb; RBR, Retinoblastoma-related protein.





qRT-PCR expression analysis of 1.5, 2 and 3-day-old wild type (WT) and *brm-3* mutants one hour after mock or ABA (50 μ M) treatment. Arrow points to transcript level in *brm-3*, which is indistinguishable from that in the WT on day 3.



Figure 4-3. A model for the role of BRM at ABI5 locus during development

D1.5 (1.5 day after stratification): BRM binds to the +1 nucleosome. The -1 nucleosome is absent at this stage (marked by the red box). *AB15* derepression was observed in *brm* mutant. Fold change (ABA treated/ Mock treated) in *AB15* expression was the same in wild type and *brm* mutant (*AB15* expression was not synergistically regulated by BRM and ABA).

D 2: BRM binds to the +1 nucleosome. The -1 nucleosome (in red dashed box) positioned over 2 *cis*-regulatory elements (ABRES, marked in yellow) in the *ABI5* promoter. *ABI5* derepression in *brm* mutants is still observed, although ABA inducibility of *ABI5* is slightly decreased.

D3: BRM binding at +1 nucleosome has not been tested (dashed orange oval). Derepression of *ABI5* at this stage is not observed. Overall *ABI5* expression becomes very low and ABA inducibility is decreased. PKL triggered repressive histone modifications (H3K9me2 or H3K27me2) are generated (small red circles), which may contribute to formation of condensed chromatin and developmental shut down of *ABI5* expression (Perruc *et al.*, 2007)

D21: BRM binds to -1 nucleosome and promote -1 nucleosome occupancy. BRM binding to +1 nucleosome was not tested (dashed orange oval). *AB15* derepression is regained. Fold change (ABA treated/ Mock treated) in *AB15* expression was higher in *brm* mutant than wild type (*AB15* was synergistically increased by loss of BRM and ABA treatment). Transcription factors such as ABF3 (purple oval) induced by ABA or water stress also affect destabilization of -1 nucleosome.

CHAPTER 5. Materials and Methods

5.1 Plant Growth

The Arabidopsis thaliana genetic resources used in this study were mostly in the Columbia ecotype and have been previously described: *swi3c-2* (Sarnowski *et al.*, 2005), *brm-3* (Farrona *et al.*, 2007), *brm-1* (Hurtado *et al.*, 2006), *syd-5* (Bezhani *et al.*, 2007), *bsh-1* (Tang *et al.*, 2008), *abi5-7* (Yamagishi *et al.*, 2009), and 35S:HAB1 (Saez *et al.*, 2004). *brm-101* (Kwon *et al.*, 2006) was in the Landsberg *erecta* ecotype and partly introgressed into Columbia. The strong loss-of function *minu1-2* (CS413977) and *minu2-1* (SALK_057856) mutants (Sang *et al.*, 2012) and the weak *syd-6* (SALK_116266) mutant were obtained from the ABRC stock center. The pBRM:BRM-GFP construct was previously described (Wu *et al.*, 2012). Plants on plates and in soil were stratified at 4°C for 3 d. Plant growth was in inductive photoperiod (16-h-light/8-hdark cycles) or constant light at 22°C under white fluorescent light (fluence rate: 110 µmol/m2 s for soil-grown plants; 90 µmol/m2 s for media-grown plants). Plant growth on plates was in the presence of 1% Sucrose unless indicated otherwise.

5.2 ABA and Drought Treatments

For germination assays, wild-type, *brm-3*, and *brm-1/+* seeds were placed on Murashige and Skoog (MS) plates (no Sucrose) and supplemented with the ABA concentration indicated. Radicle emergence was scored 3d after stratification (Müller *et al.*, 2006). Well-ripened seeds from plants grown under the same growth condition were used. For seedling growth (green cotyledon) assays, seeds were placed on MS media supplemented with various concentration of ABA (0, 0.5, 0.8, 1.0, and 1.5 μ M). Plants that had formed green cotyledons were counted 7 d after stratification unless indicated otherwise. For root growth assays, seeds were germinated on MS plates and seedlings were grown vertically for 2 or 5 d, followed by transfer to fresh media lacking or containing ABA (1, 5, or 10 μ M). Plates were incubated vertically for an additional 5 d before measuring root length. For ABA treatment for gene expression, ChIP, and MNase studies, seeds were stratified for 3 d followed by growth in constant light for the time indicated. Liquid MS media with or without 50 μ M ABA (Sigma-Aldrich; A1049) was added to the plates for 1 h. For studies on 3-week-oldplants, 9-d-old seedlings grown on MS plates were transplanted to soil and grown for 12 more days before treatment. 100 μ MABA in 0.5mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, alone was applied to 3-week-old plants by spraying the leaves with an atomizer.

5.3 Dehydration and drought treatment

Dehydration and drought treatment were performed as previously described (Li *et al.*, 2008). For drought tolerance test, 9-day-old seedlings grown on MS were transferred to soil and grown for an additional 12 days. Each pot was filled with the same amount of soil. The pots were evenly spaced in the tray and their position was changed daily to minimize edge effects. After placement in the growth chamber, pots were weighed daily to ensure equal soil water content until the plants were three weeks old. Next I withheld water for two weeks under $24^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C$ and $45\% \pm 5\%$ relative humidity. All pots dried at a similar rate based on daily assessment of the pot weight (Figure 2-12). After two weeks, watering was resumed. Phenotypes were recorded 5 days after watering. The

experiment was repeated four times with at least 12 plants per genotype per experiment. One representative experiment is shown.

2-week-old plants grown on MS plates were dehydrated by placement on filter paper (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 1994; Li *et al.*, 2008) with airflow for 3 hours ($25^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C$, $25\% \pm 2\%$ relative humidity) then rehydrated. Survival rate was scored and pictures were taken 5 days after rehydration. Plants that had more than four green leaves were scored as surviving. The experiment was repeated three times and >20 plants per genotype per experiment were used. One representative experiment is shown.

Stainless mesh (S3895, Sigma) was placed on plates containing MS media and seeds were sown on top. After 2 weeks of growth, plants were pulled out carefully from the media and placed in empty petri plates after removal of excess moisture and media. The plants were dehydrated by placement of the plates on a lab bench ($24^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C$, $27\% \pm 3\%$ relative humidity) for 6 hours. Pictures were taken at the time indicated. 6 hours after dehydration, water was added and plants were moved back to growth chamber.

5.4 Gene Expression Analyses

RNA purification, reverse transcription, and quantitative PCR (qPCR) were performed as described previously (Pastore *et al.*, 2011) except amplification was monitored by EvaGreen fluorescent dye (Biotium). The sequences of primers used are listed in the Table 6.1. Confocal imaging was performed as previously described (Winter *et al.*, 2011).

5.5 Chromatin imunoprecipitation

For the GFP-tagged BRM ChIP, 1.5-d-old *brm-1* ProBRM:BRM-GFP germinated seeds (0.2 g) were used. The ChIP procedure was as previously described (Kwon *et al.*, 2005). Five microliters of anti-GFP rabbit polyclonal antibody (Invitrogen; A6455) was employed per 0.2 g of tissue. To quantify BRM enrichment on the genomic DNA, qPCR was performed using a StepOnePlus Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems) with EvaGreen fluorescent dye (Biotium). The percentage of input was calculated by determining $2^{-\Delta Ct}$ (= $2^{-[Ct(ChIP)-Ct(Input)]}$) as per the ChampionChIP qPCR user manual (SABioscience). To facilitate comparison of different genotypes and treatments, the calculated percent input of the wild type (control) at the regions tested was set to 1. The relative enrichment represents the fold change to the wild type. The exon region of retrotransposon *TA3* (Johnson *et al.*, 2002) was used as negative control. Primer sequences are listed in the Table 6.2.

5.6 MNase Assay

A total of 0.2 g of 1.5- or 2-d-old plants was harvested in liquid nitrogen. Nuclei and chromatin were isolated as previously described (Chodavarapu *et al.*, 2010) with the following changes. The isolated nuclei were washed twice with HBB buffer (25 mM Tris-Cl pH 7.6, 0.44 M Suc, 10 mM MgCl2, 0.1% Triton-X, 10 mM betamercaptoethanol), and the isolated chromatin was digested with 0.1 units/ μ L - 0.2 units/ μ L (final concentration) of Micrococcal Nuclease (Takara) for 10 min in digestion buffer at 37°C. Subsequent steps were performed as previously described (Chodavarapu *et al.*, 2010). Mononucleosomes were excised from 1.5% agarose gels and purified using a gel purification kit (Qiagen). The purified DNA was quantified using a NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer. Two nanograms of purified DNA were used for qPCR to monitor nucleosome occupancy. The fraction of input was calculated as $2^{-\Delta Ct} (2^{-[Ct (mono)-Ct} (gDNA)]})$ using undigested genomic DNA (Gévry *et al.*, 2009) followed by normalization over that of gypsy-like retrotransposon (At4g07700) 273 loci for each sample. The tiled primer sets for *ABI5* locus used for realtime PCR are listed in Table 6.3. Oligonucleotide sequences for gypsy like gene (At4g07700) nucleosome mapping are as previously used in (Kumar and Wigge, 2010).

5.7 Statistical Analysis

For root length and fresh weight measurement, P values were calculated with the onetailed Student's t test. For green cotyledons, germination, and survival rate assays, x2 analysis was performed. Two random variables (ex. the wild type and *brm-3*) with two types of data (survival or death) were entered in a 2 x 2 contingency table and x2 statistic and P values were calculated using a java-based script

(http://www.physics.csbsju.edu/stats/contingency_NROW_NCOLUMN_form.html). For *brm-1*/+ populations, I assumed Mendelian inheritance of a recessive trait. For statistical significance cutoff, I employed a P value lower than 0.01.

5.8 Yeast two hybrid assay

To test the interaction between BRM and the components of core ABA signaling components, BRM N-terminal domain (At2g46020, 1-976 aa) was cloned into either

pBridge or pGADT7, and OST1 (At4g33950, 1-362 aa) and HAB1 (At1g72770, 1-511 aa) were cloned into pGBKT7 or pGADT7, respectively. To test the abrogation of interaction between BRM and HAB1 in the presence of ABA signaling, PYL4 (At2g38310, 1-207 aa) and PYL5 (At5g05440, 1-203 aa) were inserted at MCSII (Multiple Cloning Site II) of the pBridge-BRM (BD) construct. To test the abrogation of HAB1-SWI3B interaction upon ABA signaling, ΔNHAB1 (179-511aa) and PYLs cloned into pBridge and used pACT1-SWI3B (Saez et al., 2008). Each bait and prey plasmids were co-transformed into AH109 yeast strain according manufacturer's manual (MATCHMAKER GAL4 Two-Hybrid User Manual, Clontech Laboratories, INC). Transformed cells were plated on -Trp -Leu SD media. The resulting colonies were grown in -Trp -Leu SD liquid media overnight, adjusted for equal cell density, serially diluted $(1 \sim 10^{-4})$ and spotted on selection media (-Trp -Leu –His /SD media with 0.1mM, 0.5mM, 1mM, 2mM 3-AT). To test an abrogation of interaction, 10 µM ABA was supplemented into the selection media. The growth of interactors on the different media was scored. The interaction test was performed at least 2 times for each bait/prey combination.

5.9 Bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC)

BiFC was performed by transforming plasmids harboring BRM-N (1-976 aa) or BRM-C (1541-2193 aa) fused with N-terminal YFP in pSPYNE(R)173 and HAB1 or OST1 fused with C-terminal YFP in pSPYCE(MR) (Waadt *et al.*, 2008) into *Arabidopsis* leaf protoplasts. Protoplast isolation and transformation was performed as previously

published methods (Yoo *et al.*, 2007). Confocal microscopy imaging for protoplast BiFC was done as preciously described (Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2013).

5.10 Co-immunoprecipitation

For co-immunoprecipitation assays using protoplast, FLAG-BRMN (Wu *et al.*, 2014 submitted) in pUC19 and PYL4 in pSPYNE(R)173 were co-transformed into protoplast isolated from 35S::HA-HAB1 transgenic lines. FLAG-BRMN in pUC19 and pSPYNE(R)173-HAB1 were co-transformed into the protoplast isolated from 35S::HA-OST1 transgenic plants. pSPYCE(MR)-MPDB was used as a negative control for BRM interaction. The nuclear fraction of protoplasts was prepared as previously described (Ryu *et al.*, 2007). Anti-FLAG (2368S, Cell Signaling) and anti-HA-peroxidase high affinity (3F10, Roche) were used for co-IP or Western blot, respectively.

5.11 Accession Numbers

Sequence data for the genes in this article can be found in the Arabidopsis Genome Initiative under the following accession numbers: BRM (AT2G46020), SWI3C (AT1G21700), SYD (AT2G28290), MINU1 (AT3G06010), MINU2 (AT5G19310), BSH (AT3G17590), ABI5 (AT2G36270), ABI3 (AT3G24650), ABF3 (AT4G34000), HY5 (AT5G11260), ABF2/AREB1 (AT1G45249), EIF4A1 (AT3G13920), TA3 (AT1G37110), gypsy-like retrotransposon (AT4G07700), HAB1 (AT1G72770), OST1 (AT4G33950), PYL4 (AT2G38310), PYL5 (AT5G05440). Mutants investigated in this study are listed in Methods.

5.12 Computational identification of well-positioned nucleosomes

(This analysis is performed by Dr. Qi Zheng from the lab of Dr. Brian Gragory at Penn) To get a genome-wide overview of the nucleosome positioning in *Arabidopsis*, we utilized the published MNase-seq dataset (Chodavarapu et al., 2010) and re-implemented the mapping and position-calling procedure as previously described with slight modifications, as the published results were based on an earlier genome assembly (TAIR 7); also the exact coordinates of the called nucleosome positions are not publically available. Therefore, we downloaded the raw Illumina sequencing reads for Arabidopsis MNase-Seq (gseq) sample (GSM543296) from NCBI SRA and dumped them into FASTQ files. The reads were mapped to the TAIR9 genome assembly using bowtie, with non-default options set as "-n 2 -e 160 -l 34 -y -k 1 -m 1 -B 1 –nomaground" and a seedmatch search of up-to 2 mismatches ($\sim 6\%$) of the 34-bp seeds and up-to 4 total mismatches (\sim 8%) of the entire 55 nt reads for uniquely-mapped reads. An additional parsing step was performed after the alignment to guarantee the 2 and 4 mismatches in the seed and full-length reads. The mismatch cut-off levels as well as the seed-lengths were chosen after examining the overall base-wide sequencing quality of the whole library (data not shown) to facilitate both mapping sensitivity and specificity.

The nucleosome positions on *Arabidopsis* genome were predicted as "nucleosome enriched regions" as previously described (Kaplan *et al.*, 2008) as in the published article of the data source (Chodavarapu *et al.*, 2010). All aligned reads were first extended to 147 bp as the average nucleosome size, and the read coverage of every genome base was calculated; then genomic regions with aberrantly high read coverage (defined as > 10

times the median genomic coverage value) were "trimmed" by filling these regions with values 10 times the median coverage value, and normalized against the genomic average values to get the base-wise nucleosome occupancy values, as $occ_i = \log 2(C_i/\bar{C})$, where the occ_i is the normalized nucleosome occupancy for the ith base-pair, C_i is the (trimmed) read coverage for the ith base-pair and the \bar{C} is the genome average read coverage. Last, nucleosome positions on the *Arabidopsis* genome were called as consecutive genomic regions >= 50 bp with a minimum occupancy value >= Te, where Te was set to 0.75 to optimize the nucleosome calling accuracy as previously described (Kaplan *et al.*, 2008). As a result, we called 96,078 well-positioned nucleosomes on *Arabidopsis* genome with median size of 152 bp which is close to the average nucleosome size.

Gene	Forward (5'->3')	Reverse (5'->3')
EIF4A1	aaactcaatgaagtacttgagggaca	tetcaaaaccataagcataaataccc
ABI5	acctaatccaaacccgaacc	taccetectectgteet
ABI3	atgtatctcctcgagaacac	ccctcgtatcaaatatttgcc
ABF3	ccttacatgtttgggcgagt	tttgagttgcgcaatttctg
HY5	atgaggagatacggcgagtg	ttcagccgcttgttctcttt
ABF2/AREB1	ttacaacgaaagcaggcaag	aaggtcccgactctgtcctc

Table 5.1 Oligonucleotide sequences for expression analyses

Table 5.2 Oligonucleotide sequences for BRM-GFP/HA ChIP

Loci	Forward (5'->3')	Reverse (5'->3')
ABI5-p1	aacatttgtgtagccgaagtca	aggcgtgaaggtcaacatct
ABI5-e1	aatteteeggeggetttt	ccggtggctttgtgttcc
ABI5-e2	acctaatccaaacccgaacc	taccetectectgteet
ABI3-p1	tgtcgcatagccacgtagag	acgatgacatatggccgaac
ABI3-p2	aagtgatttacggcccacac	cgtaatgctcctcctcgaaa
ABI3-e1	attgaatcagcggcaagaag	aagagaggttggtggtggtg
NC1 (TA3)	ctgcgtggaagtctgtcaaa	ctatgccacagggcagttt
NC2 (BRM)	tacaccaaccccaagaggag	ccccaagctttgtttettt

COA*	Forward (5'->3')	Reverse (5'->3')
-516	tetaacaagtetaettteaceageta	aggttagattcaagatgttatgaaaga
-448	tettteataacatettgaatetaacet	ttgttttgtgaaattgacggatta
-385	gatcaatcaaattaatccgtcaa	gaacgtgaaatttggattagaag
-309	cgctcttctaatccaaatttca	cacgtgtgacttcggctaca
-241	aacatttgtgtagccgaagtca	gtgtcctgcacgtgtctctc
-199	cacgtgtcgagcctgtga	tccaggcccatgatcaga
-167	gagagacacgtgcaggaca	tttcgaccaatggaatgc
-107	tctgatcatgggcctgga	cgcgtggggtctaagaag
-62	gcattccattggtcgaaa	aatgggtaggaggcggtaa
4	tcacggtgagaacataaatatcaatc	cgccggagaattttgactg
35	tttaccgcctcctacccatt	ggaggtteteetteacatag
59	tetetettteteaaaacettteagte	ctgagagaatccgcttcttgtt
90	aatteteeggeggetttt	ccggtggctttgtgttcc
119	ggaggagaacctccataacaaga	cctgaaaatgaaatctgtgtgtctaa
135	aacaagaagcggattctctca	acaagaaaagtgttaacctgaaaatg
202	ccggtttttagacacacagatt	ccagaaaacgaagacctaaactt
217	tcattttcaggttaacacttttctt	aaggaccagaaaacgaagacc

Table 5.3 Oligonucleotide sequences used for *ABI5* nucleosome mapping.

* Center Of Amplicon: distance (base pairs) form Transcription Start Site

REFERENCES

Achard P, Cheng H, De Grauwe L, Decat J, Schoutteten H, Moritz T, Van Der Straeten D, Peng J, Harberd NP. 2006. Integration of plant responses to environmentally activated phytohormonal signals. *Science* 311, 91-94.

Ahmad A, Cao X. 2012. Plant PRMTs broaden the scope of arginine methylation. J Genet Genomics 39, 195-208.

Ahuja I, de Vos RC, Bones AM, Hall RD. 2010. Plant molecular stress responses face climate change. *Trends Plant Sci* 15, 664-674.

Aichinger E, Villar CB, Farrona S, Reyes JC, Hennig L, Kohler C. 2009. CHD3 proteins and polycomb group proteins antagonistically determine cell identity in Arabidopsis. *PLoS Genet* 5, e1000605.

Alon U. 2007. Network motifs: theory and experimental approaches. *Nat Rev Genet* 8, 450-461.

Alvarez-Venegas R, Avramova Z. 2005. Methylation patterns of histone H3 Lys 4, Lys 9 and Lys 27 in transcriptionally active and inactive Arabidopsis genes and in atx1 mutants. *Nucleic Acids Res* 33, 5199-5207.

Archacki R, Sarnowski TJ, Halibart-Puzio J, Brzeska K, Buszewicz D, Prymakowska-Bosak M, Koncz C, Jerzmanowski A. 2009. Genetic analysis of functional redundancy of BRM ATPase and ATSWI3C subunits of Arabidopsis SWI/SNF chromatin remodelling complexes. *Planta* 229, 1281-1292.

Asano T, Hayashi N, Kikuchi S, Ohsugi R. 2012. CDPK-mediated abiotic stress signaling. *Plant Signal Behav* 7, 817-821.

Ascenzi R, Gantt JS. 1997. A drought-stress-inducible histone gene in Arabidopsis thaliana is a member of a distinct class of plant linker histone variants. *Plant Mol Biol* 34, 629-641.

Aubert D, Chen L, Moon YH, Martin D, Castle LA, Yang CH, Sung ZR. 2001. EMF1, a novel protein involved in the control of shoot architecture and flowering in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 13, 1865-1875.

Badeaux AI, Shi Y. 2013. Emerging roles for chromatin as a signal integration and storage platform. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 14, 211-224.

Baek D, Jiang J, Chung JS, Wang B, Chen J, Xin Z, Shi H. 2011. Regulated AtHKT1 gene expression by a distal enhancer element and DNA methylation in the promoter plays an important role in salt tolerance. *Plant Cell Physiol* 52, 149-161.

Bannister AJ, Kouzarides T. 2011. Regulation of chromatin by histone modifications. *Cell Res* 21, 381-395.

Battisti D. 2009. Historical warnings of future food insecurity with unprecedented seasonal heat. *Science* 323, 240.

Becker C, Weigel D. 2012. Epigenetic variation: origin and transgenerational inheritance. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 15, 562-567.

Beh LY, Colwell LJ, Francis NJ. 2012. A core subunit of Polycomb repressive complex 1 is broadly conserved in function but not primary sequence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109, E1063-1071.

Bell O, Tiwari VK, Thoma NH, Schubeler D. 2011. Determinants and dynamics of genome accessibility. *Nat Rev Genet* 12, 554-564.

Bennett E, Roberts JA, Wagstaff C. 2012. Manipulating resource allocation in plants. *J Exp Bot* 63, 3391-3400.

Bensmihen S, Rippa S, Lambert G, Jublot D, Pautot V, Granier F, Giraudat J, Parcy F. 2002. The homologous ABI5 and EEL transcription factors function antagonistically to fine-tune gene expression during late embryogenesis. *The Plant Cell Online* 14, 1391.

Bewley JD. 1997. Seed Germination and Dormancy. Plant Cell 9, 1055-1066.

Bezhani S, Winter C, Hershman S, Wagner JD, Kennedy JF, Kwon CS, Pfluger J, Su Y, Wagner D. 2007. Unique, shared, and redundant roles for the Arabidopsis SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling ATPases BRAHMA and SPLAYED. *Plant Cell* 19, 403-416.

Bilichak A, Ilnystkyy Y, Hollunder J, Kovalchuk I. 2012. The progeny of Arabidopsis thaliana plants exposed to salt exhibit changes in DNA methylation, histone modifications and gene expression. *PLoS One* 7, e30515.

Bourachot B, Yaniv M, Muchardt C. 2003. Growth inhibition by the mammalian SWI-SNF subunit Brm is regulated by acetylation. *EMBO J* 22, 6505-6515.

Bouyer D, Roudier F, Heese M, Andersen ED, Gey D, Nowack MK, Goodrich J, Renou JP, Grini PE, Colot V, Schnittger A. 2011. Polycomb repressive complex 2 controls the embryo-to-seedling phase transition. *PLoS Genet* 7, e1002014.

Boyer JS. 1982. Plant productivity and environment. Science 218, 443.

Boyko A, Kovalchuk I. 2011. Genome instability and epigenetic modification--heritable responses to environmental stress? *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 14, 260-266.

Brocard IM, Lynch TJ, Finkelstein RR. 2002. Regulation and role of the Arabidopsis abscisic acid-insensitive 5 gene in abscisic acid, sugar, and stress response. *Plant Physiol* 129, 1533-1543.

Bruce TJA, Matthes MC, Napier JA, Pickett JA. 2007. Stressful "memories" of plants: Evidence and possible mechanisms. *Plant Science* 173, 603-608.

Brzeski J, Podstolski W, Olczak K, Jerzmanowski A. 1999. Identification and analysis of the Arabidopsis thaliana BSH gene, a member of the SNF5 gene family. *Nucleic Acids Res* 27, 2393-2399.

Burgess RJ, Zhang Z. 2013. Histone chaperones in nucleosome assembly and human disease. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 20, 14-22.

Cairns BR. 2009. The logic of chromatin architecture and remodelling at promoters. *Nature* 461, 193-198.

Calonje M, Sanchez R, Chen L, Sung ZR. 2008. EMBRYONIC FLOWER1 participates in polycomb group-mediated AG gene silencing in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 20, 277-291.

Carles CC, Fletcher JC. 2009. The SAND domain protein ULTRAPETALA1 acts as a trithorax group factor to regulate cell fate in plants. *Genes Dev* 23, 2723-2728.

Cha TL, Zhou BP, Xia W, Wu Y, Yang CC, Chen CT, Ping B, Otte AP, Hung MC. 2005. Akt-mediated phosphorylation of EZH2 suppresses methylation of lysine 27 in histone H3. *Science* 310, 306-310.

Chan SW, Henderson IR, Jacobsen SE. 2005. Gardening the genome: DNA methylation in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Nat Rev Genet* 6, 351-360.

Chaves MM, Flexas J, Pinheiro C. 2009. Photosynthesis under drought and salt stress: regulation mechanisms from whole plant to cell. *Ann Bot* 103, 551-560.

Chen H, Lai Z, Shi J, Xiao Y, Chen Z, Xu X. 2010a. Roles of arabidopsis WRKY18, WRKY40 and WRKY60 transcription factors in plant responses to abscisic acid and abiotic stress. *BMC Plant Biol* 10, 281.

Chen H, Zhang J, Neff MM, Hong SW, Zhang H, Deng XW, Xiong L. 2008. Integration of light and abscisic acid signaling during seed germination and early seedling development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105, 4495.

Chen LT, Luo M, Wang YY, Wu K. 2010b. Involvement of Arabidopsis histone deacetylase HDA6 in ABA and salt stress response. *J Exp Bot* 61, 3345-3353.

Chen LT, Wu K. 2010. Role of histone deacetylases HDA6 and HDA19 in ABA and abiotic stress response. *Plant Signal Behav* 5, 1318-1320.

Chinnusamy V, Gong Z, Zhu JK. 2008. Abscisic acid-mediated epigenetic processes in plant development and stress responses. *J Integr Plant Biol* 50, 1187-1195.

Chinnusamy V, Zhu JK. 2009. Epigenetic regulation of stress responses in plants. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 12, 133-139.

Chodavarapu RK, Feng S, Bernatavichute YV, Chen PY, Stroud H, Yu Y, Hetzel JA, Kuo F, Kim J, Cokus SJ. 2010. Relationship between nucleosome positioning and DNA methylation. *Nature* 466, 388-392.

Clapier CR, Cairns BR. 2009. The biology of chromatin remodeling complexes. *Annu Rev Biochem* 78, 273-304.

Colaneri AC, Jones AM. 2013. Genome-wide quantitative identification of DNA differentially methylated sites in arabidopsis seedlings growing at different water potential. *PLoS One* 8, e59878.

Coleman-Derr D, Zilberman D. 2012. Deposition of histone variant H2A.Z within gene bodies regulates responsive genes. *PLoS Genet* 8, e1002988.

Cominelli E, Tonelli C. 2010. Transgenic crops coping with water scarcity. *New biotechnology* 27, 473-477.

Conaway RC, Conaway JW. 2009. The INO80 chromatin remodeling complex in transcription, replication and repair. *Trends Biochem Sci* 34, 71-77.

Conrath U. 2011. Molecular aspects of defence priming. Trends Plant Sci 16, 524-531.

Costas C, de la Paz Sanchez M, Stroud H, Yu Y, Oliveros JC, Feng S, Benguria A, Lopez-Vidriero I, Zhang X, Solano R, Jacobsen SE, Gutierrez C. 2011. Genome-wide mapping of Arabidopsis thaliana origins of DNA replication and their associated epigenetic marks. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 18, 395-400.

Cramer G, Urano K, Delrot S, Pezzotti M, Shinozaki K. 2011. Effects of abiotic stress on plants: a systems biology perspective. *BMC Plant Biol* 11, 163.

Cutler SR, Rodriguez PL, Finkelstein RR, Abrams SR. 2010. Abscisic acid: emergence of a core signaling network. *Annu Rev Plant Biol* 61, 651-679.

Dean Rider S, Jr., Henderson JT, Jerome RE, Edenberg HJ, Romero-Severson J, Ogas J. 2003. Coordinate repression of regulators of embryonic identity by PICKLE during germination in Arabidopsis. *Plant J* 35, 33-43.

Deng X, Gu L, Liu C, Lu T, Lu F, Lu Z, Cui P, Pei Y, Wang B, Hu S, Cao X. 2010. Arginine methylation mediated by the Arabidopsis homolog of PRMT5 is essential for proper pre-mRNA splicing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107, 19114-19119. Denslow SA, Wade PA. 2007. The human Mi-2/NuRD complex and gene regulation. *Oncogene* 26, 5433-5438.

Des Marais DL, Juenger TE. 2010. Pleiotropy, plasticity, and the evolution of plant abiotic stress tolerance. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1206, 56-79.

Ding Y, Avramova Z, Fromm M. 2011. The Arabidopsis trithorax-like factor ATX1 functions in dehydration stress responses via ABA-dependent and ABA-independent pathways. *Plant J* 66, 735-744.

Draghi JA, Whitlock MC. 2012. Phenotypic plasticity facilitates mutational variance, genetic variance, and evolvability along the major axis of environmental variation. *Evolution* 66, 2891-2902.

Du Z, Zhou X, Ling Y, Zhang Z, Su Z. 2010. agriGO: a GO analysis toolkit for the agricultural community. *Nucleic Acids Res* 38, W64.

Efroni I, Han SK, Kim HJ, Wu MF, Steiner E, Birnbaum KD, Hong JC, Eshed Y, Wagner D. 2013. Regulation of leaf maturation by chromatin-mediated modulation of cytokinin responses. *Dev Cell* 24, 438-445.

Esteve PO, Chang YQ, Samaranayake M, Upadhyay AK, Horton JR, Feehery GR, Cheng XD, Pradhan S. 2011. A methylation and phosphorylation switch between an adjacent lysine and serine determines human DNMT1 stability. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 18, 42-+.

Euskirchen GM, Auerbach RK, Davidov E, Gianoulis TA, Zhong G, Rozowsky J, Bhardwaj N, Gerstein MB, Snyder M. 2011. Diverse Roles and Interactions of the SWI/SNF Chromatin Remodeling Complex Revealed Using Global Approaches. *PLoS Genet* 7, e1002008.

Farrona S, Hurtado L, Bowman JL, Reyes JC. 2004. The Arabidopsis thaliana SNF2 homolog AtBRM controls shoot development and flowering. *Development* 131, 4965-4975.

Farrona S, Hurtado L, March-Díaz R, Schmitz RJ, Florencio FJ, Turck F, Amasino RM, Reyes JC. 2011. Brahma Is Required for Proper Expression of the Floral Repressor FLC in Arabidopsis. *PLoS One* 6, e17997.

Farrona S, Hurtado L, Reyes JC. 2007. A nucleosome interaction module is required for normal function of Arabidopsis thaliana BRAHMA. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 373, 240-250.

Finkelstein R, Gampala SSL, Lynch TJ, Thomas TL, Rock CD. 2005. Redundant and distinct functions of the ABA response loci ABA-INSENSITIVE (ABI) 5 and ABRE-BINDING FACTOR (ABF) 3. *Plant Mol Biol* 59, 253-267. Finkelstein R, Reeves W, Ariizumi T, Steber C. 2008. Molecular aspects of seed dormancy. *Annu Rev Plant Biol* 59, 387-415.

Finkelstein RR. 1994. Mutations at 2 New Arabidopsis Aba Response Loci Are Similar to the Abi3 Mutations. *Plant Journal* 5, 765-771.

Finkelstein RR, Lynch TJ. 2000. The Arabidopsis abscisic acid response gene ABI5 encodes a basic leucine zipper transcription factor. *Plant Cell* 12, 599-609.

Flaus A, Martin D, Barton GJ, Owen-Hughes T. 2006. Identification of multiple distinct Snf2 subfamilies with conserved structural motifs. *Nucleic Acids Res* 34, 2887.

Follmer NE, Wani AH, Francis NJ. 2012. A Polycomb Group Protein Is Retained at Specific Sites on Chromatin in Mitosis. *PLoS Genet* 8.

Fonseca JP, Steffen PA, Muller S, Lu J, Sawicka A, Seiser C, Ringrose L. 2012. In vivo Polycomb kinetics and mitotic chromatin binding distinguish stem cells from differentiated cells. *Genes Dev* 26, 857-871.

Forcales SV, Albini S, Giordani L, Malecova B, Cignolo L, Chernov A, Coutinho P, Saccone V, Consalvi S, Williams R, Wang KP, Wu ZG, Baranovskaya S, Miller A, Dilworth FJ, Puri PL. 2012. Signal-dependent incorporation of MyoD-BAF60c into Brg1-based SWI/SNF chromatin-remodelling complex. *Embo Journal* 31, 301-316.

Fu YL, Zhang GB, Lv XF, Guan Y, Yi HY, Gong JM. 2013. Arabidopsis Histone Methylase CAU1/PRMT5/SKB1 Acts as an Epigenetic Suppressor of the Calcium Signaling Gene CAS to Mediate Stomatal Closure in Response to Extracellular Calcium. *Plant Cell*.

Fujita Y, Fujita M, Satoh R, Maruyama K, Parvez MM, Seki M, Hiratsu K, Ohme-Takagi M, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. 2005. AREB1 is a transcription activator of novel ABRE-dependent ABA signaling that enhances drought stress tolerance in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 17, 3470-3488.

Fujita Y, Fujita M, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. 2011. ABA-mediated transcriptional regulation in response to osmotic stress in plants. *Journal of Plant Research*, 1-17.

Fyodorov DV, Blower MD, Karpen GH, Kadonaga JT. 2004. Acf1 confers unique activities to ACF/CHRAC and promotes the formation rather than disruption of chromatin in vivo. *Genes Dev* 18, 170-183.

Galbiati M, Simoni L, Pavesi G, Cominelli E, Francia P, Vavasseur A, Nelson T, Bevan M, Tonelli C. 2008. Gene trap lines identify Arabidopsis genes expressed in stomatal guard cells. *Plant J* 53, 750-762.

Galisson F, Mahrouche L, Courcelles M, Bonneil E, Meloche S, Chelbi-Alix MK, Thibault P. 2011. A novel proteomics approach to identify SUMOylated proteins and their modification sites in human cells. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 10, M110 004796.

Gévry N, Svotelis A, Larochelle M, Gaudreau L. 2009. Nucleosome mapping. *Methods Mol Biol* 543, 281-291.

Gil-Quintana E, Larrainzar E, Seminario A, Diaz-Leal JL, Alamillo JM, Pineda M, Arrese-Igor C, Wienkoop S, Gonzalez EM. 2013. Local inhibition of nitrogen fixation and nodule metabolism in drought-stressed soybean. *J Exp Bot* 64, 2171-2182.

Giraudat J, Hauge BM, Valon C, Smalle J, Parcy F, Goodman HM. 1992. Isolation of the Arabidopsis ABI3 gene by positional cloning. *Plant Cell* 4, 1251-1261.

Gkikopoulos T, Schofield P, Singh V, Pinskaya M, Mellor J, Smolle M, Workman JL, Barton GJ, Owen-Hughes T. 2011. A role for Snf2-related nucleosome-spacing enzymes in genome-wide nucleosome organization. *Science* 333, 1758-1760.

Goll MG, Bestor TH. 2005. Eukaryotic cytosine methyltransferases. *Annu Rev Biochem* 74, 481-514.

Gómez-Porras J, Riaño-Pachón D, Dreyer I, Mayer J, Mueller-Roeber B. 2007. Genomewide analysis of ABA-responsive elements ABRE and CE3 reveals divergent patterns in Arabidopsis and rice. *BMC genomics* 8, 260.

Gonzalez-Guzman M, Pizzio GA, Antoni R, Vera-Sirera F, Merilo E, Bassel GW, Fernandez MA, Holdsworth MJ, Perez-Amador MA, Kollist H, Rodriguez PL. 2012. Arabidopsis PYR/PYL/RCAR receptors play a major role in quantitative regulation of stomatal aperture and transcriptional response to abscisic acid. *Plant Cell* 24, 2483-2496.

Gosti F. 1999. ABI1 Protein Phosphatase 2C Is a Negative Regulator of Abscisic Acid Signaling. *The Plant Cell Online* 11, 1897-1910.

Gosti F, Beaudoin N, Serizet C, Webb AA, Vartanian N, Giraudat J. 1999. ABI1 protein phosphatase 2C is a negative regulator of abscisic acid signaling. *Plant Cell* 11, 1897-1910.

Grill E, Ziegler H. 1998. A plant's dilemma. Science 282, 252.

Grossniklaus U, Kelly B, Ferguson-Smith AC, Pembrey M, Lindquist S. 2013. Transgenerational epigenetic inheritance: how important is it? *Nat Rev Genet* 14, 228-235.

Gutzat R, Borghi L, Futterer J, Bischof S, Laizet Y, Hennig L, Feil R, Lunn J, Gruissem W. 2011. RETINOBLASTOMA-RELATED PROTEIN controls the transition to autotrophic plant development. *Development* 138, 2977-2986.

Gutzat R, Mittelsten Scheid O. 2012. Epigenetic responses to stress: triple defense? *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 15, 568-573.

Han SK, Sang Y, Rodrigues A, Biol F, Wu MF, Rodriguez PL, Wagner D. 2012. The SWI2/SNF2 chromatin remodeling ATPase BRAHMA represses abscisic acid responses in the absence of the stress stimulus in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 24, 4892-4906.

Hargreaves DC, Crabtree GR. 2011. ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling: genetics, genomics and mechanisms. *Cell Res* 21, 396-420.

Hauk G, McKnight JN, Nodelman IM, Bowman GD. 2010. The chromodomains of the Chd1 chromatin remodeler regulate DNA access to the ATPase motor. *Molecular Cell* 39, 711-723.

Hauser MT, Aufsatz W, Jonak C, Luschnig C. 2011. Transgenerational epigenetic inheritance in plants. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1809, 459-468.

Henderson JT, Li HC, Rider SD, Mordhorst AP, Romero-Severson J, Cheng JC, Robey J, Sung ZR, de Vries SC, Ogas J. 2004. PICKLE acts throughout the plant to repress expression of embryonic traits and may play a role in gibberellin-dependent responses. *Plant Physiol* 134, 995-1005.

Hirschhorn JN, Brown SA, Clark CD, Winston F. 1992. Evidence that SNF2/SWI2 and SNF5 activate transcription in yeast by altering chromatin structure. *Genes Dev* 6, 2288-2298.

Ho KK, Zhang H, Golden BL, Ogas J. 2013. PICKLE is a CHD subfamily II ATPdependent chromatin remodeling factor. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1829, 199-210.

Ho L, Jothi R, Ronan JL, Cui K, Zhao K, Crabtree GR. 2009. An embryonic stem cell chromatin remodeling complex, esBAF, is an essential component of the core pluripotency transcriptional network. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106, 5187.

Holec S, Berger F. 2012. Polycomb group complexes mediate developmental transitions in plants. *Plant Physiol* 158, 35-43.

Hong S, Song HR, Lutz K, Kerstetter RA, Michael TP, McClung CR. 2010. Type II protein arginine methyltransferase 5 (PRMT5) is required for circadian period determination in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107, 21211-21216.

Hu Y, Zhu N, Wang X, Yi Q, Zhu D, Lai Y, Zhao Y. 2013. Analysis of rice Snf2 family proteins and their potential roles in epigenetic regulation. *Plant Physiol Biochem* 70, 33-42.

Huanca-Mamani W, Garcia-Aguilar M, Leon-Martinez G, Grossniklaus U, Vielle-Calzada JP. 2005. CHR11, a chromatin-remodeling factor essential for nuclear proliferation during female gametogenesis in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102, 17231-17236.

Hubbard KE, Nishimura N, Hitomi K, Getzoff ED, Schroeder JI. 2010. Early abscisic acid signal transduction mechanisms: newly discovered components and newly emerging questions. *Genes Dev* 24, 1695-1708.

Hubner MR, Eckersley-Maslin MA, Spector DL. 2013. Chromatin organization and transcriptional regulation. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* 23, 89-95.

Hurtado L, Farrona S, Reyes JC. 2006. The putative SWI/SNF complex subunit BRAHMA activates flower homeotic genes in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant Mol Biol* 62, 291-304.

Jegu T, Latrasse D, Delarue M, Hirt H, Domenichini S, Ariel F, Crespi M, Bergounioux C, Raynaud C, Benhamed M. 2014. The BAF60 subunit of the SWI/SNF chromatinremodeling complex directly controls the formation of a gene loop at FLOWERING LOCUS C in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 26, 538-551.

Jerzmanowski A. 2007. SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling and linker histones in plants. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1769, 330-345.

Jing Y, Zhang D, Wang X, Tang W, Wang W, Huai J, Xu G, Chen D, Li Y, Lin R. 2013. Arabidopsis chromatin remodeling factor PICKLE interacts with transcription factor HY5 to regulate hypocotyl cell elongation. *Plant Cell* 25, 242-256.

Johnson DG, Dent SY. 2013. Chromatin: receiver and quarterback for cellular signals. *Cell* 152, 685-689.

Johnson LM, Cao X, Jacobsen SE. 2002. Interplay between Two Epigenetic Marks:: DNA Methylation and Histone H3 Lysine 9 Methylation. *Current Biology* 12, 1360-1367.

Jones PA. 2012. Functions of DNA methylation: islands, start sites, gene bodies and beyond. *Nat Rev Genet* 13, 484-492.

Kang J, Choi H, Im M, Kim SY. 2002. Arabidopsis basic leucine zipper proteins that mediate stress-responsive abscisic acid signaling. *The Plant Cell Online* 14, 343.

Kapazoglou A, Tondelli A, Papaefthimiou D, Ampatzidou H, Francia E, Stanca MA, Bladenopoulos K, Tsaftaris AS. 2010. Epigenetic chromatin modifiers in barley: IV. The study of barley polycomb group (PcG) genes during seed development and in response to external ABA. *BMC Plant Biol* 10, 73.

Kaplan N, Moore IK, Fondufe-Mittendorf Y, Gossett AJ, Tillo D, Field Y, LeProust EM, Hughes TR, Lieb JD, Widom J. 2008. The DNA-encoded nucleosome organization of a eukaryotic genome. *Nature* 458, 362-366.

Kasuga M, Liu Q, Miura S, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K. 1999. Improving plant drought, salt, and freezing tolerance by gene transfer of a single stress-inducible transcription factor. *Nat Biotechnol* 17, 287-291.

Kim JM, To TK, Ishida J, Matsui A, Kimura H, Seki M. 2012a. Transition of chromatin status during the process of recovery from drought stress in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant Cell Physiol* 53, 847-856.

Kim JM, To TK, Ishida J, Morosawa T, Kawashima M, Matsui A, Toyoda T, Kimura H, Shinozaki K, Seki M. 2008. Alterations of lysine modifications on the histone H3 N-tail under drought stress conditions in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant Cell Physiol* 49, 1580-1588.

Kim JM, To TK, Nishioka T, Seki M. 2010a. Chromatin regulation functions in plant abiotic stress responses. *Plant Cell Environ* 33, 604-611.

Kim SY, Lee J, Eshed-Williams L, Zilberman D, Sung ZR. 2012b. EMF1 and PRC2 cooperate to repress key regulators of Arabidopsis development. *PLoS Genet* 8, e1002512.

Kim SY, Zhu T, Sung ZR. 2010b. Epigenetic regulation of gene programs by EMF1 and EMF2 in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol* 152, 516-528.

Knizewski L, Ginalski K, Jerzmanowski A. 2008. Snf2 proteins in plants: gene silencing and beyond. *Trends Plant Sci* 13, 557-565.

Konev AY, Tribus M, Park SY, Podhraski V, Lim CY, Emelyanov AV, Vershilova E, Pirrotta V, Kadonaga JT, Lusser A, Fyodorov DV. 2007. CHD1 motor protein is required for deposition of histone variant H3.3 into chromatin in vivo. *Science* 317, 1087-1090.

Koornneef M, Reuling G, Karssen CM. 1984. The Isolation and Characterization of Abscisic-Acid Insensitive Mutants of Arabidopsis-Thaliana. *Physiologia Plantarum* 61, 377-383.

Kumar SV, Wigge PA. 2010. H2A. Z-containing nucleosomes mediate the thermosensory response in Arabidopsis. *Cell* 140, 136-147. Kwon CS, Chen C, Wagner D. 2005. WUSCHEL is a primary target for transcriptional regulation by SPLAYED in dynamic control of stem cell fate in Arabidopsis. *Genes Dev* 19, 992.

Kwon CS, Hibara K, Pfluger J, Bezhani S, Metha H, Aida M, Tasaka M, Wagner D. 2006. A role for chromatin remodeling in regulation of CUC gene expression in the Arabidopsis cotyledon boundary. *Development* 133, 3223-3230.

Kwon CS, Wagner D. 2007. Unwinding chromatin for development and growth: a few genes at a time. *Trends Genet* 23, 403-412.

Lanzuolo C, Lo Sardo F, Diamantini A, Orlando V. 2011. PcG complexes set the stage for epigenetic inheritance of gene silencing in early S phase before replication. *PLoS Genet* 7, e1002370.

Law JA, Jacobsen SE. 2010. Establishing, maintaining and modifying DNA methylation patterns in plants and animals. *Nat Rev Genet* 11, 204-220.

Lengsfeld BM, Berry KN, Ghosh S, Takahashi M, Francis NJ. 2012. A Polycomb complex remains bound through DNA replication in the absence of other eukaryotic proteins. *Scientific Reports* 2.

Less H, Angelovici R, Tzin V, Galili G. 2011. Coordinated gene networks regulating Arabidopsis plant metabolism in response to various stresses and nutritional cues. *Plant Cell* 23, 1264-1271.

Li B, Carey M, Workman JL. 2007. The role of chromatin during transcription. *Cell* 128, 707-719.

Li WX, Oono Y, Zhu J, He XJ, Wu JM, Iida K, Lu XY, Cui X, Jin H, Zhu JK. 2008. The Arabidopsis NFYA5 transcription factor is regulated transcriptionally and posttranscriptionally to promote drought resistance. *The Plant Cell Online* 20, 2238.

Lichtenthaler HK. 1998. The stress concept in plants: an introduction. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 851, 187-198.

Lira-Medeiros CF, Parisod C, Fernandes RA, Mata CS, Cardoso MA, Ferreira PC. 2010. Epigenetic variation in mangrove plants occurring in contrasting natural environment. *PLoS One* 5, e10326.

Lo SM, Follmer NE, Lengsfeld BM, Madamba EV, Seong S, Grau DJ, Francis NJ. 2012. A bridging model for persistence of a polycomb group protein complex through DNA replication in vitro. *Molecular Cell* 46, 784-796.

Lopez-Molina L, Chua NH. 2000. A null mutation in a bZIP factor confers ABAinsensitivity in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant Cell Physiol* 41, 541-547. Lopez-Molina L, Mongrand S, Chua NH. 2001. A postgermination developmental arrest checkpoint is mediated by abscisic acid and requires the ABI5 transcription factor in Arabidopsis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98, 4782-4787. Lopez-Molina L, Mongrand S, Kinoshita N, Chua NH. 2003. AFP is a novel negative regulator of ABA signaling that promotes ABI5 protein degradation. *Genes Dev* 17, 410-418.

Lopez-Molina L, Mongrand S, McLachlin DT, Chait BT, Chua NH. 2002. ABI5 acts downstream of ABI3 to execute an ABA-dependent growth arrest during germination. *Plant J* 32, 317-328.

Loyola A, Huang JY, LeRoy G, Hu S, Wang YH, Donnelly RJ, Lane WS, Lee SC, Reinberg D. 2003. Functional analysis of the subunits of the chromatin assembly factor RSF. *Mol Cell Biol* 23, 6759-6768.

Luger K, Mader AW, Richmond RK, Sargent DF, Richmond TJ. 1997. Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution. *Nature* 389, 251-260.

Luo M, Wang YY, Liu X, Yang S, Lu Q, Cui Y, Wu K. 2012. HD2C interacts with HDA6 and is involved in ABA and salt stress response in Arabidopsis. *J Exp Bot* 63, 3297-3306.

Ma Y, Szostkiewicz I, Korte A, Moes D, Yang Y, Christmann A, Grill E. 2009. Regulators of PP2C phosphatase activity function as abscisic acid sensors. *Science* 324, 1064-1068.

Mangan S, Alon U. 2003. Structure and function of the feed-forward loop network motif. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100, 11980-11985.

Martens JA, Winston F. 2003. Recent advances in understanding chromatin remodeling by Swi/Snf complexes. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* 13, 136-142.

Merlot S, Gosti F, Guerrier D, Vavasseur A, Giraudat J. 2001. The ABI1 and ABI2 protein phosphatases 2C act in a negative feedback regulatory loop of the abscisic acid signalling pathway. *Plant J* 25, 295-303.

Mirouze M, Paszkowski J. 2011. Epigenetic contribution to stress adaptation in plants. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 14, 267-274.

Mittler R, Blumwald E. 2010. Genetic engineering for modern agriculture: challenges and perspectives. *Annu Rev Plant Biol* 61, 443-462.

Miura K, Lee J, Jin JB, Yoo CY, Miura T, Hasegawa PM. 2009. Sumoylation of ABI5 by the Arabidopsis SUMO E3 ligase SIZ1 negatively regulates abscisic acid signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106, 5418. Mizoguchi M, Umezawa T, Nakashima K, Kidokoro S, Takasaki H, Fujita Y, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K. 2010. Two closely related subclass II SnRK2 protein kinases cooperatively regulate drought-inducible gene expression. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 51, 842. Mizuguchi G, Shen X, Landry J, Wu WH, Sen S, Wu C. 2004. ATP-driven exchange of histone H2AZ variant catalyzed by SWR1 chromatin remodeling complex. *Science* 303, 343.

Mlynarova L, Nap JP, Bisseling T. 2007. The SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling gene AtCHR12 mediates temporary growth arrest in Arabidopsis thaliana upon perceiving environmental stress. *Plant J* 51, 874-885.

Morillon A, Karabetsou N, O'Sullivan J, Kent N, Proudfoot N, Mellor J. 2003. Isw1 chromatin remodeling ATPase coordinates transcription elongation and termination by RNA polymerase II. *Cell* 115, 425-435.

Müller K, Tintelnot S, Leubner-Metzger G. 2006. Endosperm-limited Brassicaceae seed germination: abscisic acid inhibits embryo-induced endosperm weakening of Lepidium sativum (cress) and endosperm rupture of cress and Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 47, 864.

Nakashima K, Fujita Y, Kanamori N, Katagiri T, Umezawa T, Kidokoro S, Maruyama K, Yoshida T, Ishiyama K, Kobayashi M. 2009. Three Arabidopsis SnRK2 protein kinases, SRK2D/SnRK2. 2, SRK2E/SnRK2. 6/OST1 and SRK2I/SnRK2. 3, involved in ABA signaling are essential for the control of seed development and dormancy. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 50, 1345.

Nakashima K, Fujita Y, Katsura K, Maruyama K, Narusaka Y, Seki M, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. 2006. Transcriptional regulation of ABI3- and ABA-responsive genes including RD29B and RD29A in seeds, germinating embryos, and seedlings of Arabidopsis. *Plant Mol Biol* 60, 51-68.

Nambara E, Hayama R, Tsuchiya Y, Nishimura M, Kawaide H, Kamiya Y, Naito S. 2000. The role of ABI3 and FUS3 loci in Arabidopsis thaliana on phase transition from late embryo development to germination. *Dev Biol* 220, 412-423.

Nambara E, Marion-Poll A. 2005. Abscisic acid biosynthesis and catabolism. *Annu Rev Plant Biol* 56, 165-185.

Nambara E, Suzuki M, Abrams S, McCarty DR, Kamiya Y, McCourt P. 2002. A screen for genes that function in abscisic acid signaling in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Genetics* 161, 1247-1255.

Narlikar GJ, Sundaramoorthy R, Owen-Hughes T. 2013. Mechanisms and Functions of ATP-Dependent Chromatin-Remodeling Enzymes. *Cell* 154, 490-503. Ndamukong I, Jones DR, Lapko H, Divecha N, Avramova Z. 2010. Phosphatidylinositol 5-phosphate links dehydration stress to the activity of ARABIDOPSIS TRITHORAX-LIKE factor ATX1. *PLoS One* 5, e13396.

Ng DW, Chandrasekharan MB, Hall TC. 2006. Ordered histone modifications are associated with transcriptional poising and activation of the phaseolin promoter. *Plant Cell* 18, 119-132.

Ng HH, Robert F, Young RA, Struhl K. 2003. Targeted recruitment of set1 histone methylase by elongating pol II provides a localized mark and memory of recent transcriptional activity. *Molecular Cell* 11, 709-719.

Ogas J, Kaufmann S, Henderson J, Somerville C. 1999. PICKLE is a CHD3 chromatinremodeling factor that regulates the transition from embryonic to vegetative development in Arabidopsis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96, 13839-13844.

Papamichos-Chronakis M, Watanabe S, Rando OJ, Peterson CL. 2011. Global regulation of H2A.Z localization by the INO80 chromatin-remodeling enzyme is essential for genome integrity. *Cell* 144, 200-213.

Parcy F, Giraudat J. 1997. Interactions between the ABI1 and the ectopically expressed ABI3 genes in controlling abscisic acid responses in Arabidopsis vegetative tissues. *Plant Journal* 11, 693-702.

Parcy F, Valon C, Raynal M, Gaubier-Comella P, Delseny M, Giraudat J. 1994. Regulation of gene expression programs during Arabidopsis seed development: roles of the ABI3 locus and of endogenous abscisic acid. *Plant Cell* 6, 1567-1582.

Park SY, Fung P, Nishimura N, Jensen DR, Fujii H, Zhao Y, Lumba S, Santiago J, Rodrigues A, Chow TF. 2009. Abscisic acid inhibits type 2C protein phosphatases via the PYR/PYL family of START proteins. *Science* 324, 1068.

Pastore JJ, Limpuangthip A, Yamaguchi N, Wu MF, Sang Y, Han SK, Malaspina L, Chavdaroff N, Yamaguchi A, Wagner D. 2011. LATE MERISTEM IDENTITY2 acts together with LEAFY to activate APETALA1. *Development* 138, 3189.

Paszkowski J, Grossniklaus U. 2011. Selected aspects of transgenerational epigenetic inheritance and resetting in plants. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 14, 195-203.

Patel DJ, Wang Z. 2013. Readout of epigenetic modifications. *Annu Rev Biochem* 82, 81-118.

Perruc E, Kinoshita N, Lopez-Molina L. 2007. The role of chromatin-remodeling factor PKL in balancing osmotic stress responses during Arabidopsis seed germination. *Plant J* 52, 927-936.

Petesch SJ, Lis JT. 2012. Overcoming the nucleosome barrier during transcript elongation. *Trends Genet* 28, 285-294.

Petruk S, Sedkov Y, Johnston DM, Hodgson JW, Black KL, Kovermann SK, Beck S, Canaani E, Brock HW, Mazo A. 2012. TrxG and PcG proteins but not methylated histones remain associated with DNA through replication. *Cell* 150, 922-933.

Phelan ML, Schnitzler GR, Kingston RE. 2000. Octamer transfer and creation of stably remodeled nucleosomes by human SWI-SNF and its isolated ATPases. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 6380-6389.

Phelan ML, Sif S, Narlikar GJ, Kingston RE. 1999. Reconstitution of a core chromatin remodeling complex from SWI/SNF subunits. *Molecular Cell* 3, 247-253.

Pu L, Liu MS, Kim SY, Chen LF, Fletcher JC, Sung ZR. 2013. EMBRYONIC FLOWER1 and ULTRAPETALA1 Act Antagonistically on Arabidopsis Development and Stress Response. *Plant Physiol* 162, 812-830.

Radman-Livaja M, Rando OJ. 2010. Nucleosome positioning: How is it established, and why does it matter? *Developmental biology* 339, 258-266.

Rafati H, Parra M, Hakre S, Moshkin Y, Verdin E, Mahmoudi T. 2011. Repressive LTR nucleosome positioning by the BAF complex is required for HIV latency. *PLoS Biol* 9, e1001206.

Raghavendra AS, Gonugunta VK, Christmann A, Grill E. 2010. ABA perception and signalling. *Trends Plant Sci* 15, 395-401.

Reinders J, Wulff BB, Mirouze M, Mari-Ordonez A, Dapp M, Rozhon W, Bucher E, Theiler G, Paszkowski J. 2009. Compromised stability of DNA methylation and transposon immobilization in mosaic Arabidopsis epigenomes. *Genes Dev* 23, 939-950.

Rodrigues A, Santiago J, Rubio S, Saez A, Osmont KS, Gadea J, Hardtke CS, Rodriguez PL. 2009. The short-rooted phenotype of the brevis radix mutant partly reflects root abscisic acid hypersensitivity. *Plant Physiol* 149, 1917-1928.

Roux F, Colome-Tatche M, Edelist C, Wardenaar R, Guerche P, Hospital F, Colot V, Jansen RC. 2011. Genome-Wide Epigenetic Perturbation Jump-Starts Patterns of Heritable Variation Found in Nature. *Genetics* 188, 1015-U1402.

Rubio S, Rodrigues A, Saez A, Dizon MB, Galle A, Kim TH, Santiago J, Flexas J, Schroeder JI, Rodriguez PL. 2009. Triple loss of function of protein phosphatases type 2C leads to partial constitutive response to endogenous abscisic acid. *Plant Physiol* 150, 1345-1355.

Ryu H, Kim K, Cho H, Park J, Choe S, Hwang I. 2007. Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of BZR1 mediated by phosphorylation is essential in Arabidopsis brassinosteroid signaling. *Plant Cell* 19, 2749-2762.

Saez A, Apostolova N, Gonzalez-Guzman M, Gonzalez-Garcia MP, Nicolas C, Lorenzo O, Rodriguez PL. 2004. Gain-of-function and loss-of-function phenotypes of the protein phosphatase 2C HAB1 reveal its role as a negative regulator of abscisic acid signalling. *Plant J* 37, 354-369.

Saez A, Rodrigues A, Santiago J, Rubio S, Rodriguez PL. 2008. HAB1-SWI3B interaction reveals a link between abscisic acid signaling and putative SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complexes in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 20, 2972-2988.

Saha A, Wittmeyer J, Cairns BR. 2006. Chromatin remodelling: the industrial revolution of DNA around histones. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 7, 437-448.

Sahu PP, Pandey G, Sharma N, Puranik S, Muthamilarasan M, Prasad M. 2013. Epigenetic mechanisms of plant stress responses and adaptation. *Plant Cell Rep* 32, 1151-1159.

Sanchez SE, Petrillo E, Beckwith EJ, Zhang X, Rugnone ML, Hernando CE, Cuevas JC, Godoy Herz MA, Depetris-Chauvin A, Simpson CG, Brown JW, Cerdan PD, Borevitz JO, Mas P, Ceriani MF, Kornblihtt AR, Yanovsky MJ. 2010. A methyl transferase links the circadian clock to the regulation of alternative splicing. *Nature* 468, 112-116.

Sang Y, Silva-Ortega CO, Wu S, Yamaguchi N, Wu MF, Pfluger J, Gillmor CS, Gallagher KL, Wagner D. 2012. Mutations in two non-canonical Arabidopsis SWI2/SNF2 chromatin remodeling ATPases cause embryogenesis and stem cell maintenance defects. *Plant J*.

Sani E, Herzyk P, Perrella G, Colot V, Amtmann A. 2013. Hyperosmotic priming of Arabidopsis seedlings establishes a long-term somatic memory accompanied by specific changes of the epigenome. *Genome Biol* 14, R59.

Sarnowski TJ, Ríos G, Jásik J, Swiezewski S, Kaczanowski S, Li Y, Kwiatkowska A, Pawlikowska K, Kozbial M, Kozbial P. 2005. SWI3 subunits of putative SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complexes play distinct roles during Arabidopsis development. *The Plant Cell Online* 17, 2454.

Saze H, Tsugane K, Kanno T, Nishimura T. 2012. DNA methylation in plants: relationship to small RNAs and histone modifications, and functions in transposon inactivation. *Plant Cell Physiol* 53, 766-784.

Schermer UJ, Korber P, Horz W. 2005. Histones are incorporated in trans during reassembly of the yeast PHO5 promoter. *Molecular Cell* 19, 279-285. Schmitz RJ, He Y, Valdes-Lopez O, Khan SM, Joshi T, Urich MA, Nery JR, Diers B, Xu D, Stacey G, Ecker JR. 2013. Epigenome-wide inheritance of cytosine methylation variants in a recombinant inbred population. *Genome Res* 23, 1663-1674.

Schmitz RJ, Sung S, Amasino RM. 2008. Histone arginine methylation is required for vernalization-induced epigenetic silencing of FLC in winter-annual Arabidopsis thaliana. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105, 411-416.

Scippa GS, Di Michele M, Onelli E, Patrignani G, Chiatante D, Bray EA. 2004. The histone-like protein H1-S and the response of tomato leaves to water deficit. *J Exp Bot* 55, 99-109.

Scippa GS, Griffiths A, Chiatante D, Bray EA. 2000. The H1 histone variant of tomato, H1-S, is targeted to the nucleus and accumulates in chromatin in response to water-deficit stress. *Planta* 211, 173-181.

Servet C, Benhamed M, Latrasse D, Kim W, Delarue M, Zhou DX. 2008. Characterization of a phosphatase 2C protein as an interacting partner of the histone acetyltransferase GCN5 in Arabidopsis. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1779, 376-382.

Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. 2007. Gene networks involved in drought stress response and tolerance. *J Exp Bot* 58, 221-227.

Sif S, Stukenberg PT, Kirschner MW, Kingston RE. 1998. Mitotic inactivation of a human SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex. *Genes Dev* 12, 2842-2851.

Simon JA, Kingston RE. 2013. Occupying chromatin: Polycomb mechanisms for getting to genomic targets, stopping transcriptional traffic, and staying put. *Molecular Cell* 49, 808-824.

Simone C, Forcales SV, Hill DA, Imbalzano AN, Latella L, Puri PL. 2004. p38 pathway targets SWI-SNF chromatin-remodeling complex to muscle-specific loci. *Nat Genet* 36, 738-743.

Sirichandra C, Davanture M, Turk BE, Zivy M, Valot B, Leung J, Merlot S. 2010. The Arabidopsis ABA-activated kinase OST1 phosphorylates the bZIP transcription factor ABF3 and creates a 14-3-3 binding site involved in its turnover. *PLoS One* 5, e13935.

Skene PJ, Henikoff S. 2013. Histone variants in pluripotency and disease. *Development* 140, 2513-2524.

Skirycz A, Inze D. 2010. More from less: plant growth under limited water. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* 21, 197-203.

Soderman EM, Brocard IM, Lynch TJ, Finkelstein RR. 2000. Regulation and function of the Arabidopsis ABA-insensitive4 gene in seed and abscisic acid response signaling networks. *Plant Physiol* 124, 1752-1765.

Sokol A, Kwiatkowska A, Jerzmanowski A, Prymakowska-Bosak M. 2007. Upregulation of stress-inducible genes in tobacco and Arabidopsis cells in response to abiotic stresses and ABA treatment correlates with dynamic changes in histone H3 and H4 modifications. *Planta* 227, 245-254.

Song J, Angel A, Howard M, Dean C. 2012. Vernalization - a cold-induced epigenetic switch. *J Cell Sci* 125, 3723-3731.

Sreenivasulu N, Harshavardhan VT, Govind G, Seiler C, Kohli A. 2012. Contrapuntal role of ABA: does it mediate stress tolerance or plant growth retardation under long-term drought stress? *Gene* 506, 265-273.

Sridha S, Wu K. 2006. Identification of AtHD2C as a novel regulator of abscisic acid responses in Arabidopsis. *Plant J* 46, 124-133.

Sudarsanam P, Iyer VR, Brown PO, Winston F. 2000. Whole-genome expression analysis of snf/swi mutants of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97, 3364-3369.

Suganuma T, Workman JL. 2013. Chromatin and signaling. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 25, 322-326.

Talbert PB, Henikoff S. 2010. Histone variants--ancient wrap artists of the epigenome. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 11, 264-275.

Tanaka M, Kikuchi A, Kamada H. 2008. The Arabidopsis histone deacetylases HDA6 and HDA19 contribute to the repression of embryonic properties after germination. *Plant Physiol* 146, 149-161.

Tang X, Hou A, Babu M, Nguyen V, Hurtado L, Lu Q, Reyes JC, Wang A, Keller WA, Harada JJ, Tsang EW, Cui Y. 2008. The Arabidopsis BRAHMA chromatin-remodeling ATPase is involved in repression of seed maturation genes in leaves. *Plant Physiol* 147, 1143-1157.

Tardieu F. 2003. Virtual plants: modelling as a tool for the genomics of tolerance to water deficit. *Trends Plant Sci* 8, 9-14.

Tricker PJ, Gibbings JG, Rodriguez Lopez CM, Hadley P, Wilkinson MJ. 2012. Low relative humidity triggers RNA-directed de novo DNA methylation and suppression of genes controlling stomatal development. *J Exp Bot* 63, 3799-3813.

Tricker PJ, Lopez CM, Gibbings G, Hadley P, Wilkinson MJ. 2013. Transgenerational, dynamic methylation of stomata genes in response to low relative humidity. *Int J Mol Sci* 14, 6674-6689.

Trivedi I, Rai KM, Singh SK, Kumar V, Singh M, Ranjan A, Lodhi N, Sawant SV. 2012. Analysis of histones and histone variants in plants. *Methods Mol Biol* 833, 225-236.
Trotter KW, Archer TK. 2008. The BRG1 transcriptional coregulator. *Nuclear receptor signaling* 6.

Umezawa T, Nakashima K, Miyakawa T, Kuromori T, Tanokura M, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. 2010. Molecular basis of the core regulatory network in ABA responses: sensing, signaling and transport. *Plant Cell Physiol* 51, 1821-1839.

Umezawa T, Sugiyama N, Takahashi F, Anderson JC, Ishihama Y, Peck SC, Shinozaki K. 2013. Genetics and phosphoproteomics reveal a protein phosphorylation network in the abscisic acid signaling pathway in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Sci Signal* 6, rs8.

van Dijk K, Ding Y, Malkaram S, Riethoven JJ, Liu R, Yang J, Laczko P, Chen H, Xia Y, Ladunga I, Avramova Z, Fromm M. 2010. Dynamic changes in genome-wide histone H3 lysine 4 methylation patterns in response to dehydration stress in Arabidopsis thaliana. *BMC Plant Biol* 10, 238.

van Zanten M, Koini MA, Geyer R, Liu Y, Brambilla V, Bartels D, Koornneef M, Fransz P, Soppe WJ. 2011. Seed maturation in Arabidopsis thaliana is characterized by nuclear size reduction and increased chromatin condensation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 108, 20219-20224.

Vlachonasios KE, Kaldis A, Nikoloudi A, Tsementzi D. 2011. The role of transcriptional coactivator ADA2b in Arabidopsis abiotic stress responses. *Plant Signal Behav* 6, 1475-1478.

Vlachonasios KE, Thomashow MF, Triezenberg SJ. 2003. Disruption mutations of ADA2b and GCN5 transcriptional adaptor genes dramatically affect Arabidopsis growth, development, and gene expression. *Plant Cell* 15, 626-638.

Vlad F, Rubio S, Rodrigues A, Sirichandra C, Belin C, Robert N, Leung J, Rodriguez PL, Lauriere C, Merlot S. 2009. Protein phosphatases 2C regulate the activation of the Snfl-related kinase OST1 by abscisic acid in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell Online* 21, 3170.

Vongs A, Kakutani T, Martienssen RA, Richards EJ. 1993. Arabidopsis thaliana DNA methylation mutants. *Science* 260, 1926-1928.

Vorosmarty CJ, McIntyre PB, Gessner MO, Dudgeon D, Prusevich A, Green P, Glidden S, Bunn SE, Sullivan CA, Liermann CR, Davies PM. 2010. Global threats to human water security and river biodiversity. *Nature* 467, 555-561.

Waadt R, Schmidt LK, Lohse M, Hashimoto K, Bock R, Kudla J. 2008. Multicolor bimolecular fluorescence complementation reveals simultaneous formation of alternative CBL/CIPK complexes in planta. *Plant J* 56, 505-516.

Wang L, Hua D, He J, Duan Y, Chen Z, Hong X, Gong Z. 2011a. Auxin Response Factor2 (ARF2) and its regulated homeodomain gene HB33 mediate abscisic acid response in Arabidopsis. *PLoS Genet* 7, e1002172.

Wang P, Xue L, Batelli G, Lee S, Hou YJ, Van Oosten MJ, Zhang H, Tao WA, Zhu JK. 2013. Quantitative phosphoproteomics identifies SnRK2 protein kinase substrates and reveals the effectors of abscisic acid action. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 110, 11205-11210.

Wang WS, Pan YJ, Zhao XQ, Dwivedi D, Zhu LH, Ali J, Fu BY, Li ZK. 2011b. Drought-induced site-specific DNA methylation and its association with drought tolerance in rice (Oryza sativa L.). *J Exp Bot* 62, 1951-1960.

Wang X, Zhang Y, Ma Q, Zhang Z, Xue Y, Bao S, Chong K. 2007. SKB1-mediated symmetric dimethylation of histone H4R3 controls flowering time in Arabidopsis. *EMBO J* 26, 1934-1941.

Whitehouse I, Rando OJ, Delrow J, Tsukiyama T. 2007. Chromatin remodelling at promoters suppresses antisense transcription. *Nature* 450, 1031-1035.

Winter CM, Austin RS, Blanvillain-Baufume S, Reback MA, Monniaux M, Wu MF, Sang Y, Yamaguchi A, Yamaguchi N, Parker JE, Parcy F, Jensen ST, Li H, Wagner D. 2011. LEAFY target genes reveal floral regulatory logic, cis motifs, and a link to biotic stimulus response. *Dev Cell* 20, 430-443.

Wollmann H, Holec S, Alden K, Clarke ND, Jacques PE, Berger F. 2012. Dynamic deposition of histone variant H3.3 accompanies developmental remodeling of the Arabidopsis transcriptome. *PLoS Genet* 8, e1002658.

Wu MF, Sang Y, Bezhani S, Yamaguchi N, Han SK, Li Z, Su Y, Slewinski TL, Wagner D. 2012. SWI2/SNF2 chromatin remodeling ATPases overcome polycomb repression and control floral organ identity with the LEAFY and SEPALLATA3 transcription factors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109, 3576-3581.

Xi L, Fondufe-Mittendorf Y, Xia L, Flatow J, Widom J, Wang JP. 2010. Predicting nucleosome positioning using a duration Hidden Markov Model. *BMC Bioinformatics* 11, 346.

Xiong L, Lee B, Ishitani M, Lee H, Zhang C, Zhu JK. 2001. FIERY1 encoding an inositol polyphosphate 1-phosphatase is a negative regulator of abscisic acid and stress signaling in Arabidopsis. *Genes Dev* 15, 1971-1984.

Xiong L, Zhu JK. 2003. Regulation of abscisic acid biosynthesis. *Plant Physiol* 133, 29-36.

Yamagishi K, Tatematsu K, Yano R, Preston J, Kitamura S, Takahashi H, McCourt P, Kamiya Y, Nambara E. 2009. CHOTTO1, a double AP2 domain protein of Arabidopsis

thaliana, regulates germination and seedling growth under excess supply of glucose and nitrate. *Plant Cell Physiol* 50, 330-340.

Yamaguchi N, Wu MF, Winter CM, Berns MC, Nole-Wilson S, Yamaguchi A, Coupland G, Krizek BA, Wagner D. 2013. A molecular framework for auxin-mediated initiation of flower primordia. *Dev Cell* 24, 271-282.

Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K. 1994. A novel cis-acting element in an Arabidopsis gene is involved in responsiveness to drought, low-temperature, or high-salt stress. *The Plant Cell Online* 6, 251.

Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K. 2005. Organization of cis-acting regulatory elements in osmotic- and cold-stress-responsive promoters. *Trends Plant Sci* 10, 88-94.

Yang C, Bratzel F, Hohmann N, Koch M, Turck F, Calonje M. 2013. VAL- and AtBMI1-Mediated H2Aub Initiate the Switch from Embryonic to Postgerminative Growth in Arabidopsis. *Curr Biol* 23, 1324-1329.

Yang S, Vanderbeld B, Wan J, Huang Y. 2010. Narrowing down the targets: towards successful genetic engineering of drought-tolerant crops. *Mol Plant* 3, 469-490.

Yen K, Vinayachandran V, Batta K, Koerber RT, Pugh BF. 2012. Genome-wide nucleosome specificity and directionality of chromatin remodelers. *Cell* 149, 1461-1473. Yoo SD, Cho YH, Sheen J. 2007. Arabidopsis mesophyll protoplasts: a versatile cell system for transient gene expression analysis. *Nat Protoc* 2, 1565-1572.

Yoshida N, Yanai Y, Chen L, Kato Y, Hiratsuka J, Miwa T, Sung ZR, Takahashi S. 2001. EMBRYONIC FLOWER2, a novel polycomb group protein homolog, mediates shoot development and flowering in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 13, 2471-2481.

Yoshida T, Fujita Y, Sayama H, Kidokoro S, Maruyama K, Mizoi J, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. 2010. AREB1, AREB2, and ABF3 are master transcription factors that cooperatively regulate ABRE-dependent ABA signaling involved in drought stress tolerance and require ABA for full activation. *Plant J* 61, 672-685.

Yuan L, Liu X, Luo M, Yang S, Wu K. 2013. Involvement of Histone Modifications in Plant Abiotic Stress Responses. *J Integr Plant Biol*.

Zemach A, Kim MY, Hsieh PH, Coleman-Derr D, Eshed-Williams L, Thao K, Harmer SL, Zilberman D. 2013. The Arabidopsis nucleosome remodeler DDM1 allows DNA methyltransferases to access H1-containing heterochromatin. *Cell* 153, 193-205.

Zentner GE, Henikoff S. 2013. Regulation of nucleosome dynamics by histone modifications. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 20, 259-266.

Zhang B, Chambers KJ, Faller DV, Wang S. 2007. Reprogramming of the SWI/SNF complex for co-activation or co-repression in prohibitin-mediated estrogen receptor regulation. *Oncogene* 26, 7153-7157.

Zhang H, Bishop B, Ringenberg W, Muir WM, Ogas J. 2012. The CHD3 remodeler PICKLE associates with genes enriched for trimethylation of histone H3 lysine 27. *Plant Physiol* 159, 418-432.

Zhang X, Yazaki J, Sundaresan A, Cokus S, Chan SW, Chen H, Henderson IR, Shinn P, Pellegrini M, Jacobsen SE, Ecker JR. 2006. Genome-wide high-resolution mapping and functional analysis of DNA methylation in arabidopsis. *Cell* 126, 1189-1201.

Zhang YY, Fischer M, Colot V, Bossdorf O. 2013. Epigenetic variation creates potential for evolution of plant phenotypic plasticity. *New Phytol* 197, 314-322.

Zhang Z, Zhang S, Zhang Y, Wang X, Li D, Li Q, Yue M, Li Q, Zhang YE, Xu Y, Xue Y, Chong K, Bao S. 2011. Arabidopsis floral initiator SKB1 confers high salt tolerance by regulating transcription and pre-mRNA splicing through altering histone H4R3 and small nuclear ribonucleoprotein LSM4 methylation. *Plant Cell* 23, 396-411.

Zheng B, Chen X. 2011. Dynamics of histone H3 lysine 27 trimethylation in plant development. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 14, 123-129.

Zheng Y, Schumaker KS, Guo Y. 2012. Sumoylation of transcription factor MYB30 by the small ubiquitin-like modifier E3 ligase SIZ1 mediates abscisic acid response in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109, 12822-12827.

Zhou Y, Tan B, Luo M, Li Y, Liu C, Chen C, Yu CW, Yang S, Dong S, Ruan J, Yuan L, Zhang Z, Zhao L, Li C, Chen H, Cui Y, Wu K, Huang S. 2013. HISTONE DEACETYLASE19 interacts with HSL1 and participates in the repression of seed maturation genes in Arabidopsis seedlings. *Plant Cell* 25, 134-148.

Zhu SY, Yu XC, Wang XJ, Zhao R, Li Y, Fan RC, Shang Y, Du SY, Wang XF, Wu FQ, Xu YH, Zhang XY, Zhang DP. 2007. Two calcium-dependent protein kinases, CPK4 and CPK11, regulate abscisic acid signal transduction in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 19, 3019-3036.

Zhu Y, Dong A, Shen W-H. 2012. Histone variants and chromatin assembly in plant abiotic stress responses. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Gene Regulatory Mechanisms* 1819, 343-348.

Zhu Y, Rowley MJ, Bohmdorfer G, Wierzbicki AT. 2013. A SWI/SNF chromatinremodeling complex acts in noncoding RNA-mediated transcriptional silencing. *Molecular Cell* 49, 298-309. Zilberman D, Coleman-Derr D, Ballinger T, Henikoff S. 2008. Histone H2A.Z and DNA methylation are mutually antagonistic chromatin marks. *Nature* 456, 125-129.

Zografos BR, Sung S. 2012. Vernalization-mediated chromatin changes. *J Exp Bot* 63, 4343-4348.

Zong W, Zhong X, You J, Xiong L. 2013. Genome-wide profiling of histone H3K4-trimethylation and gene expression in rice under drought stress. *Plant Mol Biol* 81, 175-188.